ALJ/VDR/tcg*

Mailed

Decision 97-07-054 July 16, 1997

JUL 2 2 1997.

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Review the Time Schedules for the Rate Case Plan and Fuel Offset Proceedings.

R.87-11-012 (Filed November 13, 1987)

In the Matter of the Application of SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY to Adopt Performance Based Regulation ("PBR") for Base Rates to be Effective January 1, 1997.

Application 95-06-002 (Filed June 1, 1995)



(See Appendix C for appearances.)

-1-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Subject

OPINION
I. Summary of Decision
II. Background of Application
A. Description of Applicant
B. Procedural History
C. Proposed Decision
D. Comments on Proposed Decision
E. Description of SoCal's Proposal
1. Rate Indexing
a) Core Demand Forecast
b) Noncore Demand Forecast and Rates
2. Index to be Applied
a) Inflation Measure
b) Productivity Factor9
c) Starting Rate Level
d) Exclusions
e) "Z" Factor Adjustments11
f) Adjustments for Gain or Loss on Sale
g) Cost of Capital
h) Effective Date and Term of PBR Rates
i) Maintenance of Service Quality13
j) Employee Safety
k) New Products and Services14
l) Rate Design Changes
m) Storage Costs
n) Monitoring and Evaluation16
o) Base Margin
III. Discussion
A. Introduction: Performance-based Ratemaking
B. The SoCal PBR Proposal Must be Modified to be Acceptable, but Much of
SoCal's PBR Proposal is Consistent with our Stated Goals for PBRs
1. The SoCal PBR Proposal Violates the Terms of the Global Settlement 21
2. The Absence of a Sharing Mechanism is Inconsistent with
Commission Policy23
3. The SoCal PBR Must be Modified Because it Does not Simplify
Regulation
4. Certain Features of the Proposal are not Related to Performance-based
Ratemaking, and Should not be Adopted by the Commission as an
Aspect of SoCal's PBR Proposal

Ę

Subject

R	The SoCal PBR Proposal Must be Modified to be Acceptable,	
2,	but Much of SoCal's PBR Proposal is Consistent with our Stated	
	Goals for PBRs (Cont'd)	
	5. Conclusion: The SoCal PBR Methodology must be Modified for	
	Adoption by the Commission	26
C.	The Commission's Adopted PBR.	·· エロ うろ
~.	1. Indexing Method	
	a) Inflation Measure	26
	b) Productivity Factor	20
	(1) Industry Productivity Measure	.28
	(2) "Stretch" Factor	28
	c) Quantity Indexed	29
	d) Adopted Indexing Formula	.33
	2. Sharing Mechanism	
	3. Exclusions	.42
	4. "Z" Factors	.44
	5. Core Pricing Flexibility	.45
	6. Implementation Date	.47
	7. "Offramp" Provisions	.47
	a) Cost of Capital Trigger	.48
	b) Rate of Return Offramp	.49
	c) Mid-course Review	.50
	d) Termination	.52
	8. Service Quality, Customer Satisfaction, and Safety Incentives	.54
	9. Additional Customer Service Issues	.56
	10. Monitoring and Evaluation	.57
Đ.	New Products and Services Base Margin	.60
E.		
	1. Introduction	.64
	2. Nonlabor Escalation Rate	
	3. Customer Accounts (Accounts 901, 902, 903, 904, Sub-Account 184.103)	.65
	4. Late Payment Charges	.66
	5. Gas Storage, Transmission, and Distribution Expenses	66
	6. Marketing Expenses	66
	7. Administrative and General Accounts	67
	a) Consultant Fees (Account 920)	67
	b) Executive Compensation (Account 920 and 921)	
	c) Outside Expenses	68
	(1) Stock Options Expenses (Account 923)	68
	(2) Lobbying Expenses	68

Page

Sul	bje	ct
-----	-----	----

Page

	c) Outside Expenses (Cont'd)	
	(3) Affiliate Transactions	68
	(4) Multifactor Allocation Formula (Account 920)	69
	(5) Law Department Rent (Account 923)	
	d) Insurance Expenses (Account 924)	70
	e) Injuries and Damages (Account 925)	
	f) Franchise Fees (Account 927)	
	g) Regulatory Commission Expenses (Account 928)	
	h) Rents (Account 931)	
	(1) Gas Company Tower	
	(2) Other Lease Savings	
	(3) Other Net Savings	
	i) Maintenance of General Plant (Account 935)	
	j) Employee Pension and Benefits (Account 926)	
	k) PBOPs Overcollections During 1992-1995 (Account 926)	
	1) Capitalization of Administrative and Géneral Expenses	
8.	Clearing Accounts	
	a) Call Center Communication Expenses (Sub-Account 184.003)	
	b) Communications (Account 184.7)	
	c) Calculation Errors	77
9.	Rate Base	
	a) Beginning Plant	
	(1) Lines 6902, 325, and 6900	77
	(2) GasSelect Restructure Project	
	(3) Gas Energy Management Systems (GEMS)	79
	(4) Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters	
	(5) Pacer Project	80
	(6) Overhead Capitalization	81
	b) Ventura/Ojai Project	81
	c) CIS Costs	82
	d) Working Cash	83
	(1) Deferred Credits	83
	(2) Vacation Accrual	83
	(3) Workers' Compensation Accrual	84
	(4) Customer Advances for Construction	84
	(5) Customer Deposits	85
	(6) Materials and Supplies	86
	e) 1996 Plant Additions and Retirements	86

Subject

E. Base Margin (Cont'd)	
10. Depreciation Expenses	86
a) Plant Balances for 1995 Plant	
b) Estimated 1996 Net Plant Additions	
c) CIS	
d) Torrance and Mountain View Facilities	
e) Capitalized Overheads	
f) Dépréciation Reserve Account	
11. Taxes	
12. Research, Development and Demonstration (RD&D)	
Findings of Fact	
Conclusions of Law	
O R D E R	

- iv -

Appendix A - Customer Satisfaction, Employee Safety, and Service Quality Appendix B - Tables Establishing Base Margin Appendix C - List of Appearances Page

ゔ

Ţ

À.

OPINION

I. Summary of Decision

In this decision we consider a proposal by Southern California Gas Company (SoCal or applicant) for adoption of performance-based ratemaking (PBR) for the portion of SoCal 's rates that recovers the costs of providing gas utility service that the Commission has reviewed in the past through the General Rate Case (GRC) process.¹

Our decision today adopts a PBR system for SoCal which differs in several respects from the proposal advanced by SoCal. Most significantly, we adopt a system which requires SoCal to share with ratepayers the savings produced by the indexing method. We also adopt an indexing method, adjustments and exclusions, provisions to insure that high standards of service quality and safety are maintained, and a base margin to which the indexing will be applied.

Our decision is effective immediately. The rates based upon our adopted base margin revisions shall become effective August 1, 1997. The PBR mechanism shall become effective January 1, 1998, unless SoCal elects to operate under the mechanism effective as of January 1, 1997.

II. Background of Application

A. Description of Applicant

SoCal is an investor-owned utility subject to the jurisdiction of this Commission. It is engaged in the transmission, storage, and distribution of natural gas. SoCal is the principal subsidiary of Pacific Enterprises.

B. Procedural History

SoCal filed its application on June 1, 1995. Filing of the formal application was preceded by a series of workshops held by SoCal in December 1994 and January

-2-

¹ SoCal uses the term "regulation" rather than "ratemaking" to characterize its proposal, but the rubric refers to a method for adjusting rates annually without prior Commission approval of the adjustment. The Commission has used the term "performance-based ratemaking" in similar proceedings previously, and does so here for the sake of consistency.

1995, in which SoCal met with interested parties to present the contemplated proposal. SoCal's application includes some changes from its original proposed concept, which were made after the workshops.²

Before filing the application SoCal also requested a suspension of the requirement to file a test year (TY) 1997 GRC. SoCal's last GRC had been for TY 1994, and its TY 1997 GRC was due to be filed under the Commission's rate case plan. The reason given by SoCal for its request was that it was actively pursuing a PBR system to become effective February 1, 1997, eliminating the requirement for a TY 1997 GRC. In Decision (D.) 95-04-072 in Rulemaking (R.) 87-11-012, the Commission granted the suspension, subject to conditions designed to protect ratepayers from the risks created by that suspension. The order also directed the Commission's staff to conduct an audit, as required at least every three years under Public Utilities (PU) Code 314.5, in connection with the PBR proceeding. The Commission later extended the order, suspending the requirement to file a TY 1998 GRC because the PBR application was being processed in a timely manner.

The assigned administrative law judge (ALJ) held prehearing conferences (PHCs) on September 25, 1995, and January 29, 1996. In response to a joint motion filed January 4, 1996 to request a specified procedural schedule, the ALJ ruled that SoCal must serve its recorded data for 1995 on February 14, 1996, and make a supplemental showing with respect to 1996 estimated expenses on June 6, 1996. This is the showing used by the parties, by agreement, to develop the base margin figures and other features of the PBR program considered here.

On October 14, 1996, Pacific Enterprises and Enova Corporation, the parent company of San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), announced that they proposed to merge, and filed an application for approval by the Commission (Application (A.) 96-10-038). The Southern California Utility Power Pool and the

² Conceptually, the most significant of these was a change from the Consumer Price Index (CPI) to an industry-specific index in the indexing formula.

Imperial Irrigation District (SCUPP/IID) and Southern California Edison Company (SCE) moved to suspend the procedural schedule in this proceeding in contemplation of these merger plans, but the ALJ denied that request by ruling dated October 23, 1996. The assigned commissioner denied reconsideration of that request on November 14, 1996.

The formal evidentiary hearing commenced December 2, 1996, and concluded December 19, 1996. Two rounds of briefs were filed, and the proceeding was submitted on February 14, 1997.

C. Proposed Decision

The Proposed Decision of ALJ Ryerson (PD) was filed on April 21, 1997, pursuant to § 311(d) of the Public Utilities (PU) Code and Rule 77.1 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules).³

D. Comments on Proposed Decision

Comments on the PD were filed by SoCal, ORA, SCE, SDG&E, SCUPP/IID, CEC, Enron, and Insulation Contractors Association. The Commission also received a letter from TURN indicating that it would not file comments, but would reserve the option to file replies to the comments of other parties.

SoCal's comments are critical of several aspects of the PD's treatment of both policy issues (i.e., the PBR mechanism) and the base margin. Specifically, SoCal criticizes the TURN/DGS formula adopted by the decision as being company-specific in nature, contrary to our policy of using external industry yardsticks; the stretch factor as being too rigorous in light of SoCal's recent history of productivity gains; the absence of pricing flexibility; the adoption of revenue indexing rather than rate indexing; and the absence of "tools" (particularly pricing flexibility) to enable it to attain greater

³ The PD was issued before the expiration of the 90-day statutory time limit following submission at the request of the applicant and the Commission, in order to facilitate coordination with A.96-10-038.

CORRECTION !!

THE PREVIOUS DOCUMENT(S) MAY HAVE BEEN FILMED INCORRECTLY

RESHOOT FOLLOWS

productivity through sales. On the base margin side, SoCal criticizes the resolution of a number of individual items on the grounds of legal or factual error.

ORA generally supports the PD as a whole, but in its comments offers a series of recommendations which would make the decision clearer and conceptually tighter, consistent with the adopted resolution of major issues. ORA also suggests corrections to a number of figures based on inadvertent factual errors.

SCE also generally supports the PD, but suggests certain clarifications and corrections.

SDG&E's comments are critical of the adopted indexing methodology and the PD's description of other PBR decisions, and of two of the items in the base margin section, the treatment of the Torrance and Mountain View facilities and the removal of Line 6900 from rate base.

SCUPP/IID reiterates concerns expressed by other parties about an ambiguity in the effective date of the decision, and about the discussion of exclusion of costs for Lines 6900 and 6902 from rate base.

CEC's brief comments are generally supportive of the PD, but suggests two changes: that energy efficiency funds be transferred to the Energy Efficiency Board, and that \$5 million of SoCal's energy efficiency budget be allocated for market transformation efforts.

Enron and the Insulation Contractors Association filed comments that are directed specifically at the issue of unregulated new products and services, but are fully supportive of the PD. Certain of the other comments contain discussions of the new products and services issue.

Reply comments were filed by SoCal, ORA, SCE, DGS, NRDC, TURN, Enron, and the Plumbing-Heating-Cooling Contractors.

Revisions to the PD made in response to the comments and replies are reflected in this final decision. Additional revisions were made to correct or clarify the text. All areas changed are indicated on the margin.

-5-

Imperial Irrigation District (SCUPP/IID) and Southern California Edison Company (SCE) moved to suspend the procedural schedule in this proceeding in contemplation of these merger plans, but the ALJ denied that request by ruling dated October 23, 1996. The assigned commissioner denied reconsideration of that request on November 14, 1996.

The formal evidentiary hearing commenced December 2, 1996, and concluded December 19, 1996. Two rounds of briefs were filed, and the proceeding was submitted on February 14, 1997.

C. Proposed Decision

The Proposed Decision of ALJ Ryerson (PD) was filed on April 21, 1997, pursuant to § 311(d) of the Public Utilities (PU) Code and Rule 77.1 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules).³

D. Comments on Proposed Decision

Comments on the PD were filed by SoCal, ORA, SCE, SDG&E, SCUPP/IID, CEC, Enron, and Insulation Contractors Association. The Commission also received a letter from TURN indicating that it would not file comments, but would reserve the option to file replies to the comments of other parties.

SoCal's comments are critical of several aspects of the PD's treatment of both policy issues (i.e., the PBR mechanism) and the base margin. Specifically, SoCal criticizes the TURN/DGS formula adopted by the decision as being company-specific in nature, contrary to our policy of using external industry yardsticks; the stretch factor as being too rigorous in light of SoCal's recent history of productivity gains; the absence of pricing flexibility; the adoption of revenue indexing rather than rate indexing; and the absence of "tools" (particularly pricing flexibility) to enable it to attain greater

³ The PD was issued before the expiration of the 90-day statutory time limit following submission at the request of the applicant and the Commission, in order to facilitate coordination with A.96-10-038.

E. Description of SoCal's Proposal

The application proposes a new method for revising SoCal's rates annually by applying an index, based upon a measure of recorded input price inflation less a productivity factor, to its rates. The productivity factor would be fixed at this time, and would not be revised during the minimum five-year term that the new ratemaking system is proposed to be in effect, but adjustments to certain aspects of the rates would be made by annual rate revision filed by SoCal. In this section we describe the specific features of the PBR methodology SoCal has proposed.⁴

1. Rate Indexing

SoCal proposes to index core and noncore base rates and certain miscellaneous charges, as opposed to indexing total authorized margin or authorized margin per customer, i.e., revenue requirement. This means that rates would be indexed directly to inflation less the pre-set productivity factor. SoCal claims that its proposal for rate indexing "fixes the throughput forecast used to set rates over the PBR period and puts utility shareholders at risk/reward for any differences between forecast and actual throughput and customer count." (SoCal Opening Brief, p. 44.) SoCal asserts that its ratepayers will benefit, because the level of rates, in real terms, is guaranteed to decline over the period that this mechanism is in effect, by reason of enforced productivity gains over the period. SoCal supports this contention with a ten-year backcast analysis demonstrating that PBR would have resulted in rates 13% lower than under traditional "cost-plus" ratemaking.

a) Core Demand Forecast

The methodology chosen by SoCal is rate indexing, which depends upon fixing a specific throughput forecast for calculating the rate level at the

- 6 -

⁴ The details of SoCal's proposal are contained in prepared testimony and exhibits that were initially filed as part of the application. A number of modifications were made since the initial proposal, and the details of the current proposal, along with the supporting testimony, are contained in SoCal's direct testimony (Exh. 1-Exh. 33) and the jointly sponsored testimony (Exh. 200-Exh. 210) received at the evidentiary hearing.

outset. For core rates SoCal proposes that we adopt its recorded 1996 customer count and core throughput, normalized to average temperature conditions, in establishing the starting point for indexing. Also, because the current core rates are based upon throughput which uses a "normal" temperature measure that is set too low in relation to updated temperature averages, SoCal proposes to change this measure in establishing this starting point.

Under current ratemaking, a balancing account called the Core Fixed Cost Account (CFCA) operates to insure that SoCal over time will recover in rates exactly the amount of Commission-authorized margin, regardless of the actual level of customer demand (i.e., core throughput). However, if throughput is foreordained as part of the base margin, this balancing account cannot function. Core demand (throughput) will in fact vary because of variations in average temperatures from year to year, but rates cannot be adjusted because the throughput figure is set beforehand. As part of its proposal, SoCal therefore would eliminate the CFCA and substitute two other devices, the Weather Normalization Mechanism (WNM) and the Energy Efficiency Adjustment Factor (EEAF), to adjust rates in its place.

The WNM would adjust core rates to reflect differences in throughput due to differences between recorded and normal temperature conditions. The WNM would be used to adjust the bill of each customer at the time the bill is issued for variations from normal temperature conditions in the period for which the bill is rendered.³ SoCal contends that this is appropriate because temperature conditions are wholly beyond the control of its management, and temperature variations could create large variations in core revenues relative to its authorized return on equity.

The EEAF would adjust rates for the effect on revenues from core throughput lost each year due to gas conservation and energy efficiency measures actually implemented by SoCal's customers. Under SoCal's proposal, the first 0.3% of

- 7 -

⁵ The WNM would apply only to core customers, and would exclude core gas engine and airconditioning customers, because their load is basically not sensitive to heating requirements.

rate impact would not be adjusted for, on the presumption that the PBR index already reflects that impact. SoCal also proposes to cap the amount of EEAF adjustment at 1.0% annually. SoCal argues that implementing the EEAF as part of its proposal would be justified, because it eliminates SoCal's incentive to discourage conservation, as the PBR mechanism rewards the utility for selling more gas. SoCal also argues that the EEAF would eliminate the reduction in its earnings that would be caused by government-mandated or subsidized conservation measures.

b) Noncore Demand Forecast and Rates

The methodology proposed for fixing noncore rates for PBR indexing is entirely different, principally because of the effect of an agreement, the Global Settlement, that has been adopted by the Commission. The Global Settlement provides that, from August 1, 1994 through July 31, 1999, SoCal will calculate noncore rates based upon 1991 actual throughput. SoCal therefore proposes to use two sets of noncore rates for PBR indexing. The first is based upon 1996 adjusted base margin and allocation, but uses 1991 throughput. The second is based upon 1996 base margin and 1996 throughput, calculated in the same manner as the first set, but not effective until August 1, 1999. In its proposal, SoCal refers to these as "shadow rates." Both sets of rates rely, however, upon the use of a fixed throughput figure for establishing the base rate for PBR indexing.

2. Index to be Applied

a) Inflation Measure

The inflation measure proposed by SoCal is a weighted average of recorded indices of prices for labor operating and maintenance (O&M) costs, nonlabor O&M costs, and capital-related costs.⁴ In the price index, the measure for labor O&M is the index of average hourly earnings of workers in gas production and distribution as reported by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. The measure for

- 8 -

^{*} SoCal refers to this measure as the gas utility input price index, or GUPI.

nonlabor O&M is the Data Resources, Inc. (DRI)/McGraw Hill nonlabor O&M index for gas utilities. The inflation measure for capital-related costs is based upon the DRI/McGraw Hill indices for capital service prices and for the price of gas distribution capital goods. These measures would be weighted according to the average of expenditures in each category by SoCal for the past five years. Although a forecast of inflation would be used, the forecast would be trued up to recorded inflation at the next annual PBR rate adjustment. Rates for a year would be set using the latest available forecast for the price index elements for that forthcoming year, and the following year's rate filing would include an adjustment to true up any difference the forecast and actual price index.

b) Productivity Factor

SoCal proposes to employ a constant productivity factor of 1.0% per year as the second element of the PBR adjustment mechanism. SoCal's selection of this figure is based upon two components: historical gas distribution average productivity of 0.5%, plus a factor of 0.5% as an incentive to improve productivity over past performance.' SoCal asserts that this 1% total productivity factor, which would be applied for the entire period that PBR rates are in effect, affords an adequate incentive for the company to strive for greater efficiency.

In support of the component percentages, SoCal offers a study of 49 gas utilities nationwide as evidence that the 0.5% productivity increase is close to the national average.¹ The additional 0.5% "stretch factor" is essentially based upon the company's judgment of productivity gains that can reasonably be anticipated. SoCal asserts that this figure is consistent with Commission precedent and policy, and argues that a higher percentage would be unreasonable or unattainable in light of the

⁷ SoCal refers to this element of the productivity factor as a "stretch factor" or "consumer dividend."

⁴ This was a multifactor productivity study of the gas local distribution service delivery industry conducted by Christensen Associates, which found the historic range to be 0.4% to 0.5%. (Exh. 5.)

cost forecasts and cost relationships upon which higher factors proposed by other parties rely.

c) Starting Rate Level

SoCal proposes that its level of base rates for 1997 would be determined by applying the PBR index to a starting level of rates and to the existing level of miscellaneous charges.' Establishment of the starting level is based upon a "test year" showing and analysis resembling that for a GRC. The basis selected for analysis is SoCal's calendar year 1996 internal operating budget. The approach to setting base margin in 1997 under PBR is to take the figure representing the reasonable level of expense and rate base for SoCal in 1996, and to adjust that revenue requirement for one year with the PBR index adopted by the Commission in this proceeding. This will produce rates to be in effect when a PBR decision goes into effect in 1997.

d) Exclusions

Certain costs would not be recovered through the portion of rates that would be subject to the PBR index. These would remain subject to recovery through other existing ratemaking mechanisms. In general, the principle behind these exclusions from PBR is that the costs are already subject to incentive-type mechanisms, that they are beyond SoCal's control, or that the level of expenditure is specifically authorized by this Commission or by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) in separate proceedings. The specific costs proposed to be excluded are discussed later in this decision.

^{&#}x27; The "base rate" is the part of rates reflecting gas margin, and excluding gas costs, pipeline demand charges, and other specifically identified items; it is only the base rate that is guaranteed to be reduced under PBR. Final rates measured in constant dollars will decline unless increases in gas costs and excluded items more than offset the reduction in the indexed portion of the rate. (Exh. 1, p. 13.)

e) "Z" Factor Adjustments

A "Z" factor, as recognized by this Commission, is an exogenous and unforeseen event largely beyond the utility's control that has a material impact upon the utility's costs. Examples of Z factors include accounting rule changes adopted by governing boards and agencies, state and federal tax law changes, and new government mandates.

SoCal proposes that its rates be adjusted, either upward or downward, by the amount of change in its costs exceeding a one-time \$5 million "deductible" amount per qualifying Z factor. The amount of change in SoCal's costs subject to Z factor treatment would be reduced by the amount by which SoCal would already be compensated by the inflation factor in the PBR index formula. SoCal also proposes a specific procedure for handling each Z factor event.

f) Adjustments for Gain or Loss on Sale

SoCal proposes an adjustment in rates in addition to the PBR index if the company sells at a gain or loss land that was acquired and held in rate base before the implementation of PBR. SoCal proposes to credit its customers with one-half of the gain, but SoCal could request, on a case-by-case-basis, that the Commission authorize a smaller sharing of gain from the sale and replacement of a particular parcel of land, when the benefit from the sale and replacement to SoCal is less than the 50% of gain that it would otherwise have to refund in rates. Sales of all or a portion of a distribution system qualifying for allocation to shareholders under the holding of Decision (D.) 89-07-016 (City of Redding II), 32 CPUC2d 233 (1989), would not produce any reduction in rates under PBR. There would be no adjustment in rates for purchase or sale of land acquired after implementation of PBR.

g) Cost of Capital

SoCal does not propose to make any changes in PBR indexed rates in response to changes in costs of capital, except in the event that the 12-month trailing average yield on long-term Treasury Bonds increases or decreases radically, i.e, more than 250 basis points from the DRI average rate for the calendar year

- 11 -

1997 forecast, as adopted in SoCal's1997 cost of capital proceeding." During at least the minimum five-year term of PBR, SoCal proposes not to file annual cost of capital applications, and rates would not be adjusted for changes in the cost of debt, preferred or common equity capital, or changes in capital structure, unless variation exceeded the 250 basis point "trigger."

In the event that the trigger is exceeded by an increase in interest rates, SoCal proposes to have the option to file a cost of capital application; in the event of a 250 basis point decrease, SoCal would be required to file a cost of capital application. In either event the Commission would determine whether any change in rates was appropriate in light of all factors affecting the cost of capital. Any rate change, whether an increase or decrease, would be prospective only from the effective date of a Commission decision.

h) Effective Date and Term of PBR Rates

SoCal initially proposed that its PBR mechanism would become effective on January 1, 1997, and would continue for a minimum term of five years, through year-end 2001. However, the time required to process the application has not permitted implementation of a PBR by the original target date, necessitating an adjustment of the proposed implementation schedule. Under the revised schedule SoCal continues to propose a five-year minimum term for PBR, and thus the original dates for all events would be extended to dates corresponding to the additional time involved in concluding the proceeding. Assuming the Commission issues a decision placing PBR rates in effect on July 1, 1997, the minimum term of the PBR would expire on June 30, 2002.

SoCal proposes that no change be made in PBR indexing during the five-year minimum term of the proposed mechanism, except to the extent such express features as Z factor adjustments and cost of capital revisions require. SoCal therefore asks that we forgo provision for any formal midterm review process,

¹⁰ See D.96-11-060.

continuous "forum" proceeding, or "off-ramp" that would permit or require suspension of the PBR during the initial five-year term.

SoCal proposes that the PBR continue automatically beyond the minimum period, unless changed at the behest of a party or the Commission. At any time after June 30, 2000, any party, or the Commission on its own motion, could institute a proceeding to change or replace the PBR mechanism effective on or after the expiration date.

i) Maintenance of Service Quality

In order to insure that SoCal's focus on increased productivity through cost reductions does not have a deleterious effect upon the quality of service, SoCal proposes a mechanism to ensure the maintenance of service quality during the period when the PBR rates are in effect. Originally, SoCal proposed a service quality guarantee for core customers based upon random customer telephone survey responses to questions concerning customer satisfaction with SoCal's call center response time; call center employee performance; field service employee response time; and field service employee performance. SoCal proposed the adoption of a benchmark for its performance, namely, the average recorded level of customer satisfaction for July 1993 through June 1996 in random surveys on these four service dimensions. A "deadband" below this benchmark would allow for some sampling error, but below the deadband the company would be required to reduce rates in increments of \$1 million per year up to a maximum of \$4 million per year for failure to meet the criterion. No incentive was proposed for exceeding the benchmark for customer satisfaction. SoCal proposed to retain its existing Service Interruption Credit (SIC) mechanism for service to noncore customers, but did not propose any other service guarantees for noncore customers in recognition that competition provides an incentive for SoCal to assure adequate, efficient, just, and reasonable service to noncore customer.

Subsequent negotiations among the parties produced a proposal for a somewhat different customer satisfaction measure. The concept of this proposal is essentially the same as that of the one it replaces in the original application.

- 13 -

j) Employee Safety

Originally, SoCal did not propose any specific safety performance measures for public, customer, or employee safety, on the assumption that existing federal and state safety laws and regulations mandate standards with which SoCal must comply. However, SoCal, TURN, and ORA have agreed to propose an annual employee safety standard which would be used to adjust rates if SoCal's performance fell below or above the standard by a material margin.

The proposed standard is 9.3 incidents per 200,000 hours worked, with a deadband of 1.0 incidents in each direction, measured annually from the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Recordable Injury and Illness Rate. Should the annual rate exceed 10.3 incidents; customers would receive a rate reduction through the annual rate adjustment filing process. Conversely, SoCal would receive a reward through the annual rate adjustment filing process if its performance were better than an annual rate of 8.3 incidents. The customer rate adjustment would be based upon \$20,000 for each 0.1 point above or below the deadband.

k) New Products and Services

In its application SoCal seeks authorization to offer on a competitive and unregulated basis products and services that it has not previously offered. SoCal also seeks the authorization to provide support to its non-regulated affiliates in connection with their offering of new products and services. SoCal states that these new products and services would be provided entirely at shareholder risk, and would not be funded by the rates charged for utility services.

I) Rate Design Changes

SoCal proposes to include several changes in rate design in its program for PBR. These include changes in residential rate design, and a proposal for flexibility to negotiate rate discount agreements and offer optional rate schedules for certain core customers.

Currently, the company's monthly residential customer charge, which went into effect in 1996, is \$5.00. Effective with PBR implementation,

- 14 -

SoCal proposes to charge single-family and master meter residential customers a monthly customer charge of \$7.11, and multifamily customers \$5.47 per month. By January 1, 2001, SoCal proposes to charge a single-family and master meter residential customers a monthly customer charge of \$13.57 and multifamily customers \$10.35 per month (stated in 1996 dollars). Customer charges upon PBR implementation, and on each January 1 thereafter through 2001, would be increased by 1/5 of the difference between the 1996 customer charge of \$5 and the aforementioned 2001 charges.ⁿ Corresponding reductions would be made in residential volumetric rates.

Upon implementation of PBR, SoCal also proposes to reduce the differential between residential volumetric Tier I and Tier II rates from the current 35% to 10%, and to maintain this relationship at least through the end of the minimum PBR period. SoCal claims that these proposed residential design changes are necessary to bring rates more into line with costs, as fixed residential customer-related costs are currently understated, and that the increased customer charges and decreased volumetric rates will reflect the true long-run marginal cost of gas service.¹¹

SoCal proposes to be granted authority to negotiate rate discount agreements with individual core customers, and to offer core rate schedules that customers meeting the applicability requirements would have the option to select. The proposed discounting flexibility would apply only to the "base rate" element of core bundled rates. Under SoCal's proposal, negotiated agreements of less than five years' duration would not require Commission approval prior to becoming effective.

¹¹ SoCal recommends that these customer charge rate level adjustments be made on January 1 of each year in order to coincide with the other annual rate changes under the PBR index formula.

" SoCal proposes certain other changes in rate design in addition to these basic changes. SoCal proposes to update the submetering credit for master meter customers, and to index that credit; to reduce baseline allowances in climate zone 1 from the current 50 therms to 46 therms in winter and from the current 15 therms to 14 therms in summer, with similar reductions in climate zones 2 and 3; and to modify non-residential core rate design.

Optional core rate schedules would become effective upon filing with the Commission without the requirement of prior Commission approval, and could be withdrawn by SoCal upon 30 days' notice to the Commission, unless otherwise specified by the terms of the schedule. SoCal's authorized rates would be the default rates for qualified customers who do not want to avail themselves of the optional schedules.

m) Storage Costs

SoCal proposes to apply the PBR rate index to the base rate elements that recover the cost of storage which is currently bundled in core and noncore rates. This request was not in the original application, but was later included in its request in response to a proposal by ORA to eliminate the Noncore Storage Balancing Account (NSBA) and put SoCal wholly at risk for market demand for the costs allocated to unbundled noncore storage service when the PBR rates become effective. SoCal asserts that its request is consistent with the overall concept that PBR substitutes for a general rate case, in which the revenue requirement for bundled storage costs would otherwise have been adopted by the Commission. SoCal states that because it is proposing to be at risk for throughput under PBR, it would also be at risk for the recovery of the portion of storage costs that is bundled in transmission rates.

n) Monitoring and Evaluation

SoCal states that it recognizes the need for the Commission to monitor the functioning of the PBR mechanism and to be prepared to evaluate the program at the conclusion of the minimum term. Nevertheless, SoCal urges the elimination of a significant number of existing reporting and recordkeeping requirements, and advocates the avoidance of new reporting requirements insofar as possible, in the interest of simplifying and streamlining regulation.

o) Base Margin

SoCal initially proposed a starting base margin which represented a \$61.2 million reduction as compared to its 1995 authorized level. Following several revisions in response to discussions with ORA, SoCal's final position

- 16 -

is a \$110 million reduction in margin compared to the 1995 authorized level. SoCal and ORA have agreed upon a variety of base margin items, and the individual items are described, along with our resolution, in the discussion below.

III. Discussion

A. Introduction: Performance-based Ratemaking

In general, performance-based ratemaking refers to any of a variety of ratemaking mechanisms designed to improve utility performance and also return financial benefits to the utility's ratepayers. Its purpose is to break the direct link between costs and rates by inserting "an independent and explicit incentive [for the utility] to increase efficiency through lowering costs," so that ratepayers will not have to bear the risk of inefficient utility operation. (D.96-09-092, mimeo., p. 14, September 20, 1996.) The mechanism itself is intended to emulate an unregulated market.

The basic PBR concept involves two basic steps:

"First, the PBR regulator sets an initial price based on the utility's observed and projected costs. Next, the regulator provides the utility with incentives to reduce these costs and pass some of the resulting savings onto the consumer. To assure that the utility does not achieve costs savings simply by cutting safety, reliability or quality, the PBR system must also include a quality-control mechanism." Navarro, "The Simple Analytics of Performance-based Ratemaking: A Guide for the PBR Regulator" (Yale Journal on Regulation 13:1 (Winter 1996), p. 107.)

The hallmarks of the PBR system under the previous practice of this Commission are an incentive device to encourage cost reduction and revenue enhancement, and a device to ensure sharing of the savings produced thereby with customers.

We first replaced traditional rate case regulation with PBR in D.89-10-031, which placed the two major California local exchange telecommunications companies under an incentive form of regulation. The mechanism we adopted is often called "CPI-X" regulation. As we explained in our most recent PBR decision, D.96-09-092, which adopted PBR regulation for SCE:

"This form of PBR regulation adopts starting rates based on an analysis of utility costs with these rates then updated in each subsequent year by a rule which includes expected changes in input prices, CPI, and productivity, X.... [W]e refer to this price less productivity adjustment, or CPI-X, as the update rule.

"To make this update of utility rates independent of the utility's costs, the price and productivity values should come from national or industry measures and not from the utility itself. The independence of the update rule from the utility's own costs allows PBR regulation to resemble the unregulated market where the firm faces market prices which develop independently of its own cost and productivity. In contrast, traditional regulation often updates rates through a review of the utility's own costs and productivity. The form of this PBR update rule of "price less productivity" or CPI-X arises from the unregulated market where, independent of demand response, a firm's output price will change to reflect changes in its input prices less its change in productivity, where productivity is simply the change in the firm's outputs less its change in inputs, both value weighted.

"Finding a measure for the price term in the update rule requires a choice between a general price index such as the well-known CPI or an industry specific index. The former choice involves less controversy but uses a general approximation to industry specific prices, and this approximation can work reasonably well during periods of generally low inflation. While the latter choice clearly tracks industry costs more closely, it does engender more controversy because often it requires construction of a new industry specific price index to track industry price changes closely. Complexity readily arises in the construction of price indices; for example, an accurate current price index for labor requires a weighted average wage for...many different classifications of workers from clerks to system engineers.

"The productivity measure should come from a forecast of industry-specific productivity. However, such studies are not common and most published econometric studies not only assume efficient operation but also use historical data. In D.89-10-031, we relied on a study of AT&T's historical productivity and expert judgment in setting the productivity value for the local exchange utilities. Realizing that technological change in telecommunications offered the opportunity for substantial productivity and wanting to encourage increased efficiency in utility operations, we added a "stretch" factor to set the productivity value or X.

"We note that improved efficiency can arise from three sources: adopting more efficient technology in meeting current demand, realizing economies of scale when expanding the operation, or reducing existing inefficiencies in the current operation. ... [P]articularly in the distribution business, the first source of productivity may contribute only selectively toward greater efficiency and lower rates. The incentives of this PBR should discover the opportunities to increase the efficiency of the current operation and thereby lower rates.

"In D.89-10-031, we also adopted a net revenue sharing rule which allows the utility to keep some of the increased net revenue which occurs if the utility can reduce its costs. Adoption of this rule should increase the utility's incentive to reduce costs. Allowing the utility to retain some of the net revenue from cost reduction efforts also resembles the competitive market where a firm can increase its profits by lowering its costs. Combined with the use of independent prices, the use of a net revenue sharing rule emulates the outcome of a competitive market.

"Thus, we see PBR as emulating the competitive process to encourage utility management to make decisions which resemble an efficient or competitive outcome. An efficient utility will control rates which benefits ratepayers. However, we want to ensure fairness to ratepayers, employees, and shareholders in the PBR process. This requires balancing potentially conflicting interests. The utility can increase short run profits through reducing variable costs, but without revenue sharing such cost reductions will not lower rates. Moreover, such reductions not only can affect staff immediately but the service quality impact may only appear much later." (D.96-09-092, mimeo., pp. 14-16.)

We have already expressed our preference for replacing traditional costof-service regulation with performance-based regulation in those areas of the electric services industry which exhibit natural monopoly attributes. <u>See</u> Order Instituting Rulemaking and Order Instituting Investigation in R. 94-04-031 and I.94-04-032 ("Blue Book"). Our policy favoring that deployment of PBR reflects our successful experience

with it in the field of telecommunications. Certainly, we are favorably disposed to using PBR wherever it would further our regulatory goals and policies.

At the commencement of I.94-04-003, the SCE proceeding, <u>supra</u>, we stated our goals for undertaking the development of PBR. These included:

- Improving the efficiency and performance of the utility;
- Improving incentives and removing disincentives for utility cost reductions;
- Simplifying and streamlining the regulatory process;
- Moving rates for all customer classes, in real dollars, steadily down the national average for investor-owned utilities;
- Maintaining a reasonable opportunity for the utility to earn a fair rate of return; and
- Maintaining and improving quality of service.

We still regard these as our general goals in evaluating any PBR proposal, and as the policy yardstick for measuring SoCal's proposal in the present instance.

We have embraced PBR in concept with the clear recognition of our "fundamental and enduring duty to protect California's consumers of [energy]," a duty which we have pledged not to change during the transition to a streamlined and more efficient regulatory approach. (Blue Book, p. 34.) This means that, despite our preference for PBR, we will not approve any PBR proposal just because it encourages efficiency on the part of the utility. The other part of the equation, protection of ratepayer interests, must also be satisfied.

B. The SoCal PBR Proposal Must be Modified to be Acceptable, but Much of SoCal's PBR Proposal is Consistent with our Stated Goals for PBRs

We have examined SoCal's proposal on the threshold question of whether elements of the proposed mechanism conflict with existing Commission decisions and orders, or with the policies we have articulated above. Consistent with the parties

testimony, we conclude that in several respects it does. We must therefore modify SoCal's PBR to conform to these overriding principles.

1. The SoCal PBR Proposal Violates the Terms of the Global Settlement

Both the Commission's Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA) and The Utility Reform Network (TURN) criticize SoCal's proposal as being inconsistent with the Global Settlement. That agreement was adopted in final form by the Commission in D.94-07-064, 55 CPUC2d 452 (1994), and governs a number of aspects of ratemaking for SoCal's gas utility operations for the period from August 1, 1994, through July 31, 1999, when it expires.

TURN asserts that there are five inconsistencies between SoCal's PBR proposal and the Global Settlement which preclude adoption of SoCal's proposal in its present form. First, TURN states that SoCal's proposal to base rates upon 1996 adjusted throughput violates a provision of the Global Settlement that requires rates instead to be based upon 1991 throughput. Second, TURN argues that SoCal's proposal to extend the cost allocations adopted by the Global Settlement beyond the term of that agreement would violate a provision requiring cost allocations to be determined in the 1998 Biennial Cost Allocation Proceeding (BCAP). Third, TURN alleges that the proposal to use one definition of a "normal" temperature year for setting rates, and another for allocating costs between classes, to the detriment of the core class, also violates the Global Settlement. Fourth, TURN claims that SoCal's proposal to index rates, thus doing away with the authorized revenue requirement allocated by the Global Settlement, violates the settlement. Fifth, TURN argues that the proposal to eliminate the CFCA violates the Global Settlement, because the continued operation of that account was a basic assumption underpinning the settlement. We conclude that SoCal's PBR proposal conflicts with the Global Settlement at least in some of these respects, and that the proposal will have to be modified to avoid these conflicts.

Section II, paragraph 1, of the Global Settlement states:

"SoCal shall calculate rates based on 1991 actual throughput, with [specified adjustments] for the five-year period commencing upon the date that this [settlement] becomes effective." (55 CPUC2d 458.)

Notwithstanding this language, SoCal proposes to use 1996 customer count and core throughput, normalized for average temperature conditions, to set throughput because it would be "fair and reasonable" to do so. This would vary the express language of the Global Settlement. Moreover, it would not be consistent with the table of specified average year volumes and customer counts for basing cost allocation and calculating rates during the period covered by the Global Settlement. See Global Settlement Implementation Appendix, Section C.1, paragraph 2 (55 CPUC2d at 469).

As justification for this variance, SoCal argues that its proposal would also eliminate the CFCA, and that use of the Global Settlement throughputs would impose upon it a \$39 million annual revenue penalty because of the resultant undercollection. We do not find SoCal's position to be persuasive. The Commission has a strong policy favoring settlements as a means of resolving issues in its proceedings, and we will not undermine that policy by changing the terms of a settlement after it becomes a Commission order.

In addition to expressly providing that cost allocation and rates during the five-year term of the Global Settlement would utilize specific throughput volumes based upon adjusted 1991 data, the Global Settlement also reflects the parties' intent that the cost allocation be terminated by the 1998 BCAP. Under the PBR, by contrast, the cost allocation would continue for the entire PBR period, some two and one half years beyond the term of the Global Settlement. The significance, as explained by TURN witness Florio, is that SoCal's approach would harm core customers because of the underlying temperature assumption used to develop the throughput for the purposes of calculating core rates. The company now uses 1506 annual heating degree days (HDDs) to define an average temperature year under the Global Settlement. SoCal's suggested reduction would reduce the average year forecast of throughput by 5%. The lower measure of HDDs suggested by SoCal for use in designing core rates

would deny ratepayers the benefit of the lower throughput forecast for purposes of cost allocation.¹⁰

The Global Settlement contemplates that there will be a specific allocation of costs to customer classes during its five-year term. Section II, paragraph 3, sets up a memorandum account to track the variance between costs allocated to noncore and wholesale markets and SoCal's actual noncore and wholesale revenues. By contrast, the PBR would not have explicit costs allocated to noncore and wholesale markets, or an annual cost used to develop the effective rates for noncore transportation service. As explained by witness Florio, the Global Settlement,

> "plainly contemplated that there would be an authorized revenue requirement that was allocated between the core and noncore markets during the entire term of the settlement. The fact that SoCal would now like to shift to a program of rate indexing cannot overcome the deal that the company made." (Ex. 55, p. 20, l. 11-16.)

Consequently, we cannot accept this feature of the PBR proposal.

TURN argues that the Global Settlement mechanism implies that revenue variations are to be passed onto core ratepayers through the CFCA, and that elimination of the CFCA would therefore violate the intent of the Global Settlement. We agree. The Global Settlement would be unworkable without the CFCA, and SoCal's proposal would therefore violate the terms of that agreement.

2. The Absence of a Sharing Mechanism is Inconsistent with Commission Policy

In most respects, SoCal's proposal fits our model of PBR. However, the proposal omits any mechanism for sharing the savings between shareholders and ratepayers. Instead, SoCal argues that the productivity factor (or "X" factor) utilized in adjusting rates annually, and particularly the "stretch" component incorporated into that productivity factor, should be considered an "upfront" device that will adequately

¹⁰ SoCal is now willing to accept the figure of 1330 HDDs in place of the 1316 HDDs it originally proposed, but the result is essentially the same.

compensate for lack of an after-the-fact mechanism to allocate savings, because it creates a downward pressure on costs and, therefore, rates. We disagree.

In previous PBR proceedings we have rejected substitution of a productivity factor for a sharing mechanism for SDG&E and for SCE. There are several reasons for this. First, PU Code § 728 imposes upon us a duty to insure that utility rates are maintained at a level that is just and reasonable. This can only be assured if the overall level of profits is effectively controlled by placing a practical limit on how far the utility is willing to go to earn a share of the marginal profit. The consequence is that profits, and therefore rates, are maintained at reasonable levels.

A sharing mechanism is the ultimate "safety net" for ratepayers, as it corrects for the possible adoption of a productivity factor that turns out to be overly conservative, understating the productivity increases which the utility is actually able to achieve. With a sharing mechanism, if the utility attains productivity increases that exceed the adopted productivity factor, the resultant profits must be shared with the ratepayers rather than going solely to the utility. SoCal argues that this would "dilute" its incentives to achieve greater productivity goals, but we see no reason why we should fix a productivity index based upon imperfect forecasting techniques, and permit it to remain undisturbed for a five-year period, based upon speculation that this mechanism will adequately benefit the ratepayers. If the utility is actually able to reap benefits above the level reflected by the adopted productivity factor, it would not be "just and reasonable" to require ratepayers to be satisfied with only the share of savings based upon attaining the productivity estimate made at the outset of the program.

SoCal admits that the reduction in its rate base alone will result in an increase in its rate of return of 87 basis points. This is simply a consequence of depreciation of its rate base rather than cost-cutting. A sharing mechanism would insure that the ratepayers will receive their fair share of the rewards of improved productivity, however those rewards are achieved. Because a PBR with a sharing mechanism simultaneously allows higher profits than at present, and lower rates due to increased productivity, a sharing mechanism creates the potential for a "win-win" situation.

- 24 -

3. The SoCal PBR Must be Modified Because it Does not Simplify Regulation

Certain features of SoCal's PBR proposal would also be contrary to the Commission's goal of simplifying regulation under performance-based ratemaking. Rather than eliminating balancing accounts and reducing the degree of Commission oversight, SoCal's proposal introduces altogether new concepts, the WNM and the EEAF, to reduce its level of risk. Monitoring the operation of these new devices will add to, rather than lessen, the Commission's regulatory tasks, representing a movement away from the Commission's goal of lessening the regulatory burden that is ultimately borne by ratepayers.

4. Certain Features of the Proposal are not Related to Performance-based Ratemaking, and Should not be Adopted by the Commission as an Aspect of SoCal's PBR Proposal

SoCal's proposal includes some features that are extraneous to a

scheme which encourages efficiency on the part of the utility through a system of incentives. Instead, these additional features appear to have been included by SoCal as a "wish list" of items which, if authorized, would enhance the potential profitability of SoCal without rewarding ratepayers in kind. Specific examples include the proposals for major changes in residential rate design, and gain on sale exceptions, which appear to be designed only to enhance SoCal's profitability without any relation to ratepayers' interests. Residential rate design issues were addressed by the decision in SoCal's BCAP, adopted on April 23, 1997.

We are also mindful that we should not make any major changes in general industry policy in a proceeding which involves a single utility, such as this one. Questions of new products and services and gain on sale are broad ones which potentially apply to an entire class of utilities, and any major changes should be adopted in a generic proceeding to insure that they will apply evenhandedly to all utilities in the class. We must therefore refrain from addressing such proposals in this proceeding.

5. Conclusion: The SoCal PBR Methodology must be Modified for Adoption by the Commission

In recognition of these conceptual problems, we cannot adopt the PBR proposal advanced by SoCal. Doing so would contradict important Commission policies and orders, and would represent an abdication of our responsibility to ratepayers. Although we favor performance-based ratemaking as a tool for regulating utilities in the current regulatory environment, we must in some respects replace SoCal's proposal with a program which more accurately advances our regulatory goals.

C. The Commission's Adopted PBR

In this section we enumerate the essential features of our adopted PBR for SoCal. This PBR will become effective immediately. Insofar as possible it retains the elements of the SoCal proposal, but it includes changes that bring it into conformance with other decisions, goals, and policies of the Commission.

The features we adopt are: (1) the productivity index (inflation less productivity); (2) the quantity indexed; (3) exclusions and adjustments; (4) offramps and termination provisions; (5) service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety incentives; and (6) monitoring and evaluation provisions. We also establish the amount of the base margin for indexing.

1. Indexing Method

As earlier explained, we must first select the overall index (price index minus "X") to be applied to the indexed quantity in order to obtain the subsequent years' base rates.

a) Inflation Measure

SoCal is proposing an inflation measure (the GUPI) based upon a weighted average of the recorded indices of labor O&M, nonlabor O&M, and capital-related costs. In the GUPI, the measure for labor O&M is the index of average hourly earnings of workers in gas production and distribution as reported by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. The measure for nonlabor O&M is the DRI/McGraw Hill nonlabor O&M index for gas utilities. The inflation measure for capital-related costs

- 26 -

would be based on the DRI/McGraw Hill indices for capital service prices and for the price of gas distribution capital goods. These measures would be weighted according to the average of expenditures in each category for the past five years.

SoCal proposes that rates for a year would be set using the latest available forecasts for the GUPI elements for that forthcoming year at the time that SoCal makes its annual PBR rate formula rate filing, but that the next year's rate filing would include an adjustment to "true up" any difference between the forecast and actual GUPI.

SoCal originally proposed to use a weighting of input price inflation based on SoCal's own historical ratio of labor expense, nonlabor expense and capital inputs to total costs. ORA proposed using a weighting that was the average of gas operations for SoCal, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), and SDG&E. The rationale for ORA's recommendation was that it would make it easier for the Commission to administer PBRs for the three major gas utilities it regulates. In any event, a broader-based price index is consistent with the Commission's disinclination to use company-specific indexes.⁴⁴ SoCal has accepted ORA's alternative.

We adopt the approach to price indexing proposed by ORA.

b) Productivity Factor

As explained earlier, the productivity or "X" factor consists of two parts. The first component is a historic measure of industry productivity. The second component represents an additional productivity target, or aspiration measure, which is based upon potential incremental productivity improvement that the utility can expect to achieve over and above the historical average. SoCal refers to this as the "stretch" factor, or "consumer dividend," because it creates downward pressure on costs and, by extension, on rates.

¹⁴ SCUPP/IID propose a weighting based on five to ten western U.S. gas utilities. This proposal is vague and undefined; the exact companies are not identified and there is no basis for comparing it to other parties' positions. It would not simplify the Commission's administration of PBR, and we will not adopt it.

(1) Industry Productivity Measure

SoCal proposes using a historical industry

productivity measure of 0.5%. This figure was developed from the Christensen Associates study, and elicited little criticism from the parties. We adopt the 0.5% historical industry productivity figure.

(2) "Stretch" Factor

The second component, the "stretch" factor, is more problematic. SoCal proposes that this component also be fixed at 0.5%, and claims that this is a liberal figure in relation to the productivity gains it expects to be able to achieve beyond the historical average.

ORA advocates a 1% stretch factor, double that proposed by SoCal. This would produce a total productivity factor of 1.5%. TURN/Department of General Services (DGS) supports ORA's estimate as reasonable in the long run, but believes that the pendency of the Enova-Pacific Enterprises merger will cause an increase in productivity. This is based upon the experience of witness Marcus, who testified that during the period of the SCE-SDG&E merger proposal, (1) staff members sought jobs outside the company because of organizational uncertainty and were not all replaced because of the possibility of postmerger job consolidations, and (2) capital spending was curtailed. Thus, TURN/DGS recommends adoption of a 1.5% stretch factor while the merger application is pending.

Although the subject of merger savings is not a part of our consideration here, we believe that the pendency of the merger proceeding distinguishes this period of time from that which was examined in developing SoCal's productivity and stretch factors. Given the nature of management's motivation, it is indeed likely that capital spending will be curtailed and expenses otherwise forgone before the merger is consummated or disapproved. We therefore believe that the stretch factor proposed by SoCal is likely to be conservative.

SoCal's objection to the adoption of a stretch factor greater than 0.5% is based primarily on the number of multiples of historical

productivity that each figure represents. Thus, SoCal states that ORA's suggestion of a 1.5% total productivity factor would be three times the historical average, and TURN/DGS's 2.5% figure would be five times the historical average. SoCal argues that this would not be reasonable.

We find that ORA's suggestion comes as close to the mark as any, particularly in view of the likelihood that disproportionately large productivity gains may be on the near-term horizon. It is appropriate to "set the bar high" in the expectation that SoCal will, indeed, stretch to maximize productivity. Were we to set too low a goal, SoCal's benefit could come at the expense of the ratepayers, even allowing for a sharing mechanism. There would be no advantage to adopting such a PBR over traditional ratemaking methodology. Nevertheless, we recognize that productivity improvements are not likely to occur all at once. Both cost reductions and revenue enhancements may take several years to come to fruition. We recognized this in D.9-09-092 in SCE's PBR when we adopted an "X" factor, including a stretch factor, which ramped up from 1.2% to 1.6% over the life of the PBR. We believe it is appropriate to take a similar approach here.

We will adopt a stretch factor that increases incrementally over the initial five-year PBR timetable resulting in an X factor of 1.1% in Year 1, 1.2% in Year 2, 1.3% in Year 3, 1.4% in Year 4, and 1.5% in Year 5.

c) Quantity Indexed

SoCal proposes to index rates directly, rather than indexing total authorized margin or authorized margin per customer, for several reasons. First, SoCal contends that this mechanism will put it at risk for the level of customer demand (throughput), and that this is the direction in which the Commission wants to move; SoCal points to the Commission's recent adoption of rate indexing for SCE to support this contention. SoCal also argues that this mechanism will best prepare it for the transition to a competitive marketplace, and will change its corporate culture. SoCal claims that rate indexing will allow the elimination of a major balancing account, the CFCA, and thus simplify regulation. Finally, SoCal argues that this approach is

- 29 -

consistent with the direction the Commission has already taken by putting SoCal at risk for a specific throughput for most noncore customers under the Global Settlement.

We do not find SoCal's arguments persuasive in relation to its unique circumstances. First, the probability of risk to the shareholders is far lower than SoCal suggests, because realistic throughput forecasts indicate a growing core market.¹⁹ In addition, SoCal's president, Mr. Mitchell, acknowledged on crossexamination that the company continues to seek new throughput opportunities, such as business ventures in Mexico. Under traditional regulation, a portion of the cost of these ventures would be allocated to the resultant new loads, reducing rates for existing customers. This would not be true under PBR. In light of these realities, we prefer not to give SoCal carte blanche to increase its throughput and apply what will almost surely be a positive index each year (reflecting inflation in excess of productivity) to actual throughput.

Preservation of the CFCA, at least through the period covered by the Global Settlement, is central to this indexing method. The Global Settlement establishes throughput based on the 1991 level. SoCal has agreed to this through the term of the agreement. Although the Global Settlement does not specifically refer to the CFCA, as SoCal says, once throughput is fixed in this fashion, the CFCA handles overcollection or undercollection from sales variations. Retention of CFCA is therefore implicit in the Global Settlement, as the mechanism will not work properly without it.

As we have already explained, retention of the CFCA in connection with throughput variations requires the use of revenue indexing. This is required by the Global Settlement. Other provisions of the Global Settlement also require the existence of a revenue requirement. These include "a memorandum account to track the variance between the costs allocated to the noncore and wholesale markets

¹⁵ <u>See</u>, for example, Exh. 62A, Attachment 7, p. 25: SoCal projects systemwide sales growth of 3.4% between the years 1996 and 2000, principally in the high-margin residential sector.

and [SoCal's] actual noncore and wholesale mechanisms," which is calculated using "a debit entry equal to one twelfth (1/12) of the authorized annual cost used to develop the effective rates for noncore transportation service including EOR [Enhanced Oil Recovery]." (TURN/DGS Opening Brief, p. 9, quoting Global Settlement, Section II, para. 3 and Implementation Appendix, p. 21.) These features preclude rate indexing, and must be retained until expiration of that agreement.

Another circumstance unique to SoCal compels us to adopt indexing of the revenue requirement, rather than rates. Specifically, the proposed Enova-Pacific Enterprises merger will create a need to track savings, which cannot be accomplished with rate indexing. Although the merger application is not directly relevant to the SoCal PBR proposal, we take notice that if we approve the merger, we will have to determine the amount of merger savings in that proceeding. Those savings are expressed in the same terms as the total revenue requirement. Indexing the total revenue requirement will enable that sum to be deducted from the pre-merger totals. On the other hand, if rates are indexed where throughput forecasts are no longer calculated, then savings cannot be passed back to customers. This means that if we were to adopt rate indexing now, we would have to revisit the subject in the merger proceeding and translate the PBR results in order to insure consistency after the merger takes place, if it is approved.

Finally, we conclude that revenue rather than rates must be indexed because SoCal's rate base is declining at the time the PBR is to go into effect. SoCal's proposal to index rates, which would fix SoCal's rate base at the 1996 level and index it for at least five years thereafter, fails to recognize this fact. Rate indexing would benefit SoCal's shareholder because its capital spending is declining. This is an important fact, as SoCal's earnings will consequently increase by 87 basis points more than its currently authorized rate of return as the sole result of depreciation.⁴⁴

[&]quot; SCUPP/IID considers this fact sufficient to justify retention of traditional ratemaking for SoCal rather than moving to a PBR system at this time. That course would be contrary to our policy of favoring PBR, and we believe it is too extreme. Alternatively, SCUPP/IID proposes a

The operation of depreciation is best understood in relation to the level of a utility's capital expenditures. If a utility's plant additions increase more than its plant is depreciated, rate base and associated taxes will grow. On the other hand, if the utility's plant additions are lower than its depreciation expense, the level of depreciated plant, and hence rate base, will decline. SoCal's additional capital expenditures are less than depreciation, thus significantly reducing rate base as well as the amount of return and of associated taxes. This is because SoCal is experiencing low customer growth (Exh. 52, pp. 4-5). The low customer growth rate is reducing investment requirements to a level lower than its depreciation expense, and its rate base is declining.

As explained by SCUPP/IID witness Yap, SoCal's 1995-1999 Financial Plan sets out the Company's projection of the decline in its average rate base. The table and chart on page 8-5 of the Financial Plan shows a decline beginning in 1995, acknowledging the trend: "Depreciation exceeds capital expenditures in traditional markets beginning in 1995." See Exh. 52, p. 5 (SCUPP/IID - Yap). This projection is consistent with SoCal's 1995 10-K report to the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC), which reflects a 3.4% decrease in rate base for 1995. The 10-K report projects 1996 capital expenditures of \$224 million, while SoCal's Summary of Earnings Table for 1996 filed in this proceeding projects \$255 million in depreciation (Exh. 24, Table 12-A). When compared to the \$231 million capital expenditure level and \$237 million depreciation level that accompanied the 3.4% reported decline in rate base during 1995, it is clear that the decline in rate base is accelerating. (Exh. 52, p. 5 (SCUPP/IID - Yap.))

Under traditional ratemaking, declining rate base tends to reduce rates. Declining rate base results in lower depreciation expense, return, and

methodology which would separately index the O&M portion and the capital portion of the base margin rate. This would correct for the declining rate base, but would provide an incentive for SoCal's management to substitute capital for O&M expenses wherever possible, thus perpetuating one of the disadvantages of traditional ratemaking.

associated taxes, which are reflected in lower rates. But if rate base is "frozen" and rates are indexed, they will rise despite the fact that rate base is declining.

d) Adopted Indexing Formula

For the reasons we have described, it is necessary to index SoCal's *revenues*, rather than rates. SoCal's rate indexing proposal, however, is easily adapted into an equivalent revenue-indexing mechanism. SoCal's rate indexing proposal is

PBR rates (year 2) = PBR rates (year 1) x(1 + inflation - productivity)

This is a standard price cap formula, in its basic form identical to the ones we have adopted for Pacific Bell and GTEC, and for Southern California Edison." Recognizing that by definition SoCal's revenues are the product of rates and the quantity of gas sold or transported (throughput), this formula can be translated into an equivalent revenue setting mechanism:

Since throughput by definition is average throughput per customer times the number of customers, the last term—growth in throughput—can be decomposed further into the sum of customer growth and growth in throughput per customer. Making this substitution in the revenue indexing formula results in SoCal's proposal for rates translated into its equivalent for indexing revenues:

PBR rev. req. (year 2) = PBR rev. req. (year 1) x [1 + inflation • productivity + customer growth + growth in throughput per customer]

"Typically such formulas include as well a term for so-called "Z factors." The Z-factor term is ignored in the above discussion just to keep things simple.



Finally, this formula can be converted into its equivalent for revenue requirement per customer¹⁴ by deleting the customer growth term on the right hand side:

PBR rev. req. per customer (year 2) = PBR rev. req. per customer (year 1) x [1+inflation - productivity + growth in throughput per customer]

Like SoCal, ORA proposes to index rates using the same,

standard inflation minus productivity format. Its proposal, translated into the equivalent revenue per customer indexing formula, therefore looks exactly the same as SoCal's depicted above. The only difference--as described earlier--is that ORA proposes a 1.5 percent productivity factor, while SoCal's is 1.0 percent.

Unlike SoCal and ORA, TURN/DGS proposes to index revenues directly. Like the two other parties' proposals, its indexing mechanism is driven by inflation, productivity and customer growth. However, because the proposal is not based on indexing rates, it does not reward the utility with additional revenues from increasing throughput per customer. Additionally, it includes a minus 1.41% constant term in the formula" that is missing from the other two. Perhaps most importantly, it does not give the same *uright* to the common factors it shares with the SoCal and ORA proposals—inflation, productivity and customer growth. TURN/DGS's indexing mechanism assigns less weight to inflation and the productivity offset, and more weight to customer growth, in determining the utility's revenue requirement. TURN/DGS's revenue indexing proposal for revenue per customer is:^N

¹⁸ Actual customers are used to calculate customer growth and convert revenue per customer into total revenues.

[&]quot; This number, because it is negative, could be interpreted as an additional productivity offset.

²⁰ TURN/DGS provide formulas both for indexing total revenues and revenues per customer. The differences in the parameters, however, are insignificant. TURN/DGS argues that a *longrun* PBR indexing mechanism should index revenues per customer. *See* Exh. 63, p. 20 (TURN/DGS - Marcus).

PBR rev. req. per cust. (year 2) = PBR rev. req. per cust. (year 1) x (1 + 0.610 x inflation - 0.610 x productivity + 0.605 x cust. growth - 1.41%)

Although the TURN/DGS formula relies upon essentially the same set of factors as SoCal's and ORA's the difference in *results* is not insignificant. With the throughput per customer term dropped in the SoCal and ORA proposals for directness of comparison, the results for a 1.0 percent customer growth rate and inflation of 3 percent are:ⁿ

<u>SóCal</u>

PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year 2) = $(1 + .03 - .01) \times PBR$ Rev. Req. per cust. (year 1) = 102% of PBR year 1 Rev. Req. per customer

<u>ORA</u> PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year 2) = $(1 + .03 - .015) \times PBR$ Rev. Req. per cust. (year 1) = 101.5% of PBR year 1 Rev. Req. per customer

TURN/DGS

PBR Rev. Réq. per cust. (year 2)

= [1+ 0.610 x (.03 - .015) + 0.605 x .01 - .0141) x PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year1) = 100.11% of PBR year1 Rev. Req. per customer

A PBR mechanism provides an incentive to utilities to cut costs by disconnecting their rates from their actual costs. Traditional ratemaking sets rates and revenues on the basis of utilities' actual costs. The poor cost-cutting incentives provided by such ratemaking are too well known to repeat here. A PBR mechanism, on the other hand, sets a *limit* for revenues or rates—independent of the utilities subsequent actual cost performance—based on the general factors that drive costs: inflation, customer and output growth, with an offset for productivity gains.

This does not mean, however, that we cannot ignore special circumstances that may affect a specific utility's costs. We agree with TURN/DGS that

²¹ The omission of the average throughput per customer factor is not trivial. SoCal Gas' forecast of throughput growth is 2 percent per year; for customers, 1 percent growth. The

an indexing method should be chosen which, among other things, would leave ratepayers at least as well off under PBR as they would have been under traditional ratemaking. Without some assurance to that effect, there is no real "consumer dividend" for ratepayers from adopting PBR.

In this context, SoCal (and ORA's) approach fails to take into account its specific circumstances, and therefore omits an important consideration that needs to be taken into account in setting its indexing formula. As noted in the previous section, SoCal's projected plant expenditures are less than projected depreciation, thus significantly reducing future rate base and the associated amount of return and taxes. The low customer growth rate SoCal is experiencing is reducing investment requirements to a level lower than its depreciation expense, and its rate base is declining.

Two utilities could face the same inflation and have the same level of productivity (X), but could have very different trajectories in revenue requirements if one was growing more rapidly and had an increasing rate base and the other was growing more slowly and faced declining rate base. A simple inflation minus X indexing formula—for revenue per customer—would give the same revenue increase to both utilities, possibly yielding a windfall for one and a loss for the other.

Thus, if one is constructing a single "X" factor, it may not be sufficient to construct that factor from a historical factor productivity study plus a stretch, as SoCal and ORA have proposed. Neither SCE nor SDG&E claimed that they would face rate base declines, as SoCal forecasts that it will. TURN/DGS's methodology attempts to take into account SoCal's current investment plans over the next five years. However, while we agree with the basic logic of the TURN/DGS approach, we are unwilling to go so far as to adopt its proposed formula. The formula relies on a complex regression analysis, underlying which is a set of assumptions and variables. One important assumption is that the projected rate base decline will occur as

implied growth in throughput per customer therefore is 1 percent. When this effect is included in the SoCal and ORA proposals, the respective escalation factors become 103% and 102.5%.

SoCal has projected in its 1996-2000 financial plan. SoCal's future investment plans may well vary due to a variety of factors, including the rate of customer growth and the incentives afforded by this PBR decision. The TURN/DGS approach assumes that SoCal's management will have no control over the extent of future capital investments. While we agree that the general trend is likely to be as presented in the 1996-2000 financial plan, we cannot rely on the exact numbers in that plan as the mathematical basis for the indexing formula.

As noted earlier, the indexing formula is intended to give utility management the incentive to improve productivity through reasonable management of costs and practices that are within its control. Thus, the productivity factor takes into account expected gains on an industry-wide level, and adds a stretch factor to provide a "consumer dividend" and account for the fact that implementation of the PBR necessarily will require increased productivity if the utility is to receive a fair benefit from the new system. We also adjust the base margin to ensure that the utility is starting from a reasonable starting point, just as we would under traditional ratemaking. TURN/DGS makes the case that the same concept should be applied to rate base. If rate base is falling due to factors extrinsic to the PBR, returns will increase unless an adjustment is made, and vice versa. While this issue was not introduced in other PBR cases, it is a legitimate consideration.

We would prefer to adopt a method to take rate base changes into account outside of the indexing formula. A methodology such as a direct revenue offset or adjustment of the benchmark rate of return could accomplish this. However, no party has proposed such a method, and we must rely upon the indexing methodology, in which rate base factors are effectively translated into productivity. SoCal estimates in its comments on the Proposed Decision (p. 4) that the impact of the TURN/DGS formula may result in an effective productivity factor as high as 2.9 percent, which is 1.4 percent above the 1.5 percent final stretch "X" factor. This suggests that it may be possible to translate directly the TURN/DGS formula into a straight productivity figure and thus roughly reconcile the TURN/DGS concept with the indexing methodologies adopted in other PBRs.

- 37 -

Since some of the capital spending decisions in the future are presumed to be under SoCal management's control, we find it reasonable to adopt a lower effective X factor than the 2.9 percent imputed from the TURN/DGS methodology. Accordingly, we will adopt a 1.0 percentage point increase to the ramped stretch productivity factor. Our final adopted productivity "X" factor will be 2.1 percent in year 1; 2.2 percent in year 2; 2.3 percent in year 3; 2.4 percent in year 4; and 2.5 percent in year 5.

The PBR indexing formula therefore that we adopt is:

PBR rev. req. per customer (year 2) = PBR rev. req. per customer (year 1) x [1+inflation - X],

with our adopted "X" factors described in the previous paragraph.

2. Sharing Mechanism

SoCal proposes that there be no adjustment in rates during the minimum five-year PBR period to share with ratepayers any difference between its recorded rate of return and a benchmark rate of return. We reject this aspect of SoCal's proposal, and require a sharing mechanism as part of the PBR for SoCal.

ORA, SCUPP/IID, SCE, and TURN/DGS advocate the inclusion of a sharing mechanism as an integral feature of SoCal's PBR, and two specific proposals have been advanced for our consideration. ORA's proposal would allow SoCal to retain all profits up to the level of 75 basis points above authorized rate of return (ROR), and 50% of any profits earned above that benchmark level. ORA states that earnings at the 75 basis point benchmark level will enable SoCal to keep \$37.5 million of its revenues as a reward for its efforts, and above this level SoCal would net additional rewards, albeit at a proportionately lower rate. By contrast, TURN/DGS urges us to adopt a mechanism which shares cost savings with ratepayers on a progressive basis. This approach affords better insurance for ratepayers in the event that the productivity factor turns out to be unrealistically low, and profits therefore to be excessive.

TURN/DGS recommends as our basic model the PBR we adopted for SCE in D.96-09-092. That mechanism shares both profits and losses within "bands" above and below the benchmark return on equity (ROE). Under this approach, shareholders receive all of the gains and losses up to 50 basis points above and below the benchmark rate of return, which we termed the inner band. Our intent in so doing was to assign shareholders the responsibility for the gains and losses associated with routine operation. (Id., mimeo., p. 42.) Beyond the inner band, from 50 to 300 basis points, the shareholder share of gains rises continuously from 25 through 100%, while the ratepayer share correspondingly declines from 75 to 0%. This we defined as the middle band. The shareholders receive all gains 300 basis points above the benchmark.

TURN/DGS proposes one alteration to this mechanism. In recognition of the fact that SoCal will not be exposed to revenue fluctuations due to short-run temperature based sales fluctuations if we retain the CFCA, TURN/DGS recommends that the level of the inner band should be reduced to no more than 25 basis points, or be eliminated altogether. We agree. The allowance of the inner band for SCE was partially to account for weather-based sales fluctuations that were beyond the discretion of utility management. For SoCal we will retain the CFCA as part of the PBR and limit the inner band to 25 basis points to account for minor fluctuations in operations. Thus shareholders will receive 100% up to the level of 25 basis points above the benchmark ROR, and an increasing percentage in steps from 25 up to 300 basis points, above which level they will receive 100%. We refer to a mechanism of this type, where the utility share of net revenue increases as its earned return becomes greater than the benchmark return (and the ratepayer share correspondingly decreases), as progressive sharing.

Between 25 basis points above the benchmark ROR and 300 basis points above the benchmark, we will adopt 8 bands. The more bands that exist, the greater the potential to move into a new band and for shareholders to collect an increasing marginal share of the higher profits. The first band will be from 25 to 50 basis points above the benchmark. In this band, shareholders will receive 25% of the marginal

- 39 -

revenues in the band and ratepayers 75%. Each successive band will see an increase of 10% in the incremental share allocated to shareholders and a decrease of 10% in the ratepayers share. The sixth band will fall between 150 and 200 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 75% and ratepayers 25%. The seventh band will be between 200 and 250 basis points above the benchmark, and shareholders will receive 85% and ratepayers 15%. The eighth band will be between 250 and 300 basis points above the benchmark; shareholders will receive 95% and ratepayers 5%.

Under this system, shareholders may gain up to 68% of the increment up to 300 basis points above the benchmark. However, as shareholders may keep <u>all</u> of the increment above 300 basis points above the benchmark (subject to the offramp discussed below), it is possible for shareholders to gain significantly more than 68% of the increment. For example, if returns are 400 basis points above the benchmark, shareholders would retain 76% of the increment. This system gives an excellent and increasing incentive to shareholders, and is fair to ratepayers who receive both the "consumer dividend" in the productivity formula and a larger share of early (and presumably easier) productivity gains.

We do not perceive a need to impose any sharing below the ROR benchmark, except for the offramp provisions discussed below. Even under traditional cost-of-service ratemaking, we have never guaranteed the utility its authorized ROR. Our PBR mechanism is designed to allow SoCal to "stretch" for higher levels of revenue, and to keep a progressively greater amount of what it is able to earn. By setting the proper ROR benchmark, we will calibrate the mechanism so that it rewards improvements which exceed that baseline, and accomplishes the efficiency gains that we intend for the benefit of the ratepayers by providing for progressive sharing above the benchmark. We will set the ROR benchmark at the current ROR.

Shareholders	Ratepayers		Basis Points
100	0	• 2 years	300
95	5		250
85	15		200
75	25		150
65	35		125
55	45		100
45	55	•	75
35	65		50
25	75		25
100	0		
Benchma	ie Rais of Rai	970	ورو المالي محكمات ل اع ني بين الكاني محكمات
100	0	* 2 years	-175

Sharing Mechanism

- 41 -

We have focused on the question of how cost changes are dealt with in a rate PBR versus revenue PBR. Our decision to adopt a revenue PBR has much to do with our view of the appropriate treatment of cost reductions. We now turn to the treatment of revenue increases (also called revenue enhancements) in this PBR. SoCal may be able to increase net revenues in several ways. As discussed elsewhere in this order, SoCal may be able to expand current service offerings unrelated to the provision of natural gas (such as meter repair), or offer new products or services. SoCal may increase revenues through pricing flexibility approved in this order. SoCal may also experience customer growth or increases in usage per customer.

With the exception of throughput increases, SoCal can benefit from each of the methods of revenue enhancement discussed above. Revenue enhancement increases productivity, and improved productivity is one of the primary goals of performance-based regulation. We believe the adoption of this PBR will encourage SoCal to seek out both cost reductions and revenue increases. If revenue increases occur, they will be factored along with associated costs into the total rate of return calculation that is a part of the revenue PBR. If any revenue increases push SoCal into the sharing range, or further into the sharing range (as discussed below), both SoCal shareholders and ratepayers will benefit from the productivity increases.

3. Exclusions

SoCal proposes that several cost categories handled by existing regulatory mechanisms be excluded from the PBR. These would be preserved, and would maintain their separate existence for adjudication by the Commission. The proposed exclusions are as follows:

> • <u>Catastrophic Event Memorandum Account (CEMA)</u>. The Commission authorized all utilities to establish this account under Resolution no. E-3238 (July 24, 1991) as a reaction to the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake to record the costs of restoring utility service to customers; repairing, replacing, or restoring damaged utility facilities; and complying with government agency orders resulting from declared disasters. It was designed to expedite and facilitate prompt response by utilities in restoring services disrupted by declared disasters. SoCal

proposed to exclude CEMA from PBR so that it will fulfill its intended purpose. ORA initially recommended that CEMA expenses be reviewed using Z-factor criteria to determine potential recovery (Exh. 107, p. 63), but subsequently stipulated that CEMA be treated as an exclusion.

- <u>Hazardous Substance Cost Recovery Account (HSCRA)</u>. This mechanism is a long-term performance-based cost recovery mechanism for hazardous substance and insurance litigation costs related to hazardous substance sites identified by the utility for cost recovery from third parties, insurance carriers and ratepayers.
- Low Emission Vehicle (LEV) Program. In D.93-07-054, 50CPUC2d 452, the Commission ordered that all funding for utility LEV programs was to be established separate from the normal general rate case proceedings, and required all energy utilities to file separate applications for funding of six-year LEV programs under specified guidelines established in that decision. SoCal complied with that requirement. In D.95-11-035, - CPUC2d -- (1995), the Commission allowed continued ratepayer funding of LEV fleet expenses subject to a one-way balancing account, and specified the treatment of the costs of customer-site stations. SoCal proposes that capital-related costs for utility LEV and customer-site stations remain in the PBR Base Margin showing, and that all expenses covered under the one-way balancing account be excluded from PBR and continue as a separate regulatory funding mechanism.
- <u>Regulatory Transition Costs</u>. SoCal proposes that all regulatory transition costs whose regulatory treatment is in the process of being determined at the federal and local levels to be excluded from the PBR to be separately resolved by the Commission. These matters are not subject to reasonable estimation, and SoCal describes them as both significant and potentially volatile. Transition costs identified by SoCal consist of Take-or-Pay (TOP) costs, Minimum Purchase Obligation (MPO) Transition costs, PITCO/POPCO² Transition costs, and the Interstate Transition Cost Surcharges (ITCS).

²² These acronyms, respectively, refer to Pacific Interstate Transmission Company and Pacific Offshore Pipeline Company, both of which are SoCal affiliates.

- <u>Wheeler Ridge Interconnection Costs and Revenues.</u>
 D.95-04-078, -- CPUC2d -- (1995), in SoCal's 1994 BCAP, sets forth the adopted incremental ratemaking treatment for the Wheeler Ridge facilities. SoCal states that implementation requires that Wheeler Ridge interconnection costs and revenues be excluded from PBR.
- Mandated Social Programs. SoCal proposes that mandated social programs such as California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) and the low-income Direct Assistance Program (DAP) should be excluded from PBR because they are created by legislative or administrative mandate, and are not within SoCal's control.
- <u>Gas Costs and Pipeline Demand Charge.</u> Gas costs and pipeline demand charges for core sales customers are forecasted and recovered through rates adopted in BCAPs. SoCal proposes to exclude these charges from PBR to maintain the existing BCAP cost recovery system.
- <u>Costs Imposed by the Commission</u>. SoCal proposes that certain costs imposed by the Commission, such as intervenor compensation fees and costs related to Commission staff supervised management of financial costs should be excluded from PBR because they are subject to separate cost recovery treatment.

There is no longer any serious dispute concerning exclusion of these items. All of them appear to be appropriate for exclusion from the PBR mechanism, because they are beyond the control of SoCal's management, or are subject to recovery through other existing ratemaking mechanisms. We will approve these proposed exclusions.

4. "Z" Factors

We agree with SoCal that events which qualify as Z factors should be handled outside of the PBR mechanism. We also agree that the adopted procedure must insure that there is no double-counting of Z factor events in the inflation index.

- 44 -

We will adopt the following procedure proposed by SoCal to handle Z factors under PBR.

When a potential Z factor event occurs, SoCal will promptly advise the Commission of its occurrence and establish a memorandum account for the event. The notification of the event will provide all relevant information about the event, such as a description, the amount involved, and the timing, and will advise of the establishment of the memorandum account. This notification will be followed by a supplement to the annual rate adjustment procedure for Commission review.

For each event, SoCal's shareholders will absorb the first \$5 million per event of otherwise compensable Z factor adjustments. This will be accomplished through the operation of a "deductible." The deductible is cumulative for each Z factor event from year to year, and is exhausted when the cumulative Z factor costs exceed the deductible amount. The deductible is separately applicable to each Z factor event.

To implement the adjustment, we adopt SoCal's proposal for use of a formula based on the level of integration with the GUPI to avoid double-counting the Z factor event in the inflation index. This formula is based upon the extent to which the Z factor impact is captured in the GUPI, and excludes that amount. SoCal will have the burden of proof in a Z factor proceeding to demonstrate both the total cost of the Z factor event, and the percentage of such cost estimated to be captured within the GUPI.

ORA initially recommended that CEMA become a Z factor. However, ORA and SoCal have agreed to recommend that CEMA be treated a an exclusion rather than a Z factor. As part of the agreement SoCal will maintain commercial insurance for earthquake and other disaster coverage unless major adverse changes to premium levels occur in the future. We will adopt the agreement between ORA and SoCal.

5. Core Pricing Flexibility

SoCal has proposed that it be given the flexibility to offer optional tariffed rates and to negotiate discounted rates with core customers. Any discounts

- 45 -

would be applied to the base rate portion of the default PBR rate (i.e., gas costs would not be discounted). With its proposed elimination of the CFCA, SoCal's shareholders would be at risk for any discounts provided to customers. SoCal proposes that optional tariffs and discounted rates be priced no lower than short-run marginal cost and go into effect on the date of filing.

ORA supports SoCal's request to be able to offer discounted rates provided that shareholders bear 100% of the risk associated with revenue shortfalls and that the price floor for contracts is long-run marginal cost. ORA also supports the concept of optional tariffs for the core but opposes authorizing them at this time, because SoCal has provided insufficient information. Therefore, ORA recommends that SoCal either submit an application that would allow for consideration of specific optional tariffs, as occurred for SCE, or to approve optional tariffs on a case by case basis.

Allowing for negotiated rates and optional tariffs will provide SoCal with opportunities to increase utilization of its system, which benefits ratepayers. Under our adopted sharing mechanism, incremental revenues translate into benefits for both ratepayers and shareholders, providing SoCal with the incentive to more efficiently operate the system. Therefore, allowing SoCal to enter into negotiated contracts and offer optional tariffs is consistent with our PBR goals.

We would prefer to authorize optional tariff offerings with more details than SoCal has provided in its application. However, because shareholders will be entirely at risk for the revenue shortfalls, we will allow SoCal to negotiate discounts and offer optional tariffs, provided that the price floor is above class average long-run marginal cost (LRMC) and allow the tariffs to be effective upon 20 days after filing unless protested on the basis that the price floor is below class average LRMC.²⁰ If protested, the optional tariff filing will proceed through the normal advice letter

²⁹ Nothing in this decision is intended to prevent parties from protesting such filings on any other basis, as well.

process. The optional tariffs must be available to all similarly situated customers that meet the eligibility criteria. If SoCal wishes to offer rates that are customer specific or targeted at some subset of a class and therefore below the class average LRMC, then additional information must be submitted, consistent with information required for long-term contracts under the Expedited Application Docket (EAD), and the contract or tariffs will be subject to Commission approval through the EAD process. Contracts with terms of five years or longer must be approved by the Commission. Consistent with allowing SoCal to offer core customers discounts, we will also allow SoCal to offer firm noncore customers negotiated discounts of less than five years' duration. Negotiated contracts must be filed with the Commission, but the confidentiality provisions in place for noncore contracts will also apply for core contracts.

Electric utilities who retain the Electric Revenue Adjustment Mechanism (ERAM) and offer discounted rates for which shareholders are at risk must currently include an adjustment to ERAM to ensure that ratepayers are not at risk for any revenue shortfall associated with discounted rates. Because we have retained the CFCA, we direct SoCal to develop an adjustment mechanism to the CFCA to ensure that ratepayers are isolated from any risk of revenue shortfall associated with discounted core rates or optional tariff offerings.

6. Implementation Date

The rates based upon our adopted base margin shall become effective July 1, 1997. We recognize that changing objectives as a result of implementing PBR mid-year may create implementation problems and therefore the PBR mechanism shall become effective as of January 1, 1998, unless SoCal elects to operate under the mechanism effective as of January 1, 1997.

7. "Offramp" Provisions

SoCal proposes that the Commission not terminate or modify the PBR mechanism before its minimum term, even if SoCal's recorded rate of return falls below or rises above any particular level during that period, and proposes to take full risk for the level of its earnings under PBR for at least the proposed minimum duration

- 47 -

of the PBR mechanism. For the protection of both SoCal and its ratepayers, we conclude that this should not be the case.

a) Cost of Capital Trigger

Although SoCal proposes not to make any changes in PBR indexed rates for changes in cost of capital, it proposes an exception in the event that the 12-month trailing average yield on long-term Treasury Bond increases or decreases more than 250 basis points from the forecast average rate for calendar year 1997, as adopted in D.96-11-060 in SoCal's 1997 cost of capital application. Thus, SoCal acknowledges the need for an escape valve, or offramp of sorts, in the event of a dramatic change in the cost of capital.

Under the proposed mechanism, SoCal would have the option to file a cost of capital application in the event that the 250 basis point "trigger" were exceeded. In the event of a 250 basis point decrease, SoCal would be required to file a cost of capital application. In either event, the Commission would determine whether any change in rates was appropriate in light of all factors affecting the cost of capital. Any rate change, whether an increase or decrease, would be prospective from the effective date of a Commission decision.

ORA generally supports the trigger mechanism concept, but proposes a somewhat different approach to cost of capital. The principal differences between SoCal's proposal and ORA's proposal are that: (1) ORA's mechanism would not be triggered unless actual interest rates changed by more than 150 basis points <u>and</u> the then-current DRI forecast was for interest rates to continue to be at least 150 basis points different from the benchmark interest rate under PBR; and (2) if ORA's threshold were triggered, there would be an automatic adjustment of rates according to a pre-established formula. SCUPP/IID also supports the basic concept of using a triggering mechanism with a single-index PBR, and prefers ORA's proposal over SoCal's.

We prefer ORA's approach over that proposed by SoCal for two reasons. First, that approach is more sensitive to a realistic level of interest-rate

- 48 -

savings. Secondly, it is a system which will not involve as great a level of regulatory burden on the Commission, because a cost of capital application would not have to be filed when the trigger level was reached.

We adopt for SoCal the ORA triggering mechanism for changes in cost of capital during the PBR period, coupled with the "MICAM" mechanism for rate adjustment that we recently adopted for SDG&E in D.96-06-035.

b) Rate of Return Offramp

SoCal opposes any offramp which would have the effect of allowing or requiring suspension or modification of the PBR mechanism before the expiration of the five-year minimum term in the event that SoCal earns a specified amount more or less than the benchmark rate of return. SoCal argues that this would result in dilution of the penalties for poor performance and rewards for superior performance, and tend to defeat or impair the incentive provided by the mechanism for the utility to operate efficiently.

As part of its proposal for a sharing mechanism, ORA advocates an offramp mechanism to protect both ratepayers and SoCal from significant deviations from anticipated earnings under this new and untested PBR system. For upside deviation, ORA proposes an offramp trigger set at 300 basis points above authorized earnings for two consecutive years. For downside deviation, ORA proposes an offramp at 175 basis points below authorized earnings for two consecutive years. This proposal conforms well to the sharing mechanism we adopt and is very similar to the approach we have taken with SDG&E. We also prefer an offramp "trigger" device to the adoption of an interim PBR with a shorter duration, which is the approach espoused by TURN.

We will adopt ORA's rate of return offramp proposal. The PBR mechanism will be subject to a motion for voluntary suspension if SoCal reports two consecutive years of net operating income that is at least 175 basis points below its authorized rate of return. Either SoCal or ORA may file this motion seeking suspension of the PBR mechanism. If the motion is granted, suspension of the PBR would be

- 49 -

required. If SoCal reports return of 300 or more basis points above its authorized rate of return for two consecutive years, the PBR mechanism will automatically be suspended, and we will conduct a formal regulatory review to determine what, if any, changes in the ratemaking mechanism are required.

c) Mid-course Review

Although SoCal opposes any regulatory change to the PBR system prior to expiration of the 5-year minimum term (except for the cost of capital trigger), the experimental nature of the PBR and SoCal's own unique circumstances compel us to conclude that there is a need for reexamination of the program before five years elapse.

First, according to the Global Settlement, the expiration of that agreement on July 31, 1999, will alter SoCal's ratemaking environment and require the institution of a BCAP. As SoCal's witness Van Lierop acknowledges,

> "The Global Settlement requires that [SoCal] file a BCAP application in October of 1998 with rates to become effective on August 1, 1999. The key purpose of this BCAP filing is to terminate the provision in the Global Settlement that rates and cost allocation be based on 1991 throughput. . . . [SoCal] proposes that "shadow rates" - adopted in this proceeding go into effect as actual base rates on August 1, 1999, which will terminate the 1991 throughput provision with respect to base rates. The 1998 BCAP filing is still required to replace 1991 throughput, with a forecasted throughput level for the purpose of determining exclusions surcharges. [SoCal] proposes that the 1998 BCAP be used to adopt surcharges and cost-of-gas rates for the remainder of the PBR period, i.e., from August 1, 1999 to December 31, 2001." (Exh. 11, pp. 69-70.)

This in itself establishes the need for a mid-course proceeding, currently anticipated to be in the form of the 1998 BCAP, to revisit certain of the issues in this PBR.

Notwithstanding explicit language to the contrary in the Global Settlement, SoCal's PBR proposal is premised upon retaining the inter-class cost allocation based on 1991 throughput for the entire PBR period, which extends well

beyond the August 1, 1999, expiration of the Global Settlement. TURN's witness Florio testified that this would be particularly harmful to core customers, because the effect of the SoCal proposal would be to reduce the average year forecast of throughput by 5%, while at the same time denying core ratepayers the benefit of the lower throughput forecast for purposes of cost allocation. (Ex. 55, pp. 16-17.) Consistency must be assured through the 1998 BCAP or its equivalent.

TURN asserts that there is another reason why cost allocation issues must be resolved in the 1998 BCAP. In the current (1996) BCAP, ORA, and TURN have proposed certain refinements to the Commission's LRMC methodology which SoCal claims to exceed permissible cost allocation changes as defined by Section C.5 of the Global Settlement's Implementation Appendix. In the current BCAP we may conclude that these changes must await the expiration of the Global Settlement. However, SoCal's PBR proposal would preclude the allocation of base margin among customer classes from consideration in the 1998 BCAP, because the rates set in this proceeding (as indexed) will remain in force beyond the Global Settlement's expiration. Consequently, ORA and TURN would be foreclosed from proposing adjustments to the LRMC methodology well beyond the expiration of the Global Settlement unless there is a mid-course review.

The merger application of Enova Corporation and Pacific Enterprises, which is currently pending before us, also portends significant changes in SoCal's ratemaking environment. Approval of the merger application could result, for example, in alteration of the base margin, particularly if there are significant productivity gains due to what SoCal has characterized as "synergies" such as the consolidation of administrative and general office functions of the merged parent companies. Although we have declined to examine the financial implications of the pending merger application in this proceeding, we cannot turn a blind eye to the probability that the merger may have considerable impact on SoCal, requiring some adjustment of the PBR.

We have also identified a number of features of SoCal's PBR proposal which are simply not appropriate for inclusion. Among these features are

- 51 -

changes in residential rate design, additional pricing flexibility, and gain on sale. To the extent that these items were not addressed in SoCal's current BCAP, they should be addressed in the next BCAP (or its successor proceeding).

Finally, SoCal, ORA, and TURN have agreed to recommend that a mid-course review be undertaken to examine the status of customer service quality indicators, including the penetration of the CARE program. The 1998 BCAP (or its successor) could be utilized as a vehicle for conducting this review.

In recognition of these circumstances, we conclude that there is a need for a mid-course evaluation of SoCal's PBR, and that SoCal's 1998 BCAP (or its successor) should serve as the forum for that effort. In that proceeding, we will address the issues of SoCal's throughput forecast, cost allocation, rate design, and other matters which may come to light from the interim results of SoCal's PBR experience.

d) Termination

Under SoCal's proposal, the PBR would remain in effect at least five years from its inception. Based upon this minimum term, SoCal proposes that any party, or the Commission on its own motion, could institute a proceeding to change or replace the PBR mechanism upon its expiration. ORA and SCUPP/IID object to the automatic continuation of SoCal's PBR. ORA proposes that the PBR be formally evaluated near the conclusion of the five-year PBR term to provide the Commission with a complete evaluation of the PBR mechanism.

ORA proposes that SoCal be required to notify the Commission and all parties of record of its intention to file either a general rate case application or a PBR application 24 months prior to the end of the PBR cycle. If SoCal indicates that it plans to file a general rate case application rather than a PBR application, ORA will submit its master data request to SoCal within one month after SoCal notifies the Commission. Thereafter, the procedural schedule would follow the rate case plan in accordance with R.87-11-012. Alternatively, ORA proposes that if SoCal notifies the Commission that it desires to continue with a PBR program, SoCal should be required to file a PBR application no less than 18 months prior to the end of

- 52 -

the PBR cycle. In its filing, SoCal should provide both an evaluation of its existing PBR program and a recommendation as to what modifications should be made to the PBR mechanism for the future.

ORA witness Bower specifies the issues that, at a minimum, should be addressed in its filing requesting continuation of PBR. These are:

- Was SoCal successful in meeting or beating the adopted benchmarks?
- What happened to system average rates over the period of the PBR? How did this compare to the average national rate and to the overall rate of inflation?
- If SoCal was successful, how were the reductions accomplished? What types of expenses were reduced? Were there any side effects of the expense reduction?
- What was the operating environment of SoCal over the PBR period? Were there developments that either made it easier or more difficult to achieve the established goals? If so, what were those developments?
- Did the Commission and SoCal work together effectively in the process of monitoring and evaluating the PBR? If not, what parts of the monitoring and evaluation process did not work?
- Did the Commission and SoCal work together effectively in the event of any interim modifications to the PBR? If not, how could this process have been improved?
- Did the PBR demonstrate a more or less efficient method of regulation than the conventional general rate case method? What specific features of the PBR were either better or worse?
- Were the specific performance indicators in this PBR adequate to measure the effectiveness of the PBR? If not, how should the performance indicators be modified?
- Was SoCal successful in maintaining a stable credit rating over the term of the PBR? What other financial measures

should be examined? What was SoCal's annual ROE and ROR performance over the PBR, and how did that compare to the company's authorized numbers? How did this performance compare to SoCal's historical record for periods prior to the PBR?

- What other consequences of the PBR were identified, if any? What was the impact of those consequences on the PBR? What was the impact of those consequences on SoCal, its ratepayers, the environment, and others? Were the consequences positive or negative?
- Considering the results of the PBR, what should be the next steps? Should the PBR be continued? If so, what "start up" conditions should prevail? Should those alternatives include a return to the general rate case or attrition process? (Exh. 107, pp. 16-18 - 16-19.)

ORA's proposal is well considered. Although we have no

disinclination to continue SoCal's PBR beyond the five-year minimum, there is a need to insure that the system does not continue indefinitely without being subjected to one scrutiny, and to insure that it is meeting its intended goals and furthering our regulatory policy. The procedure for continuing the PBR outlined by ORA is far less onerous than the requirements for filing a GRC, and is appropriate for evaluation of a program that has been in force for five years, as contrasted with the three-year life of a GRC.

We will adopt ORA's proposal.

8. Service Quality, Customer Satisfaction, and Safety Incentives

By its nature, customer satisfaction is difficult to measure and to quantify. SoCal's original proposal to measure ongoing customer satisfaction by using an index figure generated considerable controversy, resulting in a great deal of discussion among the parties during the course of the hearing. The outcome of these negotiations was a joint position on behalf of SoCal, ORA, and TURN, which is set forth in Exh. 210. That exhibit provides a comprehensive joint recommendation for measures to ensure that customer satisfaction, service quality, and employee safety performance will be maintained in SoCal's PBR environment.

The four primary features of this comprehensive plan are:

- Individual targets would be established for each of the four key service attributes, with each service attribute carrying a potential rate reduction should the performance level for that attribute fall below its prescribed target and deadband. These four key service attributes are:
 - (1) Customer satisfaction with the telephone customer service representative (CSR);
 - (2) Customer satisfaction with the scheduling of an appointment for a field service call;
 - (3) Satisfaction with the field Appliance Service Representative (ASR); and
 - (4) Percentage of on-time arrival for the service call;
- An additional call center "prescriptive" performance standard would require 80% of all telephone calls to be answered within 60 seconds for regular calls, and 90% of all leak and emergency telephone calls to be answered within 20 seconds. SoCal would be subject to rate reduction for failure to meet these targets.
- In addition to rate incentives, SoCal would assume responsibility to provide reports to the Commission, on a quarterly basis, containing monthly data on several service quality indicators, as follows: level of telephone busy signals, percentage of estimated meter readings, leak response time, percentage of missed appointments, and percentage of customer problems resolved on the first service call.
- The Commission will undertake a mid-course review of the status of the customer service quality indicators.

The program specifies penalties for failure to attain goals below a deadband. Aggregate penalties of more than \$4 million will trigger an investigation by the Commission.

SCE objects that the service program does not provide for rewards for attaining levels above the goals. This overlooks the purpose of our quality control efforts, which is to ensure that standards of service are upheld at least at current levels

despite the adoption of PBR, and particularly that cost cutting will not result in the degradation of service and safety. We are concerned that if we provide rewards for the attainment of higher levels, we will encourage efforts to overdeliver service, thereby increasing the cost to provide service. The cost of the rewards would be passed along to customers through higher rates. This would be contrary to our purpose in adopting PBR. We have already described the terms to which SoCal, ORA, and TURN have agreed relative to attainment of the employee safety standard. As contrasted with the customer satisfaction provisions, this part of the agreement provides for both rewards and penalties.

The program agreed to by SoCal, ORA, and TURN is a rational and systematic approach to insuring the maintenance of service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety. We adopt that program as part of our order.⁴⁴ We also adopt the parties' recommendation to conduct a midterm review of the operation of these features. As stated above, we have selected the 1998 BCAP (or its successor) as the vehicle for conducting this review.

9. Additional Customer Service Issues

SoCal states that there are two additional unresolved issues which pertain to the customer satisfaction measure. First, in the event that SoCal is authorized to implement a late payment charge with respect to its core customers, TURN proposes additional service quality measures, with potential monetary penalties, pertaining to the mailing of customer bills and the posting of customer payments. Second, SCUPP/IID seeks to increase the amount of the SIC, which SoCal offered to its noncore customers as part of the Capacity Brokering Settlement in 1991. SoCal opposes both of these measures.

SoCal's proposal to impose a late payment charge on overdue balances for both core and noncore customers bears no immediate relationship to its

²⁴ The portion of Exh. 210 which sets forth that program is included in our Order as Appendix A.

proposal to move to a PBR system of ratemaking. Accordingly, TURN's responsive proposal to impose standards on the date of bill mailing and payment posting, and penalties in the event that those standards are not met, is equally immaterial for this PBR. There is no logical nexus between the economic incentives under PBR, or the related provisions to insure service quality, and this controversy over administrative processing of bills. We therefore decline the request for additional service incentives relating to billing and payment, and defer the matter of instituting a late payment charge to a more appropriate Commission proceeding.

SCUPP/IID's request for an increase in the SIC is apparently intended to protect noncore customers from service interruptions caused by deferral of maintenance, replacements, and expansion of facilities. The SIC was originally negotiated as part of the 1991 Capacity Brokering Settlement, which was approved by the Commission in D.91-11-025, 41 CPUC2d 668 (1991). Specific provisions which apply to SoCal in that settlement allow SoCal to offer a performance guarantee in its tariffs by providing the customer with a credit equal to \$2.50/dth of gas for curtailment episodes, with a maximum credit of \$5 million in any calendar year. SCUPP/IID proposes that we make this penalty mandatory, adopt a higher \$10 million initial penalty, and increase the penalty ceiling every time the maximum penalty is triggered.

We perceive no reason to adopt this measure as part of the quality assurance measures for SoCal's PBR. SoCal states that there have been no curtailments of intrastate transmission service since the SIC was implemented, and SCUPP/IID has not demonstrated any change in circumstances which would justify an increase in SoCal's penalty exposure. Moreover, for noncore business, SoCal faces significant competitive threats in the form of interstate pipeline bypass, alternate fuel consumption, and cheap imported electricity. Thus market forces, rather than penalties, will provide the impetus for service quality assurance for noncore customers.

10. Monitoring and Evaluation

Because PBR is intended as a means to reduce the need for periodic reexamination of a utility's financial results through the GRC process, its success

- 57 -

depends upon an effective program of monitoring and evaluation. In order to discharge our responsibility, we must be in a position to understand and evaluate the performance of SoCal's PBR during interim periods between formal proceedings.

SoCal proposes to file a detailed annual advice letter to implement the annual PBR rate adjustment and report on the customer service performance measures, including any rate adjustment associated with customer service measures. This annual advice letter would be comprehensive in that it would include all elements of the PBR indexing and adjustment mechanisms, i.e., inflation, productivity, Z factors, and customer service refunds, if any. SoCal proposes to file this annual advice letter on October 1 to allow sufficient time for review and approval so that the rates can become effective January 1, and to furnish supporting documentation and workpapers to the appropriate staff divisions on October 1.

Apart from this advice letter filing, SoCal's proposal for monitoring and evaluation consists principally of recommendations for the discontinuation of many current reporting requirements in the interest of streamlining the regulatory process. SoCal proposes to eliminate or modify approximately ten reports. (See Exh. 107, Table 16-1.) Four of these reports are required by Commission General Orders and apply to all energy utilities.

ORA in its comments states that a procedural mechanism is needed so that SoCal can report its earnings annually. ORA does not object to the annual October 1 filing proposed by SoCal, but proposes that an additional annual filing be made to review the performance of the PBR during the previous calendar year. ORA notes that both telephone and energy utilities which currently operate under adopted PBR mechanisms are required to make annual filings to report on the performance of the PBR during the previous year. Telephone utilities are required to file sharable earnings advice letters evaluating the prior year's operating results no later than April 1 of each year. (D.89-10-031, Ordering Paragraph 16.) SDG&E must file a draft of its performance report by April 15, and a final version of the report by May 15. (D.94-08-023, p. 80.) SDG&E's filing includes a review not only of any sharable earnings, but also reviews the reliability, safety, customer satisfaction, and price

performance components of the SDG&E PBR. SCE is required to file an annual performance report similar to the SDG&E report by March 31 of each year. (Advice Letter 1191-E, as adopted by Resolution E-3478.) ORA also requests an extended time period for the review of the performance report to allow parties more time than the usual amount for advice letter protests. ORA suggests the following schedule:

- April 1 SoCal provides a draft sharable earnings advice letter to appropriate Commission staff, which includes workpapers detailing operating results for SoCal's base rates.
- July 1 Commission staff can submit a report on its audit or analysis of SoCal's draft sharable earnings results.
- July 10 SoCal files its final performance advice letter, with supporting workpapers.
- July 31 Protests in accordance with General Order 96-A can be filed.

ORA, SCUPP/IID, and SCE object to the modification or

elimination of existing reporting requirements. As ORA witness Bower states:

"If the Commission is to successfully implement a monitoring and evaluation plan, it must continue to receive these reports. These reports will be essential tools in evaluating SoCal's performance under the PBR mechanism. The Commission will have the opportunity to evaluate the usefulness of these reports in a PBR environment and determine whether the reports should be modified, eliminated, or expanded. Some reports may prove to be essential while others may prove to be unnecessary. DRA [now ORA] recommends that SoCal continue to provide nine of the ten reports it proposes to eliminate." (Exh. 107, pp. 10-11.)

We acknowledge that reduction of regulatory paperwork in the interest of improving efficiency is certainly a worthy goal. It is not, however, an integral part of PBR. We would like to reduce the volume of reports for all utilities, not just SoCal. Particularly for those which are required by a Commission general order, a

generic proceeding would be required in order to change the requirement. We cannot discriminate in favor of SoCal by eliminating reporting requirements in this proceeding merely because it would reduce SoCal's regulatory burden. The proposal to do so bears no direct relationship to the institution of a PBR system.

We will adopt SoCal's proposal for an annual PBR advice letter filing but deny its request to modify or eliminate any current reporting requirement in the interest of maintaining our ability to monitor and evaluate SoCal's performance under PBR for the present.⁸ The existing reporting requirements, plus SoCal's annual PBR advice letter filing, will enable the Commission to monitor and evaluate SoCal's PBR program, and should remain in place until changed through mid-course review or other proceeding, as appropriate. We will also require an annual PBR performance report similar in scope to the SDG&E annual performance report, and will adopt ORA's suggested schedule for review of the filing. The filing should not only review the PBR performance including a report of any sharable earnings, but should also report on the service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety incentives which we have adopted. Finally, any party who wishes to receive a copy of the draft filing to be made on April 1 should make such a request to SoCal, and such requests should be honored by the Company.

D. New Products and Services

As we summarized earlier in this decision, SoCal seeks the ability to offer new products and services, either itself or through an affiliate, without prior Commission approval. It also asks us to agree that the Commission not regulate the prices, terms, and conditions for new products and services; that the profits or losses from new products and services flow entirely to shareholders; and that existing products and services that are offered on an unbundled basis in the future be treated in

²⁶ Other requirements, such as that which obligates SoCal to obtain our express permission before closing any branch offices, are also unaffected by this decision. (<u>See</u> D.92-08-038, 15 CPUC2d 301 (1992).)

the same manner as new utility-related products and services. SoCal's proposal is opposed by ORA, SCE, TURN, and others, on a number of grounds.

On December 9, 1996, Enron Capital and Trade Resources, New Energy Ventures, Inc., the School Project for Utility Rate Reduction, and the Regional Energy Management Coalition, TURN, UCAN, and XENERGY, Inc. (collectively, Petitioners) filed a petition which, for procedural reasons, was accepted as a motion in the electric restructuring docket. In their motion, the Petitioners requested the Commission to issue an order instituting a rulemaking to establish standards of conduct governing relationships between natural gas local distribution companies (like SoCal) and electric utilities and their affiliated, unregulated marketing entities. The Petitioners also requested that the utilities be required to have their nonregulated activities conducted by their affiliate companies, rather than the utility itself, subject to the affiliate standards. The Petitioners stated that the utility providing services within a monopoly structure should be required to limit its actions to those services, so that equal treatment among competitors can be ensured. It was pointed out in response to the motion that the Petitioners' motion was opposed to the proposal offered here by SoCal. In the rulemaking drafted for the Commission's consideration, staff recommended that this aspect of SoCal's proposal be consolidated with the rulemaking to assure that SoCal and its affiliates would not be placed at an unfair advantage vis a vis the other California energy utilities and their affiliates.

In the rulemaking and investigation docket (OIR) opened April 9, 1997, in response to the motion, we provided instead "...that our decision in the PBR docket on flexibility in introducing new products and services may be interim." (R.97-04-011, I.97-04-012.) We also stated that "[e]ntry by the energy utilities and their affiliates into the unregulated market for energy products and services should be on an equal footing with respect to regulatory posture." (Id.)

Although the OIR explicitly preserved the opportunity in this proceeding to adopt an interim order with respect to SoCal's proposal for flexibility in introducing new products and services, we decline to do so at this time. Now that we have carefully reviewed SoCal's proposal and the opposing pleadings, we believe it would be

- 61 -

premature, at best, to allow SoCal to offer new products and services in competitive markets on an unregulated basis while requiring SoCal's competitors, the remaining energy utilities, to participate in the rulemaking and investigation before allowing them to offer the same services into the same markets on an unregulated, untariffed basis.

SoCal may choose to make the same proposal, or to modify it, in our affiliates rulemaking and investigation. A number of questions arise from this proposal that may need further consideration.

First, SoCal has not clearly specified the types of products or services which it seeks authority to offer on an unregulated basis. During the course of this proceeding, SCE and Enron each raised legitimate concerns about the types of services that SoCal would seek to offer on an unregulated basis, particularly concerning the unbundling of traditional services. In response, SoCal states that with respect to the service unbundling of concern to Enron and SCE, SoCal "expects" to file separate regulatory and ratemaking applications. This pledge leads to two further questions: (1) If SoCal will not be offering on an unregulated basis the services and products which are of concern to SCE and Enron, what products and services will it seek to offer? and (2) Is SoCal's "expectation" that it will seek further authority before unbundling any traditional services, a binding pledge not to do so, pending further regulatory approval?

Second, SoCal has not offered explicit criteria to define the relevant markets into which SoCal seeks entry on an unregulated basis. What criteria and process should the Commission utilize in determining the relevant market, the degree of competition or the extent of SoCal's market power? For example, SoCal has asked that it be able to unbundle existing elective after meter services (such as pilot lighting or appliance inspection) and offer these services on an unregulated basis "where there is no market power." (Exh. 144, p. 2.) However, SoCal has not explained how to determine, or who will determine, that SoCal has no market power with respect to a particular product or service.

One particular aspect of SoCal's proposal which is of concern to us is SoCal's assertion that it is considering offering new products and services in "either

- 62 -

competitive markets which already exist...or are ripe for competition." (Exh. 7, p. 27.) As SCE observes, "Plainly, the fact that SoCalGas believes a market is 'ripe for competition' is a far cry from finding that a market is, in fact competitive...Under this proposal SoCalGas could conceivably unbundle a regulated monopoly bundled service into several unregulated monopoly unbundled services and then charge monopoly prices for them." (Exh. 50, pp. 17-18.) This issue needs further review.

We also note SoCal's argument that the Commission should presume that if SoCal does not currently offer a service, it cannot have market power with respect to it, and it is therefore a competitive service. By the very nature of SoCal's monopoly position in the energy and energy services market, its access to comprehensive customer records, its access to an established billing system, and its "name brand" recognition, it may be that SoCal enjoys significant market power with respect to any new product or service in the energy field.

Third, SoCal has not proposed what regulatory tools would be used to prevent cross-subsidization between the services SoCal would continue to provide on a monopoly basis and those it would provide as competitive services. In its rebuttal testimony to ORA, SoCal argues that the opportunity for a utility to cross-subsidize the launch of competitive services would be virtually eliminated. (Exh. 119, p. 11.) SoCal's argument seems to rest on the premise that because its PBR proposal contains no sharing mechanism, all profits would accrue to shareholders, and management is consequently free to distribute all revenues which it derives from the monopoly enterprise in any manner it sees fit. Elsewhere in this decision we expressly require SoCal's PBR to contain a sharing mechanism. But even if the absence of a sharing mechanism, cross-subsidization cannot be permitted.

SoCal may renew its request along with its competing utilities, properly defined and detailed, in the newly instituted OIR. The level of detail which we would expect of a proposal to offer new products and services is equivalent to that which we set forth when we adopted the three categories of services for telecommunication products and accompanying accounting safeguards. (See D.89-10-031.)

- 63 -

While we are deferring consideration of SoCal's proposal regarding new products and services, we are not changing anything in this decision with regard to SoCal's ability to provide services currently offered or to apply to offer new products or services. SoCal currently offers certain services beyond the provision of natural gas. For example, SoCal currently provides meter repair services for SDG&E at its shop. This service, and others like it, may continue (subject to our jurisdiction). SoCal may also use the appropriate application or advice letter process to seek our approval to offer new products or services. We will consider any such filing in the normal course of review, and we will coordinate any such decision with our conduct of the proceeding on affiliate transactions, R.97-04-011 and I.97-04-012.

If SoCal expands its current service offerings and/or gains approval for new products or services, SoCal may be able to increase net revenues. We see this as a type of productivity improvement that would be consistent with the goals of PBR. Under the PBR we adopt in this order, returns above the target arising from either cost decreases or revenue increases will be shared between ratepayers and shareholders.

E. Base Margin

1. Introduction

SoCal now proposes that the base rates for 1997 be developed by applying the PBR index to a starting level of rates based upon SoCal's 1996 operating budget. After SoCal filed its supplemental showing in May 1996, its proposed base margin was \$1,451,981,000, which represented a \$61.2 million reduction in gas margin as compared to the 1995 authorized level. ORA's Base Margin Report (Exh. 106), with errata filed December 2, 1996, proposed a starting margin of \$1,235,376,000. ORA's proposal excluded Demand-Side Management (DSM), Research, Demonstration & Development (RD&D), and Direct Assistance Program (DAP) expense from base margin, but even allowing for this, the gap between ORA's and SoCal's position was \$170 million as the proceeding entered the evidentiary hearing stage.

As the hearing neared its conclusion, several of the parties filed joint testimony which recommended the resolution of eight base margin and two policy

- 64 -

issues (Exhs. 200-210). This reduced the difference between ORA's and SoCal's position to \$71.7 million. We must now consider the recommended resolution of these issues and resolve those issues as to which there is still no agreement.

As is our practice with general rate case orders, we address these items on an exception basis. We do not address accounts or funding requests which were not at some point excepted to, or those which do not require our attention in order to ensure that they comply with the law or Commission policy. In such instances we implicitly find the utility's proposal to be reasonable.

2. Nonlabor Escalation Rate

In developing their estimates of reasonable base rates for the various cost categories, parties used a base year and escalated or deflated it to correspond to the test year, depending on the base year applied. ORA proposes a nonlabor escalation rate of 2.23% for such purposes. SoCal proposed a rate of 3.72% but did not oppose ORA's recommended rate. SoCal recommends, however, that the Commission use the same value to deflate 1996 dollars as it uses to inflate 1995 dollars in order to make consistent the showings of ORA and SoCal. We adopt ORA's proposed inflation rate as reasonable as well as ORA's recommendation to use the 1995 numbers in the record.

3. Customer Accounts (Accounts 901, 902, 903, 904, Sub-Account 184.103)

For customer accounts generally, ORA, TURN, and SoCal ultimately agreed to a level of expenses for customer accounts. They jointly recommend a level of \$111.77 million for accounts 901, 902, and 903 and sub-account 184.103. They also recommend a reduction of \$0.3 million for account 904 to recognize a reduction in industrial uncollectibles. The parties' joint recommendation recognizes \$7 million in estimated benefits derived from SoCal's implementation of its Customer Information System (CIS). It also provides that costs for the administration of the CARE program would be appropriate until and unless a party other than SoCal administers the program. We adopt these recommendations.

4. Late Payment Charges

SoCal proposes a late payment charge to be assessed on customers who do not pay their bills on time. The parties recommend different approaches with regard to the implementation of a late payment charge and the appropriate late payment charge rate. As we have already stated, however, the institution of a late payment charge bears no direct relationship to the PBR proposal, and therefore should not be a part of this proceeding. We decline to adopt that part of SoCal's proposal here.

5. Gas Storage, Transmission, and Distribution Expenses SoCal, TURN, and ORA agreed to total expenses of \$20.37 million

for gas storage and \$25.017 million for gas transmission. SoCal observes that the amounts are in 1995 dollars and must be adjusted to account for inflation. We adopt the stipulated amounts and adjust them consistent with SoCal's recommendation.

SoCal and ORA do not dispute the estimated expenses for gas distribution. ORA's estimate is somewhat lower than SoCal's as a result of its estimated escalation factor, which SoCal does not dispute, and which we have adopted. We therefore adopt gas distribution expenses of approximately \$176 million, which is a reduction in these accounts of about \$35.3 million from levels recorded for 1994.

6. Marketing Expenses

ORA, TURN, and SoCal resolved any differences that initially existed for expenses associated with DSM, other marketing expenses not related to demand side management ("non-DSM marketing"), and the DAP, which is designed to provide conservation measures to low-income customers. The parties recommend DSM costs of about \$27 million be included in a one-way balancing account rather than as part of base rates. TURN and DGS support this proposal.

The stipulation between ORA and SoCal also recommends that other marketing costs be reduced from the existing level of \$29.14 million to \$24.136 million and that capital costs for the Energy Resource Center would remain in base rates. Consistent with the parties' recommendations, we adopt total base rate marketing expenses of \$24.136 million.

- 66 -

Funding and administration for DAP was not fully resolved in the stipulation. SoCal proposes a reduction in direct assistance funding from \$18 million to \$12 million. SoCal observes that the program is not cost-effective and that it is having difficulty finding new DAP customers because of program saturation.

Natural Resources Reference Council (NRDC) proposes retaining the \$18 million funding level, arguing that the cost-effectiveness of the program has always been marginal and that SoCal has not justified changing funding on this basis. NRDC also observes that only 33% of income eligible households have received DAP help, contrary to SoCal's view that the market has been saturated.

We adopt SoCal's reduced funding levels in recognition that fewer customers are available to take advantage of the program as a result of the program's success. We also grant SoCal's request for increased program flexibility which would permit it to put the weatherization component of the program out to bid, among other things. We do not adopt any flexibility which would change SoCal's discretion to use the funds for other programs.

7. Administrative and General Accounts

a) Consultant Fees (Account 920)

Account 920 includes funds for outside consultants. ORA recommends disallowing \$94,000 for a consultant hired for this proceeding because the consultant's work appears speculative after the test year. SoCal replies that it requires the funding for monitoring and evaluation of its PBR mechanism. We reject SoCal's argument, which appears to presume regulatory activity will increase as a result of PBR regulation. We adopt ORA's adjustment to this account.

b) Executive Compensation (Account 920 and 921)

TURN recommends adjusting labor costs by \$0.606 million to reflect what it believes to be excessive compensation to executives. TURN observes that ORA's compensation study finds executive compensation to be almost 13% above market even though ORA does not recommend any reduction in SoCal's labor cost request. TURN's adjustment would amount to about 0.19% of SoCal's total request for employee compensation.

SoCal argues that its executive compensation rates are comparable to those offered to individuals working in markets from which SoCal recruits. It does not, however, present any evidence to support its argument. We therefore adopt TURN's adjustment to executive compensation.

c) Outside Expenses

(1) Stock Options Expenses (Account 923) SoCal offers high level employees stock options as

part of their compensation plans. ORA recommends that the Commission disallow expenses associated with stock options for executives, which ORA believes raises SoCal's long-term incentive levels to 21% above market levels. ORA observes that SCE's and PG&E's stock options programs are funded entirely by shareholders, and that the incentives are rewards for financial accomplishments which do not benefit ratepayers. SoCal responds that ORA has improperly isolated a

single element of SoCal's total compensation package. SoCal observes that ORA does not dispute that total compensation at SoCal is not above market levels. Isolating stock options expenses would therefore reduce the package of total compensation further.

We concur with SoCal that as long as its total compensation levels are appropriate we will not dictate how SoCal distributes compensation among various types of employment benefits.

(2) Lobbying Expenses

Following some initial disagreement regarding appropriate lobbying expenses, SoCal and ORA resolved their differences, proposing to reduce SoCal's request by \$0.4 million. We adopt their agreement.

(3) Affiliate Transactions

SoCal pays its parent company for some services pursuant to direct billings which reflect specific services. ORA recommends a disallowance of \$1.924 million of such affiliate costs sought by SoCal following an audit

- 68 -

of related expenses. ORA proposes the disallowance on the basis that SoCal had failed to provide any meaningful documentation of \$4.02 million worth of services provided to it by its parent, Pacific Enterprises. It is especially concerned with the lack of documentation for \$3.32 million of law department charges.

SoCal replies that ORA and its auditors are not the "arbiters of how much documentation is 'enough.'" It argues that the law department of Pacific Enterprises could be expected to spend most of its resources on SoCal's needs because SoCal is the largest of the Pacific Enterprise companies. Finally, the SoCal level of funding for legal expenses is an estimate of 1996 expenses, not an accounting of actual expenses for 1995.

SoCal has the burden to demonstrate the reasonableness of its requests. In this instance, SoCal failed to provide sufficient documentation to support its request. However, SoCal submitted *some* documentation, which is adequate and to justify some payment by ratepayers for the services of SoCal's parent company. We therefore adopt ORA's recommendation of disallowing approximately 50% of SoCal's request, and allowing the rest.

(4) Multifactor Allocation Formula (Account 920) SoCal pays its parent company for some services on the basis of indirect allocations to SoCal in cases where direct billings for specific services are not practical. ORA opposes elements of the formula SoCal uses to allocate such costs. Specifically, ORA would weigh operating expenses and payroll more heavily than assets. Applying ORA's methodology to the relevant costs, ORA recommends a disallowance of \$2.939 million less than SoCal requests.

ORA believes SoCal's allocation to new lines of business – less than two tenths of a percent – is unrealistic. It would increase the amount to 20%.

SoCal responds with various arguments, among which are that its formula is used by other utilities and other jurisdictions, and that its other business units are designed to assist in new product development for sister units

- 69 -

and are not independent of SoCal. SoCal also argues that its affiliates are considerably smaller than SoCal in terms of employees and assets.

The record suggests that the purpose of SoCal's affiliates is to promote new product development which is not related directly to utility expenses that would be recoverable here. If that were not the case, there would be scant reason to create such entities, considering the potential inefficiencies of having utility operations in two separate units. We are not concerned with how other jurisdictions view SoCal's allocation methods so much as we are inclined to consider the method on its merits. We find that ORA's method is superior to the one proposed by SoCal, and we adopt that method.

(5) Law Department Rent (Account 923)

SoCal receives its legal services from its parent company, Pacific Enterprises, which bills SoCal for related costs. ORA recommends an adjustment of \$889,669 to reflect billings by Pacific Enterprises for rental of property to house the Legal Department. The billings are in excess of the actual costs of the Gas Company Tower lease. SoCal responds that the adjustment would be unfair because the rate is nearly identical to that paid at the Gas Company Tower. SoCal believes ORA should not be able to penalize the company for a lease cost that was reasonable at the time SoCal entered into it, even if prevailing market rates are considerably lower.

We have made adjustments to the Gas Company Tower lease to reflect unused space, and by implication the effects of the Law Department's remaining at another location. ORA has not demonstrated that the Law Department's lease is unreasonable. We therefore adopt SoCal's request for the costs of the Law Department's lease.

d) Insurance Expenses (Account 924)

ORA believes corporate reorganization will cause eight facilities no longer to be useful. Elimination of these facilities and the costs to insure them, according to ORA, will offset increases in insuring remaining facilities. ORA recommends a \$16,000 reduction over SoCal's estimate.

- 70 -

SoCal responds that it is not anticipating a reduction in these costs in the near future. Although they might decrease at some point as a result of corporate restructuring, SoCal argues that it has not asked for recovery of cost increases which might occur at some unspecified point and should therefore not be required to forgo uncertain decreases.

We reject ORA's adjustment in this account on the basis that ORA has not demonstrated that SoCal will stop using the facilities in question during the test year.

e) Injuries and Damages (Account 925)

Account 925 includes funds for compensating employees for injuries and damages sustained at the workplace. ORA recommends a \$1.9 million reduction in SoCal's estimate for Account 925 to recognize employee reductions and associated reduced costs for this account. SoCal argues ORA inappropriately reached its estimate by applying year end accruals of employee settlements in lawsuits rather than looking to actual cash payments to estimate these revenues.

Consistent with existing policy, we adopt SoCal's recommended level of funding in this account using actual cash payments as the basis for estimating net costs.

f) Franchise Fees (Account 927)

ORA and SoCal resolved most issues concerning franchise fees, arguing that this proceeding should not be a forum for changing the franchise fee methodology, and that estimates adopted in this proceeding would include \$23.31 million in revenues from miscellaneous services. SoCal and ORA did not agree on the appropriate rate for franchise fees. We adopt SoCal's number, because ORA's is based on an assumption that the methodology would be changed. ORA stipulated to retain the methodology in deriving a level of revenues; we therefore apply SoCal's rate for consistency. and are not independent of SoCal. SoCal also argues that its affiliates are considerably smaller than SoCal in terms of employees and assets.

The record suggests that the purpose of SoCal's affiliates is to promote new product development which is not related directly to utility expenses that would be recoverable here. If that were not the case, there would be scant reason to create such entities, considering the potential inefficiencies of having utility operations in two separate units. We are not concerned with how other jurisdictions view SoCal's allocation methods so much as we are inclined to consider the method on its merits. We find that ORA's method is superior to the one proposed by SoCal, and we adopt that method.

(5) Law Department Rent (Account 923)

SoCal receives its legal services from its parent company, Pacific Enterprises, which bills SoCal for related costs. ORA recommends an adjustment of \$859,669 to reflect billings by Pacific Enterprises for rental of property to house the Legal Department. The billings are in excess of the actual costs of the Gas Company Tower lease. SoCal responds that the adjustment would be unfair because the rate is nearly identical to that paid at the Gas Company Tower. SoCal believes ORA should not be able to penalize the company for a lease cost that was reasonable at the time SoCal entered into it, even if prevailing market rates are considerably lower.

We have made adjustments to the Gas Company Tower lease to reflect unused space, and by implication the effects of the Law Department's remaining at another location. ORA has not demonstrated that the Law Department's lease is unreasonable. We therefore adopt SoCal's request for the costs of the Law Department's lease.

d) Insurance Expenses (Account 924)

ORA believes corporate reorganization will cause eight facilities no longer to be useful. Elimination of these facilities and the costs to insure them, according to ORA, will offset increases in insuring remaining facilities. ORA recommends a \$16,000 reduction over SoCal's estimate. .

g) Regulatory Commission Expenses (Account 928)

Account 928 includes funds for the costs of participating in regulatory commission activities. ORA recommends about \$26,000 less in this account than SoCal. ORA uses the 1994 level and adds inflation for 1996. SoCal adds certain expenses and 1995 inflation to the 1994 level.

We adopt ORA's adjustment to recognize the likelihood that regulatory Commission expenses should not be increasing in the foreseeable future.

h) Rents (Account 931)

(1) Gas Company Tower

ORA recommends a disallowance of \$5.384 million to reflect unused space at the Gas Company Tower, SoCal's corporate headquarters. ORA's recommended disallowance is based on ORA's assertion that 131,063 square feet of the site's 550,000 square feet is vacant.

ORA's recommendation is based on the analysis of its auditor, Overland. In its audit, Overland found that about 25% of the rentable space at Gas Company Tower was vacant, assuming that 375 employees would be moved to the Gas Company Tower. Based on SoCal's records, Overland concludes that SoCal has conducted "continuing review" of excess real estate rather than dispose of it or use it for company operations. ORA rejects company promises to move more employees to the Gas Company Tower, because such promises have not been fulfilled in the past. Specifically, ORA refers to SoCal's stated intent to move its Law Department to the Gas Company Tower during SoCal's last general rate case, which the Commission relied upon in granting associated funds for the Gas Company Tower.

SoCal responds that it has developed plan to occupy 97% of the Gas Company Tower in 1997. It presents a timeline which it developed shortly prior to hearing in this proceeding. Its witness asserts that at the time of the hearing the Gas Company Tower was 89% occupied. SoCal argues that it would not make sense for it to have sublet the unused space at the Gas Company Tower in the depressed Los Angeles rental market. SoCal states it attempted to sublease Gas

- 72 -

Company Tower space but, at a market rental value of \$13 to \$15 a square foot, the revenue would have barely covered SoCal's building operations costs.

SoCal claims that the fact that the Law Department did not relocate to Gas Company Tower is irrelevant. SoCal states that the relocation was deferred because of the need to house displaced employees at the Gas Company Tower, and because of the "extraordinary" cost of relocating the Law Department library.

ORA responds that the Commission should give no weight to the move plan, because the moves have been previously found to be uneconomic or are for personnel from CIS who are to be terminated. ORA argues that SoCal's analysis of future use of the Gas Company Tower assumes the company requires 120 workstations for equipment that is appropriately located on employee desks and 273 spaces for contractors, though only 140 contractors were expected to work for the company after December 1996. ORA also observes that Overland's report is generous because it does not account for 153 employees who have left the company since the audit was completed.

SoCal leased the space under a 20-year contract beginning in 1991. We originally reviewed the costs of the Gas Company Tower lease in D.92-11-017. In that order, we disallowed a portion of the excess space at Gas Company Tower on the basis that SoCal had not demonstrated the reasonableness of the costs. Subsequently, we reinstated much of the disallowance in D.93-12-043.

We begin by rejecting SoCal's argument that ORA is improperly relitigating this matter. As SoCal itself observes, D.93-12-043 permitted a reconsideration of the findings of that order with a showing of changed circumstances. ORA is seeking to demonstrate changed circumstances which would justify additional disallowances.

Indeed, circumstances have changed since 1994. Occupancy in the Gas Company Tower, assuming SoCal's analysis is correct, was 85% in 1995 and less than 80% in 1996. SoCal's assertion that the Gas Company Tower was 89% occupied at the time of hearing was refuted by ORA's auditors after a physical

- 73 -

inspection of the building in November 1996. SoCal has not argued with Overland's findings of that physical inspection. Additionally, SoCal has presented no evidence to demonstrate that market prices would not permit it to recover operational costs.

SoCal has presented nothing but a promise that the occupancy rate at Gas Company Tower will increase to 97% in 1997. We have relied on promises with regard to Gas Company Tower occupancy in the past. The result is that ratepayers have paid at least \$4 million annually in 1995 and 1996 for space at Gas Company Tower which is vacant and therefore not "used and useful."

SoCal must assume some portion of the risk for the long term lease it signed for its corporate headquarters, just as all businesses must assume such risks. Rather than make the best use of the Gas Company Tower under changing circumstances, SoCal appears to have deferred company consolidation and rejected opportunities to mitigate its losses by subletting portions of the Gas Company Tower.

ORA and its auditors have presented a reasonable analysis of the Gas Company Tower occupancy which, as SoCal observes, gives "partial credit" for the utility's plan to occupy the Gas Company Tower. We therefore adopt ORA's position to disallow recovery for 131,063 square feet of vacant space at Gas Company Tower at a cost of \$41.08 per square foot, for a total disallowance of \$5.384 million.

(2) Other Lease Savings

ORA proposes to exclude \$1.02 million in costs related to leases for six facilities. ORA states SoCal will not be using these facilities beginning in 1997. SoCal replies that ORA has improperly violated test year ratemaking policy by applying 1997 savings to 1996 costs.

We concur with SoCal's position. The test year is 1996. We therefore will not adjust rates for 1997 cost savings.

(3) Other Net Savings

ORA recommends adjusting base rates by \$0.74 million to account for ongoing savings associated with SoCal's restructuring efforts. SoCal replies that the amounts, which were referenced in an internal memo, are mainly for the six facilities which it will no longer use beginning in 1997.

Consistent with our determination above for the six facilities, we decline to make this ORA adjustment.

Maintenance of General Plant (Account 935) SoCal seeks \$6.723 million for plant maintenance in

Account 935, the same amount it recorded in 1995. ORA recommends a reduction for Account 935 that is \$1.296 million less than SoCal's request. ORA's adjustments result from its removal of nonrecurring costs. ORA argues that the Commission's policy does not permit such costs in rates. SoCal responds that it has already removed the nonrecurring costs to which ORA objects, that is, the costs associated with real estate moves. We are persuaded that SoCal has removed nonrecurring costs from its estimate of expenses, and we therefore reject ORA's adjustment.

Employee Pension and Benefits (Account 926) ORA originally proposed disallowances in pension and

benefits funding of \$44.39 million for certain costs related to pension and pension benefits, certain medical benefits and miscellaneous benefits. SoCal and ORA settled their disagreements in these areas. As a result, the total amounts for these expenses would be reduced from SoCal's original estimate of \$110.267 million to \$82.124 million. The parties also agree that if the pension trust contributions must exceed \$12 million annually, SoCal may enter the additional funding requirement to a memorandum account and obtain recovery of the amounts in its subsequent PBR filing. We adopt the provisions of SoCal and ORA's agreement in this account.

 k) PBOPs Overcollections During 1992-1995 (Account 926) Account 926 includes funds for post-retirement benefits other than pensions (PBOPs). D.93-12-043 required SoCal to return to ratepayers PBOPs

- 75 -

revenues collected in excess of amounts required for the account. ORA recommends a refund of \$3.5 million to recognize this requirement. SoCal opposes the adjustment on the basis that ORA in its view has improperly adopted an account-specific method for calculating the amounts. The approach results in the use of a 21% escalation factor, rather than an 11% escalation factor which is a composite rate.

ORA's method appears consistent with the one we adopted in D.93-12-043, and its results are consistent with those presented by SoCal's actuary. It is appropriate to calculate the overcollection using account-specific information because the Commission ordered an account-specific refund. We adopt ORA's adjustment. ORA states in its comments that the decision should specify a mechanism for accomplishing the refund associated with PBOPs. ORA suggests crediting the CFCA and NSBA. We require SoCal to adjust the appropriate entries to the CFCA and NSBA.

I) Capitalization of Administrative and General Expenses ORA recommends removing \$7.245 million from

Account 922 for costs which it believes should have been capitalized rather than expensed. ORA's auditors believe SoCal's proposal to capitalize only 2.5% is contrary to industry norms which are to capitalize more than 8% of administrative and general expenses. ORA proposes that expensing such a large portion of overheads creates intertemporal inequities between today's ratepayers and tomorrow's. SoCal responds that the Commission has historically expensed most utility overhead costs on the basis that future ratepayers should not be saddled with past costs.

We decline ORA's proposal to modify our ratemaking practice in this area at this time. We adopt SoCal's proposal to expense administrative and general costs rather than include them in rate base.

8. Clearing Accounts

a) Call Center Communication Expenses (Sub-Account 184.003)

The Call Center handles incoming calls from customers needing assistance. ORA recommends a reduction of \$1.8 million for call center

- 76 -

expenses on the basis that the average call length is four minutes rather than eight minutes, as SoCal estimates. ORA, TURN, and SoCal subsequently reached an agreement to reduce the funding level for call center expense from \$4.06 million to \$3.46 million. We adopt the stipulated figure.

b) Communications (Account 184.7)

ORA recommends a reduction of \$124,000 for nonrecurring costs associated with past improvements to SoCal's microwave network. Removing this cost from communications expenses, ORA stipulated to an increase for this account of 23%. This is a substantial increase and provides a cushion for future unanticipated expenses. We adopt the ORA adjustment.

c) Calculation Errors

ORA identified several calculation errors in Account 163.0 and Account 184.3 amounting to \$15,000. SoCal does not dispute ORA's associated adjustments. We will therefore adopt them.

9. Rate Base

a) Beginning Plant

Beginning plant refers to plant which is to be included in rate base at the start of the test year. Disputed amount are usually related to plant for which construction was completed prior to the beginning of the test period. SoCal seeks \$5.574 billion in rate based plant. ORA recommends \$5.528 billion, a difference of about \$46 million. SCUPP/IID and California Manufacturer's Association/California Industrial Group (CMA/CIG) generally concur with ORA's recommendations in this area. The difference between ORA's and SoCal's estimates is attributable to the parties' respective recommendations regarding allocation of costs of new gas lines, office space and noncore customer information systems, addressed below.

(1) Lines 6902, 325, and 6900

In recent years, SoCal has constructed or upgraded certain gas lines. Based on its independent audit, ORA recommends that \$29.028 million

be excluded from rate base for new construction associated with Lines 6902, 325, and 6900. ORA argues these projects were built to serve incremental noncore load. ORA observes that the Global Settlement permitted SoCal to retain the profits from noncore load and to assume the risk for fluctuations in throughput. ORA believes that consistency and fairness demand that SoCal assume the costs and risks associated with new plant which will serve noncore load. ORA does not recommend that the plant be excluded from rate base permanently, but only as long as the ratemaking treatment in the Global Settlement is in effect.

ORA states that SoCal planning documents refer to Line 325 as necessary to serve a new hydrogen plant which is a noncore customer and recommends that 50% of the costs of the plant be included in rate base to reflect the benefits of the upgrade to core customers. ORA contends that Line 6900 should not be included in rate base in this case in any event because it was not scheduled for completion until after the test period in late 1996.

SoCal responds that the Global Settlement specified only that noncore load building (or marketing), but not capital costs, were to be assumed by SoCal. It points out that Line 6900 is part of an integrated network designed to serve growth in the core market. It also argues that ORA's audit overlooks the benefits of Line 6902, which was designed to serve core and noncore growth in the Imperial Valley. With regard to Line 325, SoCal observes that the area in which the line was constructed had been previously subject to problems because of low pressure, and the new line eliminated these problems.

D.94-04-088 states simply and clearly that all capital costs and expenses related to increasing noncore load, and therefore earnings under the settlement, must be accounted for below the line. Construction of gas lines to serve noncore load permits SoCal to recover additional noncore revenues. Therefore, associated construction costs should not be included in rate base.

SoCal has not convinced us that Lines 6900, 6902, and 325 were constructed to serve core needs. In each instance, the line appears to have been constructed for the primary purpose of serving the needs of noncore customers, and

- 78 -

any benefits they may provide to the core are incidental. ORA has reflected those benefits in its recommended disallowances. In any event, SoCal may not include Line 6900 in 1995 rate base, because the project was not scheduled for completion until 1996. We therefore adopt ORA's recommendation to exclude costs for construction of Lines 6900, 6902, and 325 from rate base. We make associated adjustments in the Construction Work in Progress account for Line 6900.

(2) GasSelect Restructure Project

ORA recommends excluding from rate base \$2.8 million spent on upgrades to SoCal's GasSelect Project. The project is an electronic bulletin board and information system designed to help customers with competitive services make decisions regarding their gas purchase and transportation options. SoCal responds that the GasSelect upgrade will benefit all customers and that it is not, as ORA seems to assume, a noncore load-building project.

SoCal's description of the GasSelect upgrades clarifies that the project is designed to permit "customers to nominate transportation and storage...view daily balance statements...and create customized reports to meet their business requirements." Core customers do not use or require such services or information. The project is therefore designed to serve noncore customers. D.93-12-043 disallowed associated project expenses on the bases that the GasSelect program offers "services that are available or potentially available from competitors...customers who receive these services should therefore pay for them so that SoCal does not have a competitive advantage." SoCal has not distinguished the GasSelect upgrades from the GasSelect project funding which we declined to include in rate base. Consistent with our previous order, we exclude these costs from rate base.

(3) Gas Energy Management Systems (GEMS)

The GEMS project provides automated meter reading and related facilities to noncore customers. ORA proposes excluding \$2.7 million from rate base for costs associated with the GEMS project on the basis that competitive services to noncore customers should not be included in rate base. SoCal opposes the

- 79 -

adjustment to rate base on the basis that the GEMS project improves day-to-day operations which benefit core customers.

The GEMS project is designed to serve noncore customers who have competitive options. To the extent improved monitoring and metering may benefit core customers, it appears that the activity would not be required but for the activities of noncore customers. SoCal has not demonstrated that core customers benefit from the facilities, except to the extent noncore customer activity might otherwise impose planning problems. In SoCal's last GRC order we rejected SoCal's request to include these costs in rate base and thereby impose them on core customers. The Global Settlement provided that facilities which may improve service to noncore customers or increase throughput are the responsibility of SoCal, not its general body of ratepayers. We adopt ORA's recommended adjustment to rate base.

(4) Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters

ORA recommends that the costs of the Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters facilities, about \$23.4 million, be removed from rate base. ORA argues that the facilities are to be sold or leased and are therefore not used and useful. ORA would defer the issue of gain on sale until and unless the property is sold. SoCal replies that ratepayers are not entitled to the

gross cost savings associated with the retirements, but only the net savings. Otherwise, SoCal would not be able to recover prudent costs associated with the restructuring of its operations. SoCal also states Commission policy is to adjust rate base for gains and losses only after they are accrued.

During the test period, SoCal had not sold the Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters. Therefore, consistent with our policy to include those investments made at the time of review in rate base, we will not adjust rate base to reflect a future sale.

(5) Pacer Project

ORA has recommended an increase of \$2.762 million for capitalization of the Pacer project based on the Overland audit. SoCal is asking for

- 80 -

an increase of \$3.708 million. The difference between ORA and SoCal's amounts is in the inclusion of 1995 costs.

ORA's request takes into account the implementation schedule of the project, thus allowing 100% of 1994 and 50% of 1995 costs. SoCal indicates that errors were made regarding certain 1994 and 1995 costs for the Pacer project, which were against SoCal's capitalization policy. SoCal notes that certain costs should have been capitalized rather than expensed. Accordingly, SoCal requests 100% of 1994 and 100% instead of 50% of 1995 amounts.

We agree with ORA's position regarding the project implementation schedule and ORA's treatment of certain costs after the project was placed in operation. We therefore allow 100% of 1994 and 50% of 1995 amounts.

(6) Overhead Capitalization

ORA recommends an increase of \$8.9 million to rate base, based upon the Overland audit. SoCal has indicated that it acquiesces in ORA's position and the recommended adjustment for distribution of clearing accounts costs between capital and expense. Although SoCal concurs with Overland's recommendation, it believes its existing procedures are adequate and reasonable.

We do not find ORA's recommendation of capitalization of the overhead costs appropriate. Moreover, we do not find SoCal's concurrence with ORA persuasive for adopting this recommendation. We therefore reject ORA's and SoCal's recommendation regarding this issue.

b) Ventura/Òjai Project

In 1993, SoCal customer appliances were damaged by nitrous oxides in gas received from certain of SoCal's producers. SoCal sued the producers, and the suit settled in 1996. ORA proposes to offset rate base and depreciation with the settlement proceeds of \$3 million, on the basis that they were effectively contributions in aid of construction. ORA also recommends that the associated legal expenses of \$0.8 million be disallowed on the basis that they are nonrecurring costs. ORA argues that SoCal has been compensated for related costs,

- 81 -

because its rate of return has exceeded authorized amounts during the period in question.

SoCal responds that the costs associated with the project were never in rates, and any proceeds associated with it should accordingly accrue to shareholders.

ORA's ratemaking theory is contrary to our usual policy. If SoCal has assumed the risk of the project, it is entitled to associated gains. The fact that SoCal's previous rate of return exceeded our expectations is not germane to our disposition of cost recovery going forward. We decline to adopt ORA's proposed rate base adjustment. We will, however, reduce SoCal's legal expenses by \$0.8 million for the sake of consistency. Since SoCal's revenues are below the line, its rates should not be increased to permit it to recover associated expenses.

c) CIS Costs

ORA recommends three adjustments to CIS costs, all of which would reduce recovery of expenses and increase capital funding. SoCal concedes ORA's recommendation to increase rate base to reflect \$719,000 in "conversion" costs associated with computer software. SoCal opposes ORA's recommendation to capitalize \$1.45 million in computer training and hardware maintenance costs. We adopt ORA's proposal for these costs.

Except for these disputed items, ORA and SoCal reached agreement on the appropriate level of rate base for CIS of \$62.385 million, with a twenty-year depreciable life. SCUPP/IID oppose the inclusion of 100% of CIS costs in rates since only 40% of CIS investment is included in the 1996 rate base. SCUPP/IID observe that the inclusion of all costs in 1996 rates under these circumstances is contrary to Commission policy.

We adopt SCUPP/IID's proposal to include only 40% of CIS costs in rate base for the test period, consistent with our policy to include only those investments which have been made at the time of review. If we were to find otherwise,

- 82 -

we would have to reconsider our decision in other parts of this order which apply this policy in SoCal's favor.

d) Working Cash

Working cash is funding for the cost of money required for day-to-day operations, upon which the utility earns a rate of return. SoCal seeks \$35.996 million in working cash. ORA recommends a reduction in revenue requirement for working cash of \$33.021 million. Their specific disagreements are discussed below.

(1) Deferred Credits

Like many businesses, SoCal sets aside funds in anticipation of litigation and regulatory losses. SoCal has set aside \$58 million for this purpose. ORA would exclude this sum from working cash, and thereby reduce rate base by the corresponding amount, because SoCal has not demonstrated that the amount is not cost-free capital.

SoCal refused to provide information to ORA and its auditors about the source or purpose of the funds on the basis that the information is privileged. SoCal also argues that the amounts are not relevant to this proceeding because they are not requested as part of base rates. ORA responds that the company's access to the capital affects the working cash calculation.

SoCal has provided evidence which adequately refutes ORA's claim that its reserves are cost-free. Therefore, we do not adopt ORA's adjustment to the working cash reserve.

(2) Vacation Accrual

Like employees of other companies, SoCal's employees accrue vacation time rather than using it as they receive it. ORA recommends reducing working cash by \$18 million to reflect vacation accrual on the company's books. ORA states the vacation accrual represents cost-free capital. SoCal responds that it has not been reimbursed in rates for vacation accruals and that therefore the amounts are consequently not cost-free.

SoCal receives in rates all of the costs of doing business, including the costs of offering vacation time to its employees. To the extent that employees accrue vacation time rather than use it as it becomes available, SoCal has access to cost-free capital. This finding is consistent with our treatment of the same issue for PG&E. We adopt ORA's recommended adjustment for this item.

(3) Workers' Compensation Accrual

SoCal accrues workers' compensation funds which it pays out as needed for workers' compensation claims. ORA recommends an adjustment to working cash of \$21 million to reflect workers' compensation accruals. It does so for the same reasons it adjusted working cash for vacation accruals. SoCal responds by stating that workers' compensation is not cost-free capital, and the amounts have not been funded by ratepayers. ORA observes that SoCal has in fact requested over \$1 million in this proceeding for workers' compensation accruals.

For the same reasons we adopted ORA's adjustments for vacation accruals, we adopt ORA's adjustments for workers' compensation accruals.

(4) Customer Advances for Construction ORA proposes disallowing \$11.6 million from

working cash for unbilled customer advances. SoCal makes these advances to developers who are constructing new projects requiring gas service. ORA makes its recommendation on the basis that SoCal has in recent years delayed its presentation of bills for customer advances for construction. ORA states the average time for such billings is required to be no later than six months, but that SoCal's average billing period is now twenty months. The average collection time period is 33 months. These delays represent mismanagement which increase working cash requirements, according to ORA. DGS and TURN concur with ORA's proposal.

SoCal replies that the \$11.6 million does not represent cost-free capital and must therefore be included in working cash. SoCal states the delays in billing and collections are in many cases outside of its control.

- 84 -

The periods between project completion and SoCal's billings and final collection of amounts owed are excessive. SoCal's ratepayers should not be required to subsidize either the mismanagement of SoCal's billing and collection system or the delays in remitting of amounts owed by developers. In this proceeding, SoCal urges the Commission to adopt a late payment charge for its gas customers. A similar charge for late paying developers would reduce SoCal's liability for these payments and promote timely payment. The encouragement of such efficiency is at the heart of our PBR philosophy, and consistency compels us to adopt ORA's recommended adjustment to working cash.

ORA recommends an additional \$0.899 million reduction associated with customer advances for construction. SoCal does not oppose the adjustment. We will adopt ORA's recommendation.

(5) Customer Deposits

Some of SoCal's customers provide security deposits to SoCal as a condition of service. TURN and DGS recommend using customer deposits to reduce working cash. They observe that SoCal has \$29 million in such funds as of the end of 1995, which constitute a permanent source of capital. SoCal pays the commercial paper rate on these funds, about 800 basis points below its authorized rate of return. The difference accrues to SoCal.

SoCal responds that the matter has already been litigated in cost of capital proceedings and in Commission workshops. It proposes that the Commission reject the proposal on this basis.

DGS and TURN have presented a strong argument that we should consider customer deposits as part of working cash. However, because this issue has been previously deferred by the Commission to a workshop, we will not consider the matter on the merits here. A staff workshop on these issues was held in May 1996 and a workshop report is pending. We will not prejudge the outcome of the workshop by ordering an adjustment to working cash at this time. We make this determination subject to refund; if the Commission ultimately finds that customer

- 85 -

deposits should be considered part of working cash, we will order DGS and TURN's adjustment for the PBR period.

(6) Materials and Supplies

ORA proposes a reduction of materials and supplies costs in rate base of \$202,000, reducing SoCal's request to \$14.303 million. SoCal does not oppose this adjustment. We adopt ORA's recommendation.

e) 1996 Plant Additions and Retirements

SoCal and ORA's estimates of 1996 net plant additions differ by \$94.1 million. ORA utilized separate five-year trend analysis of gross plant additions and retirements to develop its net plant additions estimate for 1996. SoCal's methodology averaged 3 years of net plant additions after retirements had been removed from rate base. We find ORA's methodology of incorporating the most recent recorded data in its estimating methodology appropriate. Therefore, we will adopt ORA's estimate for 1996 net plant additions.

10. Depreciation Expenses

Depreciation expenses are calculated according to amounts permitted in rate base and are designed to permit the utility to recover its capital investments over the period during which associated facilities are used and useful. SoCal seeks \$254.79 million in annual depreciation expense. ORA estimates depreciation expense to be \$17.097 million lower than SoCal, mostly on the basis of recommendations regarding plant which should appropriately be included in rate base, that we have addressed previously.

a) Plant Balances for 1995 Plant

ORA proposes to reduce 1995 plant balances amount by \$1.755 million assuming that the system average depreciation rate equals 4.4%. SoCal estimates the average depreciation rate to be 4.41%. The difference between the SoCal and ORA results from disparities regarding items which should be appropriately included in rate base. We addressed these items in portions of this order addressing rate

- 86 -

base and the depreciation expense should be modified to correspond to the rate base adjustments.

b) Estimated 1996 Net Plant Additions

SoCal and ORA's estimates of depreciation for 1996 net plant additions differ by \$7.433 million. The controversy occurs mainly because of a difference of approach in how to apply the weighting factor used to calculate depreciation expense on plant additions. SoCal recommends a 100% weighting factor; ORA recommends a 40.29% weighting factor. ORA states that SoCal's use of 100% ignores the fact that 1996 plant additions are unlikely to reflect actual plant additions in the subsequent five years because it is not a weighted average plant additions occurring each year. More importantly, ORA claims that SoCal's method fails to recognize the fact that future year net plant additions will only have a weighted affect on that particular year's depreciation expense. Thus, additions made in 1997 will only have a partial year effect on depreciation expense for that year. SoCal's method assumes that all plant additions will occur on January 1 of each year.

SoCal responds that the timing of the adjustments in this PBR dictates a 100% weighting factor. Because the base rate adjustments will be made mid-year, a lower weighting factor will not recognize all of the depreciation expense. SoCal appears to propose that the net plant additions for every subsequent year be treated as if they occurred on the first day of each year, thereby giving the company credit for a full year's expense when in fact plant additions are made throughout the year. ORA's methodology might fail to reflect a small portion of the 1996 plant additions. ORA appears to have adjusted for that effect by recognizing that SoCal's plant additions may be higher in 1996 than they are likely to be in subsequent years. SoCal has not provided any reasonable alternative to ORA's proposal. We therefore adopt ORA's proposal, which is consistent with our usual practice for estimating net plant and fairly reflects anticipated practice.

- 87 -

c) CIŚ

SoCal observes that ORA failed to adjust depreciation in recognition of ORA's and SoCal's agreement to capitalize certain training costs. We adjust depreciation by \$36,000 accordingly. SoCal and ORA agree that the rest of the annual depreciation expense associated with CIS is \$3.119 million. We adjust this amount consistent with our earlier finding that 40% of CIS investment costs should be included in rate base, rather than the full amount to which SoCal and ORA have stipulated.

d) Torrance and Mountain View Facilities

٩.

ORA observes that if the Commission adopts ORA's proposal to retire the Torrance and Mountain View facilities, it should also adjust depreciation expenses by \$0.46 million. SoCal argues that the amount must remain in rates until the facilities are sold.

We have not adopted ORA's recommendations regarding retirement of these facilities, so we will not adjust the associated depreciation accounts.

e) Capitalized Overheads

ORA's estimate for capitalized overheads is \$66,000 lower than SoCal's due to its use of a 4.4% depreciation expense rate, compared to SoCal's rate of 4.41%. We adjust this item to make it consistent with the expense rate which derives from allowable plant balances for 1995.

f) Depreciation Reserve Account

ORA proposed a negative \$50.939 million figure for the depreciation reserve account, equal to retirements less net salvage. SoCal opposes ORA's reductions to this account, which derive mainly from differences in 1995 plant balances discussed elsewhere. We incorporate the findings on these issues in setting the appropriate level for the reserve account.

11. Taxes

SoCal and ORA reached agreement regarding the appropriate tax rates. We adopt their recommendation to apply a California Corporate Franchise Tax rate of 8.84%.

SoCal and ORA do not agree to the estimate for ad valorem taxes associated with construction. ORA recommends reducing the SoCal request for tax expenses by \$1.2 million and including the associated amounts in rate base. SoCal replies that the Commission has traditionally allowed utilities to recover ad valorem taxes as expenses rather than rate base.

We are not convinced that capitalizing ad valorem taxes offers any advantage to ratepayers or shareholders. We reject ORA's proposal to capitalize ad valorem taxes.

12. Research, Development and Demonstration (RD&D)

SoCal and ORA reached agreement with regard to RD&D funds. They recommend base margin funding of \$7.8 million which would not be subject to prevailing Commission policy prohibiting SoCal from shifting RD&D funds between programs. They also propose \$0.5 million for "public goods" RD&D which would be subject to "one-way" balancing account treatment. Royalties attributable to RD&D projects underway or completed prior to the implementation of PBR would accrue 100% to ratepayers. Royalties from subsequent work would be shared equally between ratepayers and shareholders.

NRDC opposes the proposal to eliminate the one-way balancing account for RD&D, believing that shareholders will retain part of the RD&D funding to accomplish short-term profit objectives at the expense of long-term benefits.

We adopt the recommendations of SoCal and ORA for RD&D programs and funding, with the exception that we will retain the one-way balancing account as NRDC proposes. SoCal did not make a compelling case that it would actually spend the RD&D funds on RD&D efforts.

Findings of Fact

1. On June 1, 1995, SoCal filed an application requesting adoption of PBR for the portion of its rates that recovers the costs of providing gas utility service that the Commission normally reviews through the GRC process.

2. SoCal filed its recorded data for 1995 results of operations on February 14, 1996, and a supplemental showing with respect to 1996 estimated results on June 6, 1996. The parties agreed that this would be used to develop the base margin in this proceeding.

3. On October 14, 1996, Pacific Enterprises, the parent of SoCal, and Enova Corporation, the parent of SDG&E, announced their intention to merge, and filed an application for authority to do so with the Commission (A.96-10-038).

4. SoCal's proposal for PBR is based upon a system of indexing its base rates annually, using an index of recorded input price inflation less than a productivity factor. The inflation factor would be trued up annually, but the productivity factor would remain constant throughout the minimum period that PBR remains in effect.

5. SoCal proposes a minimum period of five years for its PBR to be in effect.

6. SoCal's indexing proposal would put its shareholders, rather than its ratepayers, at risk or reward for any differences between forecast and actual throughput and customer count.

7. For its inflation measure, SoCal proposes a weighted average of recorded indices of prices for labor O&M costs, nonlabor O&M costs, and capital-related costs. SoCal refers to this as the gas utility input price index, or GUPI.

8. For its productivity factor, SoCal proposes to employ a constant factor of 1.0%, based upon a historical gas distribution productivity component of 0.5%, and a "stretch factor" or "consumer dividend" of 0.5%.

9. Under SoCal's proposal, only the base rate would be adjusted under PBR. The base rate is the part of rates reflecting gas margin, and excluding gas costs, pipeline demand charges, and other specifically identified items.

10. Under SoCal's proposal 1997 rates would be set by applying one year's PBR index to the reasonable level of expense and rate base for 1996.

11. Under SoCal's proposal, costs which are already subject to incentive-type mechanisms, are beyond SoCal's control, or are specifically authorized at a given level under separate governmental proceedings would be excluded from PBR indexes.

12. Under SoCal's proposal the cost of exogenous and unforeseen events largely beyond SoCal's control that have a material impact upon its costs (Z factors) would be subject to a special process of adjustment that would tend to exclude them from rates.

13. SoCal proposes an adjustment in rates in addition to the PBR index for land sold at a gain or loss.

14. Under SoCal's proposal the benchmark for cost of capital would be the DRI average rate for the calendar year 1997 forecast, as adopted in SoCal's 1997 cost of capital proceeding. No changes would be made in PBR indexed rates in response to changes in cost of capital, unless the 12-month trailing average yield on long-term Treasury Bonds increases or decreases more than 150 basis points from this benchmark during the minimum PBR term.

15. SoCal, ORA, and TURN have proposed a recommended plan to ensure the maintenance of standards of service quality, customer satisfaction and safety during the PBR period.

16. As part of its proposal, SoCal seeks authorization to offer on a competitive and unregulated basis products and services that it has not previously offered, and to provide support to its unregulated affiliates in connection with their offering of new products and services. SoCal proposes that these new products and services be provided entirely at the risk of shareholders, and not be funded by the rates charged for utility services.

17. As part of its proposal, SoCal proposes several changes in its rate design, including residential rate design changes, rate flexibility, and optional rate schedules for core customers.

18. The Commission's policy favors PBR for the utilities we regulate, wherever it would further our regulatory goals and policies.

19. The features of SoCal's proposed PBR that would base rates on 1996 adjusted throughput, extend cost allocations beyond July 30, 1999, alter the definition of a

- 91 -

"normal" temperature year, and eliminate the CFCA would violate the terms of the Global Settlement.

20. The Commission has a strong policy favoring settlements as a means of resolving issue in its proceedings, and will generally not change the terms of a settlement after it becomes a Commission order.

21. Certain features of SoCal's proposal are unrelated to the PBR system of incentives.

22. The pendency of the merger of Pacific Enterprises and Enova Corporation increases the likelihood that capital spending will be curtailed and expenses otherwise forgone before the merger is consummated or disapproved.

23. It is probable that SoCal will experience systemwide sales growth in the next five years.

24. Consideration of the pending Enova-Pacific Enterprises merger requires us to be able to track savings. Savings with respect to SoCal cannot be tracked if rates, rather than the revenue requirement, are indexed.

25. SoCal's rate base has been declining since 1995 as the result of depreciation.

26. SoCal's proposed indexing mechanism fails to recognize its unique circumstances, particularly its declining ratebase and the likelihood of increased throughput.

27. SoCal's proposed PBR does not include a mechanism for sharing net savings with ratepayers.

28. In R.97-04-011/I.97-04-012, the Commission preserved the opportunity to adopt an interim order with respect to SoCal's proposal for flexibility in introducing new products and services.

29. It would be unfair to allow one energy utility to operate on an unregulated and competitive basis while requiring the remaining energy utilities to participate in R.97-04-011 and I.97-04-012 before allowing them to offer the same services into the same market on a detariffed, competitive basis.

30. If the Commission considers SoCal's requests with respect to the introduction of new products and services, there are a number of questions that would need to be

- 92 -

answered for the Commission to fulfill its regulatory responsibilities under the proposal and to ratepayers generally.

31. SoCal and ORA reached agreement on several disputed issues during the course of the hearing. At the time of submittal, ORA and SoCal had disagreement over approximately \$71.7 million in costs.

32. SoCal proposes that the same rate be used to escalate and deflate the estimates presented in this proceeding to make them comparable.

33. ORA, TURN and SoCal agreed to a level of expenses for customer accounts of \$111.77 million. They also agreed that costs for administration of the CARE program should be included in SoCal's rates until and unless another party is responsible for the administration of the program.

34. SoCal's proposed late payment charge is not necessary for the establishment of base margin.

35. SoCal, TURN, and ORA agreed to total expenses of \$20.37 million for gas storage and \$25.017 million for gas transmission.

36. SoCal's request for gas distribution costs is somewhat lower than ORA's due to a difference in their respective escalation rates.

37. ORA, TURN, DGS, and SoCal agree to funding for DSM in the amount of \$27 million, to be included in a one-way balancing account.

38. ORA, TURN, and SoCal agree to fund non-DSM marketing at a level of \$24.136 million.

39. SoCal proposes a level of \$12 million for funding direct assistance programs. NRDC proposes retaining the existing funding level of \$18 million. SoCal's requested funding level recognizes that the direct assistance program market is becoming saturated.

40. SoCal did not demonstrate that its PBR will increase regulatory activity.

41. SoCal did not demonstrate with evidence that its executive compensation rates are comparable to those offered to individuals working in markets from which SoCal recruits.

42. SoCal's total compensation levels are reasonably close to market levels.

43. SoCal did not present adequate documentation to support the reasonableness of billings from Pacific Enterprises for the work of 50 attorneys.

44. SoCal's affiliates promote new lines of business that are not directly related to utility activities or that are not activities for which SoCal may seek funding from ratepayers.

45. SoCal and ORA reached agreement on issues regarding franchise fees with the exception of the appropriate rate.

46. SoCal did not occupy or lease to others 15% of the Gas Company Tower in 1995. It did not occupy or lease to others 20% of the Gas Company Tower in 1996. SoCal did not demonstrate that the Gas Company Tower will be 97% occupied in 1997.

47. ORA proposes a disallowance of Gas Company Tower lease costs which recognizes, in part, SoCal's plan to increase occupancy.

48. The Commission's policy in general rate cases is to base revenue requirement changes on a test year forecast.

49. SoCal appears to have removed non-recurring costs in its forecast of general plant maintenance costs.

50. ORA and SoCal agreed to an expense level of \$82.124 million for various pension and benefits costs. The parties also agreed that, if annual pension trust contributions must exceed \$12 million annually, SoCal may enter the additional funding requirement into a memorandum account and seek recovery of amounts in a subsequent PBR filing.

51. ORA's estimate of PBOP overcollections during 1992 through 1995 appears consistent with the one the Commission adopted in D.93-12-043 and the method's results are consistent with those presented by SoCal's actuary.

52. SoCal shall adjust the CFCA and NSBA with appropriate entries to reflect the \$3.5 million refund for PBOP for 1992-1995.

53. SoCal's request for funding of non-recurring costs associated with its microwave network is excessive. Removing \$0.124 million from the account results in an increase of 21% to Account 184.7.

- 94 -

54. ORA made several adjustments in Account 163.0 and Account 184.7 to reflect calculation errors, which SoCal does not dispute.

55. The Global Settlement states that all capital costs and expenses related to increasing noncore load and related earnings are the responsibility of SoCal.

56. SoCal did not demonstrate that Line 6900, Line 6902 or Line 325 construction would serve core needs except incidentally.

57. D.93-23-043 determined that the GasSelect project served noncore customers and should therefore not be included in rate base. SoCal has not distinguished the GasSelect upgrade in ways which would change this determination.

58. SoCal has not demonstrated that the GEMS project will benefit core customers except incidentally.

59. SoCal has not used half of the space available at the Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters and intends to sell or lease the facilities in the near future.

60. SoCal appears to have assumed the risk associated with litigation arising from nitrous oxides in gas received from certain of its producers. SoCal would include the costs of litigation in rates but not the settlement proceeds.

61. Only 40% of the CIS investment is included in 1996 rate base. For rate base calculations, Commission policy provides that rates include only those investments that are included in rate base during the review period.

62. SoCal provided adequate evidence to refute ORA's claims that SoCal's deferred credits for regulatory and litigation losses are cost-free for purposes of calculating working cash requirements.

63. Vacation accruals represent cost-free capital for purposes of calculating working cash requirements.

64. Workers' compensation accruals represent cost-free capital for purposes of calculating working cash requirements.

65. The average time SoCal takes for billing and collecting customer advances for construction is 33 months, an amount that is attributable either to mismanagement or tolerance of subsidies to developers who are late in remitting payments.

- 95 -

66. SoCal does not oppose ORA's proposed reduction of \$0.899 million in estimates of customer advances for construction.

67. SoCal has access to about \$29 million in capital attributable to customer deposits.

68. SoCal does not oppose ORA's proposed reduction of materials and supplies costs in rate base in the amount of \$0.202 million.

69. SoCal and ORA's estimates of some depreciation expenses and plant balances for 1995 differ as a result of their differing estimates of rate base.

70. SoCal's methodology for calculating 1996 plant additions assumes that all plant additions occur on the first day of the year, giving the company credit for rate base investments that are not made until subsequent periods.

71. ORA's method for estimating 1996 plant additions is consistent with the Commission's usual practice and fairly reflects anticipated investments.

72. The Commission has traditionally allowed utilities to recover ad valorem taxes as expenses rather than as capital costs.

73. SoCal and ORA agreed to RD&D expense levels of \$7.8 million. They also agree that 100% of royalties attributable to projects underway or completed prior to the implementation of PBR would accrue to ratepayers and that royalties from subsequent projects would be shared equally between ratepayers and shareholders.

74. SoCal did not demonstrate that it intended to spend all funds allocated to RD&D on RD&D projects.

Conclusions of Law

1. SoCal's proposed PBR conflicts with existing Commission decisions and orders, or with policies we have articulated previously. In order to ensure that SoCal's PBR conforms to these principles, we must modify the PBR program before we can adopt it.

2. SoCal's proposal would conflict in certain respects with the terms of the Global Settlement.

3. The absence of a sharing mechanism in SoCal's PBR proposal is contrary to Commission policy, and the adopted PBR program should therefore include a sharing mechanism.

R.87-11-012, A.95-06-002 COM/PGC/les ***

4. The Weather Normalization Mechanism and the Energy Efficiency Adjustment Factor proposed by SoCal would increase, rather than simplify, regulation.

5. Features of SoCal's proposal which are unrelated to the PBR system of incentives should not be adopted as part of our order in this proceeding.

6. We should adopt ORA's proposal for price indexing, consisting of a weighting of labor expense, nonlabor expense, and capital inputs to total costs, that is the average of gas operations for SoCal, PG&E, and SDG&E.

7. We should adopt a Year 5 total productivity factor of 1.5%, consisting of 0.5% historical productivity and a 1.0% "stretch" factor (or "consumer dividend") for factors within the control of utility management. The productivity factor should be "ramped" up in each of the five years of the PBR, so that year 1 will be 1.1%, Year 2 will be 1.2%, year 3 will be 1.3%, year 4 will be 1.4%, and year 5 will be 1.5%. Recorded data should be used to determine the 1996 customer count.

8. The CFCA should be retained, at least until the expiration of the Global Settlement, in the PBR program we adopt.

9. The PBR program we adopt for SoCal should index the revenue requirement *per customer* rather than rates.

10. Establishment of the base margin for SoCal's PBR program should not place SoCal shareholders at risk/reward for variations in throughput at least until the expiration of the Global Settlement.

11. We should not adopt SoCal's proposed indexing mechanism.

12. The adopted indexing mechanism should recognize the special circumstances of SoCal's declining rate base. In order to conform the proposal to other adopted PBRs, while at the same time accounting for uncertainty in estimating the impact of this special circumstance, we should add 1.0 percent each year to the adopted productivity factor. The adopted "X" factor therefore should be 2.1 percent in year 1; 2.2 percent in year 2; 2.3 percent in year 3; 2.4 percent in year 4; and 2.5 percent in year 5.

13. SoCal's PBR program should include a mechanism for sharing net savings with ratepayers.

14. We should adopt a sharing mechanism as part of SoCal's PBR that will increase in eight steps SoCal's share of net revenue from 25% to 100% from 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return up to 300 basis points above that benchmark, and should not share the deficit below that benchmark. The benchmark rate of return should be the current adopted rate of return.

15. We should adopt the cost categories suggested by SoCal for exclusion from PBR.

16. Z factors should be handled outside of the PBR mechanism and separately adjusted in the manner proposed by SoCal.

17. PBR rates under the adopted program should be implemented at the beginning of the next calendar year but could, at SoCal's discretion, be implemented as of the beginning of the current calendar year if this program is adopted before the end of the calendar year.

18. We should adopt ORA's proposal for a cost of capital triggering mechanism during the PBR period, coupled with the "MICAM" mechanism for rate adjustment that we recently adopted in D.96-06-055.

19. We should adopt ORA's proposal for a rate of return "offramp," which would suspend SoCal's PBR program before the five-year minimum term if rate of return deviates by 300 basis points above authorized earnings, or 175 basis points below authorized earnings, for two consecutive years.

20. We should conduct a midcourse review of SoCal's PBR program before the end of the five-year minimum term. SoCal's 1998 BCAP (or its successor proceeding) should serve as the forum for that review.

21. SoCal's PBR should remain in effect for a minimum five-year term, and should be terminable in the manner proposed by ORA.

22. We should adopt the program for ensuring maintenance of service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety that is proposed by SoCal, ORA, and TURN, and set forth in Exhibit 210.

23. We should adopt SoCal's proposal to implement the annual PBR rate adjustment and report on all aspects of the PBR program through the filing of a detailed annual advice letter and supporting workpapers on October 1.

- 98 -

÷.,

24. We should deny SoCal's request to eliminate or modify existing reports required by the Commission at this time and require SoCal to file an annual PBR performance report, similar to that which is now filed by SDG&E.

25. SoCal should be allowed to offer negotiated rates and optional tariffs provided that the price floor is above class average long-run marginal cost and shareholders are entirely at risk for revenue shortfalls.

26. SoCal's request for flexibility in introducing new products and services should be considered in the affiliates rulemaking and investigation (R.97-04-011, 1.97-04-012).

27. The Commission should calculate non-labor cost forecasts by deflating the 1996 dollars using a factor of 3.72%, and inflating them by using a factor of 2.23%.

28. The Commission should adopt all matters resolved by way of stipulation between SoCal and ORA except as provided herein.

29. The Commission should adopt ORA's adjustment to account 920 regarding consultant fees.

30. The Commission should adopt TURN's proposal to reduce Accounts 921 and 920 to reflect excessive executive compensation.

31. The Commission should disallow \$1.924 million associated with affiliated transactions.

32. The Commission should disallow \$2.939 million for costs estimated using SoCal's multi-factor allocation formula for calculating the cost of service provided to SoCal by its affiliates.

33. The Commission should reduce Account 928 by \$0.026 million to reflect the lower costs of regulatory activity.

34. The Commission should disallow \$5.384 million attributable to Gas Company Tower costs to recognize that substantial portions of the property is not used and useful.

35. The Commission should calculate the PBOPs overcollection for the period between 1992 and 1995 using a 21% escalation factor, consistent with D.93-12-043. SoCal should adjust the CFCA and NSBA with appropriate entries to reflect the \$3.5 million refund for PBOPs for 1992-1995.

- 99 -

36. The Commission should reduce funding for Account 184.7 by \$0.124 million to reflect SoCal's inclusion of nonrecurring costs for maintaining its microwave network.

37. The Commission should remove from rate base \$29.028 million associated with construction on Lines 6900, 6902, and 325, and all costs associated with the GEMS upgrade and the GasSelect project, consistent with Commission determinations that the costs of serving noncore customers in competitive markets should not be allocated to the general body of ratepayers. In addition, the Commission should remove \$6.18 million associated with Pacer and overheads capitalization.

38. The Commission should not remove \$23.4 million from rate base related to the Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters.

39. The Commission should reduce Account 920 by \$0.8 million to recognize the cost of litigating the Ventura/Ojal Project but permit SoCal to retain the proceeds of the settlement reached from associated lawsuits.

40. The Commission should recognize in rate base 40% of CIS costs, rather than 100% as ORA and SoCal propose.

41. The Commission should not adjust SoCal's estimate of working cash to reflect \$58 million in deferred credits, and \$29 million in customer deposits.

42. The Commission should adjust SoCal's estimate of working cash to reflect \$18 million in vacation accruals, \$21 million in workers compensation accruals, and \$11.6 million in customer advances for construction.

43. The Commission should adopt depreciation expenses consistent with its findings regarding appropriate levels of rate base.

44. The Commission should adjust SoCal's estimate of 1996 plant additions by \$7.433 million to reflect a 40.29% weighting factor rather than SoCal's 100% weighting factor, which assumes all plant additions are made on the first day of the year.

45. The Commission should retain a one-way balancing account for RD&D.

ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that:

1. The application of Southern California Gas Company (SoCal) for adoption of a system for performance-based ratemaking (PBR), for the portion of SoCal's rates that recovers the costs of providing gas utility service which are normally reviewed through the general rate case (GRC) process, is granted with the modifications set forth in the foregoing opinion, and in the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and appendices to the Order.

2. Not later than July 23, 1997, SoCal shall file a detailed advice letter which shall include:

a. A revised set of proposed tariffs, constructed in accordance with paragraph 1 of this Order for the portion of SoCal's rates that recovers the cost of providing gas utility service; and

b. An election of the effective date of the PBR mechanism adopted pursuant to this Order.

3. Within 30 days after the effective date of this order, SoCal shall file an advice letter to implement this PBR. This advice letter will be subject to approval by the Commission by means of a resolution.

4. The Commission staff shall monitor and evaluate the operation of the adopted PBR program throughout the period it remains in effect.

5. Midcourse review of all aspects of SoCal's PBR shall be conducted as part of SoCal's 1998 Biennial Cost Allocation Proceeding (BCAP), or the successor proceeding if the Commission no longer conducts the proceeding as a BCAP.

6. SoCal shall file an annual PBR performance report as set forth in the opinion, for processing on the following schedule:

a. April 1 - SoCal shall furnish a draft sharable earnings letter to the Commission's staff, including workpapers showing detailed operating results for its base rates.

R.87-11-012, A.95-06-002 ALJ/VDR/tcg **

b. July 1 - Commission staff shall submit its report on its audit analysis of SoCal's sharable earnings results.

c. July 10 - SoCal shall file its final performance advice letter, with supporting workpapers.

d. July 31 - Protests may be filed in accordance with General Order 96-A.

7. On October 1 of each year, SoCal shall file an advice letter which will implement the annual PBR rate adjustment for the following year.

8. During the period that SoCal's PBR program remains in effect, the requirement for SoCal to file a GRC is suspended, except as specifically provided under the terms of the adopted PBR program.

9. SoCal's request for flexibility in introducing new products and services, as described in Exhibit 7, section E, is denied.

10. The proceeding is closed.

This order is effective today.

Dated July 16, 1997, at San Francisco, California.

P. GREGORY CONLON President JESSIE J. KNIGHT, JR. HENRY M. DUQUE JOSIAH L. NEEPER RICHARD A. BILAS Commissioners

We will file a joint dissent in part.

/s/ HENRY M. DUQUE Commissioner

/s/ JOSIAH L. NEEPER Commissioner

APPENDIX A

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION, EMPLOYEE SAFETY,

AND

SERVICE QUALITY

Measuring Customer Satisfaction

15

Annual targets will be established for four service 16 attributes: (1) customer satisfaction with the telephone Customer 17 Service Representative (CSR), (2) customer satisfaction with the 18 scheduling of the appointment for a field service call, 19 (3) satisfaction with the field Appliance Service 20 Representative (ASR), and (4) the percentage of on-time arrival 21 for the service call. Customer satisfaction with these four 22 service attributes is currently measured by way of question 23 numbers 9, combined 19 and 28, 23, and 29, respectively, in the 24 SoCalGas' customer satisfaction telephone survey. 25

The annual targets will be based upon the average performance for 1994 through 1996 for each of the four service attributes, measured as the percentage of customers "satisfied"

-2-

KATISFACTION/SERVICE

1 with the service provided (i.e., responding with an 8, 9, or 10 2 on a 10 point scale) on the first three attributes, and the 3 percentage of "yes" responses on the on-time arrival attribute.

Each service attribute carries a potential monetary penalty. For purposes of determining whether a performance penalty will be imposed upon SoCalGas, the target for each service attribute will have a one point deadband below the target.

As long as each performance level rémains at or above the one point deadband, SoCalGas will not be penalized. Should performance decline below the deadband, SoCalGas will be penalized \$10,000 per 0.1 point decline for the first point below the deadband. For any further performance decline, SoCalGas will be penalized \$20,000 per 0.1 point decline.

Based upon the average customer satisfaction telephone survey results for 1994, 1995, and through November 1996, the results would be as follows:

18	1		Target	Deadband
19		CSR Performance (Q9)	90.7	89.7
20	e	Appointment Scheduling (Q19 & 28)	79.1	78.1
21		ASR Performance (Q23)	94.3	93.3
22		On Time Arrival (Q29)	95.2	94.2

The ultimate target amounts will be based on averages including the entire year's results for 1996. Table 1 attached hereto contains the data that forms the basis for the target and deadband calculations.

27

Telephone Response Time

28

JOINT TESTIMONY . CUSTOMER SATISFACTION/SERVICE

- 3 -

In addition to the foregoing customer satisfaction

1 targets, an annual call center performance standard will require 2 80% of all telephone calls to be answered within 60 seconds for 3 regular calls, and will require 90% of all leak and emergency 4 telephone calls to be answered within 20 seconds. SoCalGas will 5 be penalized \$20,000 per 0.1 point decline below each standard 6 (i.e., 80% and 90%), with no deadband.

Employéé Safety Standard

Also, an annual employée safety standard will be 8 established at 9.3 incidents per 200,000 hours worked, with a ģ. deadband of 1.0 point in each direction. The annual measure for 10 this standard will be the OSHA Recordable Injury and Illness 11 Rate (Rate). Penalties would be paid by SoCalGas if the annual 12 Rate exceeds 10.3. Rewards would be paid to SoCalGas if the Rate 13 falls below 8.3. Penalties and rewards will be assessed at 14 \$20,000 per 0.1 point outside the deadband. 15

16

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

7

Quarterly Reports

In addition to the foregoing incentive mechanisms,
SoCalGas will provide reports to the Commission, on a quarterly
basis, containing monthly data on the following customer service
quality indicators:

- Level of busy signals in the call center (number of customers receiving a busy signal per each 100 calls)
- Estimated meter reads (percentage of total reads that were estimated)
- Leak response time (percentage of leak calls responded to within 30 minutes Monday through Saturday between 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., and within 45 minutes during other times)

- 4 -

JOINT TESTIMONY . CUSTOMER SATISFACTION/SERVICE

- Nissed appointments (percentage of appointments missed due to utility error)
- 3 4

5

1

2

 Customer problems resolved on the first service call (percentage of survey respondents indicating their problems were resolved on the first service call)

6 At this time, no penalties will be assessed with 7 respect to these performance indicators.

8 The busy signals and leak response time report data 9 would be available to the public. At the time of the initial 10 filing of other reports, SoCalGas may elect to use Commission 11 procedures to seek confidential treatment of the remaining report 12 data, or part thereof. Any party may challenge SoCalGas' 13 designation of materials as confidential.

14

Review of Customer Service Quality

15 These parties recommend that a review be undertaken to 16 examine the status of customer service quality indicators, 17 including the penetration of the CARE program. This review would 18 be done either in a mid-course review proceeding or forum OII if 19 the Commission adopts such proceedings, or alternatively, in 20 another appropriate Commission proceeding.

21

28

Penalty/Reward Treatment

Penalties and/or rewards will be assessed as a part of the Annual Rate Adjustment Filing. The initial measurement period will begin on July 1, 1997, or the implementation date of PBR if it is later. It will end on June 30, 1998. Any rewards and/or penalties will be reflected as an increase or decrease in rates on January 1, 1999.

Table 2, attached hereto, illustrates the penalty

- 5 -

JOINT TESTIMONY + CUSTOMER SATISFACTION/SERVICE 1 amounts associated with various levels of performance on the four 2 customer service attributes and the two telephone response time 3 indicators. Table 3 illustrates the reward and penalty amounts 4 associated with various levels of performance on the employee 5 safety standard.

Should the aggregate total of penalties assessed 6 pursuant to the forgoing mechanism in any one year reach or 71 exceed \$4 million, SoCalGas will refund \$4 million to ratepayers 8 g and an investigation by the CPUC would be triggered to consider whether the penalty mechanism is working properly, and/or whether 10 appropriate remedies are in place to address service 11 deterioration. SoCalGas could argue that penalties beyond 12 \$4 million should not be assessed, and other parties could oppose 13 that request. SocalGas would be subject to whatever additional 14 penalties the Commission determined to be appropriate at the 15 conclusion of its investigation. 16

With the exception of the performance indicators 17 recommended by TURN that relate to the late payment charge (i.e., 18 mailing bills and posting payments), the recommendations made 19 herein would be implemented in lieu of various satisfaction, 20 service, and safety measures proposed in the prepared testimonies 21 described above. The performance indicators that relate to the 22 late payment charge are not a part of this joint settlement 23 proposal, and will remain subject to a litigated outcome. 24 Accordingly, the joint recommendation does not include an 25 aggregate customer satisfaction index; mandatory customer 26 monetary credits for missed appointments, delayed leak responses, 27 disconnects by reason of utility error, or winter outages greater 28 ||

- 6 -

JOINT TESTIMONY . CUSTOMER

ŚATIŚFACTIÓN/SERVICĖ

1	than 24 hours; a mandatory customer satisfaction mail survey
2	requirement; or, quarterly reports upon any service quality
3	indicators other than those identified herein.
4	
5	ÓNUSERSVRMAHARGINUTCSM1
6	
7	
8	
ě	
10	
11	
12	
12	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	e f
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	

OINT TESTIMONY - CUSTOMER SATISFACTION/SERVICE

- 7 -

Table 1

	Satisfaction	Satisfaction	Satisfactión	On Time
# of Customers	CSR	Apt Arrangement	ASR	Appointment
Answering	Q9	Q19/Q28	Q23	Q29
Questión	%8-10	%8-10	%8-10	%YES
11887	88.6%		93.2%	1
24145	89.2%	93Q2	94,5%	93Q2
25707	90.8%	81.7%	94,3%	95.7%
26859	89.9%	78.3%	94.0%	94.7%
29218	90.5%	79.1%	94.3%	95.4%
24913	91.6%	79.9%	94.6%	95.7%
	90.7%	79.1%	94.3%	95.2%
	89.7%	78.1%	93.3%	94.2%
	Answering Question 11887 24145 25707 26859 29218	# of Customers CSR Answering Q9 Question %8-10 11887 88.6% 24145 89.2% 25707 90.8% 26859 89.9% 29218 90.5% 24913 91.6%	# of Customers CSR Apt Atrangement Answering Q9 Q19/Q28 Question %8-10 %8-10 11887 88.6%	# of Customers CSR Apt Atrangement ASR Answering Q9 Q19/Q28 Q23 Question %8-10 %8-10 %8-10 11887 88.6% 93.2% 24145 89.2% 93Q2 94.5% 25707 90.8% 81.7% 94.3% 26859 89.9% 78.3% 94.0% 29218 90.5% 79.1% 94.6% 90.7% 79.1% 94.3%

So Cal Gas Co Confidential

Table 3
Example of Reward/Penalty Structure

Employee Safety Standard

	Reward*	OSHA Recordable Rate	Penalty*
			:
		10.8	\$100,000
		- 10.7	\$ 80,000
		10.6	\$ 60,000
		10.5	\$ 40,000
		10.4	\$ 20,000
Deadband		10.3	\$ O
Targèt	\$ 0	9.3	\$ Ó
Deadband	\$ 0	8.3	
	\$ 20,000	8.2	
	\$ 40,000	8.1	
	\$ 60,000	8.0	
	\$ 80,000	7.9	
A -	\$100,000	7.8	
, i	:		

*\$20,000 penalty/reward per tenth of point decline in performance

(END OF APPENDIX A)

R.87-11-012, A.95-06-002 ALJ/VDR/tcg

APPENDIX B

TABLES ESTABLISHING BASE MARGIN

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY OF EARNINGS AT PRESENT AND ADOPTED RATES
COMPARISON OF SUMMARY OF EARNINGS AT ADOPTED RATES
CLEARING ACCOUNTS SUMMARY
UNDERGROUND GAS STORAGE EXPENSE
GAS TRANSMISSION EXPENSE SUMMARY
GAS DISTRIBUTION, MEASUREMENT, ENGINEERING & ENVRONMENTAL EXPENSES
SUMMARY
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS EXPENSE SUMMARY
MARKETING EXPENSES SUMMARY
ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSE SUMMARY
REASSIGNMENTS
DEPRECIATION EXPENSE
DEPRECIATION RESERVE
TAXES OTHER THAN ON INCOME
INCOME TAX ADJUSTMENT
TAXES ON INCOME - PRESENT RATES
TAXES ON INCOME - ADOPTED RATES
GAS PLANT IN SERMCE
WEIGHTED AVERAGE DEPRECIATED RATE BASE AT ADOPTED RATES
DETERMINATION OF AVERAGE AMOUNTS OF WORKING CASH CAPITAL SUPPLIED
BY INVESTORS
DEVELOPMENT OF AVERAGE LAG IN PAYMENT OF EXPENSES
DEVELOPMENT OF THE NET TO GROSS MULTIPLIER

		Toble 1 ALIFORNIA GAS CON	IPANY			
SUMMARY OF EARNINGS						
	AT PRESEN	IT AND ADOPTED RA	TES			
		Test Year 1996				
	۲ ۵ ۲)	susands of Dollars)				
				ADO	PTED	
Line	1				Is Present	
No.	Description	PRESENT	ADOPTED	Amount	Percent	
		(A)	(B)	(C=B-A)	(D=C/A	
	Operating Revenues					
1	Gas Base Margin	1,544,704	1,315,341	(229,363)	-14.	
2	Other Revenues	53,387	\$3,387	0	0.0	
•		43,341		~		
3	Total	1,598,091	1,368,728	(229,363)	-14.	
4	Less: Cost of Gas	0	1,~~,120	0	1N'A	
			v			
5	Net Operating Revenues	1,598,091	1,368,728	(229,363)	-14.4	
	I ITEE OFERBURG REVERUES	1,076,071	1,303128	(**7,303)	-14.	
6	Oner See Frances					
0	Operating Expenses					
1	Reassignments	(39,429)	(39,429)	0	0.0	
8	Cleaning Accounts	53,079	53,079	0	0.	
9	Underground Storage	20,373	20,373	0	0.	
10	Transmission	25,016	25,016	0	0.0	
11	Distribution	170,599	170,599	0	0.0	
12	Customer Accounts	105,367	105,367	0	0.0	
13	Upcollectibles	7,332	6,347	(985)	-13.	
14	Markeung	23,408	23,408	0	0.0	
15	Administrative & General	277,468	277,463	0	0.0	
16	Franchise Requirements	23,142	19,755	(3,387)	-14.0	
17	Exec Comp Adjustment	(606)	(606)	0	0.0	
18	P & B Adjustment		Ő	Ō	≢N'A	
19	Subtotal (1995 Dollars)	665,749	661,377	(\$4,372)	-0.1	
20	Labor Escalation Amount	10,115	10,115	0	0.0	
21	Non-Labor Escalation Amount	7,116	7,116	0	0.0	
22	Sublotal (1996 Dollars)	6\$2,980	678,608	(\$4,372)	-0.0	
	Contract (1770 Doctor 3)		0.0,0.0			
23	Productivity Adjustment		0	. 0	₽N'A	
23	Depresiation	241,147	241,147	0	+NA 0.0	
25	Taxes Other Than On Income			0	0.0	
		61,011	61,011			
26	CA Corporation Franchise Tax	48,572	28,633	(19,889)	-40.9	
27	Federal Income Tax	187,384	108,637	(78,747)	-42.0	
	T 110 - C 7					
28	Total Operating Expenses	1,221,095	1,118,087	(\$103,003)	-8	
	ļ			 		
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
29	Net Operating Revenues	\$376,996	\$250,641	(\$126,355)	-33.:	
30	Rate Base	2,660,734	2,660,734	0	0.0	
				· ·		
31	Rate of Return	14.17%	9.42%	-4.75%	-33.5	
	1					

erg-pbr-finalwit

15

(Revises 6/9/97)

	SUMMARY OF E	Table 1-A ALIFORNIA GAS COMPA Comparison of ARNINGS AT ADOPTED Test Year 1996 wusands of Dollars)	
Line			
No.	Description	ADOPTED	SoCalGas

		(A)	(B)
	Operating Revenues		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Cas Para Muria	1215211	1 265 275
1 2	Gas Base Margin Other Revenues	1,315,341 53,387	1,365,275 53,387
	Curci Revenues	106,65	77,301
3	Total	\$1,368,728	\$1,419,662
4	Less: Cost of Gas	0	0
	•		
5	Net Operating Revenues	\$1,368,728	\$1,419,662
6	Operating Expenses		
7	Reassignments	(39,429)	(39,984)
8	Clearing Accounts	53,079	53,291
9	Storage	20,373	20,373
10	Transmission Distribution	25,016	25,017
12	Oustomer Accounts	105,367	170,599 105,760
13	Uncollectibles	6,347	6,566
14	Marketing	23,408	23,815
15	Administrative & General	277,468	290,384
16	Franchise Requirements	19,755	20,507
17	Exec Comp Adjustment	(606)	0
18	P & B Adjustment	0	Ō
19	Subtotal (1995 Dollars)	\$661,317	\$576,328
		· · ·	
20	Labor Escalation Amount	10,115	10,216
21	Non-Labor Escalation Amount	7,116	7,300
	C.4		
.22	Subtotal (1996 Dollars)	\$678,608	\$693,844
23	Productivity Adjustment	0	0
24	Depreciation	241,147	252,504
25	Taxes Other Than On Income	61,011	61,383
26	CCFT	28,683	31,312
27	Federal Income Tax	108,637	119,191
28	Total Operating Expenses	\$1,118,087	\$1,158,234
·)0	Net Operating Revenues		6341 438
29	The Arian Recents	\$250,641	\$261,428
30	Rate Base	2,660,734	2,775,698

.

		Table 2				
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY					
		CLEARING ACCOUNTS SUMMARY				
ł	(The	ousands Of 1995 Dellars Unless Otherwise Indica Test Year 1998	(ನ)			
Line	Account		·			
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED			
		General Services	(A)			
J		Ucheral Services	·			
}{	163.0	Stores Expense	4,450			
2	184.1	Shy Expense	8			
3	184.2	Tool Expense	5,474			
	184.3	Auto & Const. Equipment	27,678			
3	184.4	Miscellaneous Pipeline Material	626			
6	184.5	Print Shop	4			
	101.5	Патекр	·'			
7		Total General Services	\$33,240			
}			·			
	···					
		Communications				
8	184.7	Communications Expense	14,836			
9		Total Communications	\$14,836			
		Operations Support				
10	184.1	Other Shop Expense-Bldg Opa's	3			
11	184.6	HQ Bldg Expease	0			
12		Total Operations Support	\$3			
		<u> </u>				
13		TOTAL CLEARING ACCOUNT (19935)	\$\$3,079			
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996	101			
14		Labor	495			
15		Non-Labor Other	826			
16		Total	0			
17	•		\$1,321			
18		TOTAL CLEARING ACCOUNT (19985)	\$54,400			
19		LABOR ADJUSTMENT (1996S)	\$0			

[Table 3	`]
		SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY	
		UNDERGROUND GAS STORAGE EXPENSE SUMMARY	
	m	ousands of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise Indica	ted)
	•	Test Year 1996	
	<u></u>	· · · ·	
Line	Account	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
			(A)
ł	<u> </u>	Operation	·
	814.0	Sopervision and Engineering	2,639
2	815.0	Maps and Records	0
3	816.0	Wells expenses	1,753
4	817.0	Linés expenses	852
	818.0	Compressor Station expenses	3,090
6	819.0	Compressor Sta. Fuel and Power	0
	820.0	Measuring & Regulating Station Exp	150
8	821.0	Punification Expense	1,477
9	823.0	Gas Losses	0
10	824.0	Other Expenses	1,767
11	825.0	Storage Well Royalties	354
12	826.0	Rents	212
13		Total Operation expenses	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
-13		Total Operation expenses	· \$12,294
		Maintenance	·
14	831.0	Structures and Improvements	76
15	832.0	Wells	2,660
16	833.0	Lines	649
17	834.0	Compressor Station Equipment	3,268
18	835.0	Measuring & Reg Station Equip.	173
19	836.0	Perification Equipment	1,032
20	837.0	Other Equipment	220
21		Total Maintenance expenses	\$8,078
		••••••	
			11
22		TOTAL UNDERGR. STORAGE (19955)	\$20,373
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996	11
23		Labor	328
24	i	Non-Labor	218
25		Other	0
26		Total	\$546
			11
	+ 1		
27 .		TOTAL UNDERGR. STORAGE (19965)	\$20,919
28		LABOR ADJUSTMENT (1996\$)	\$0

acg-ptr-finalvit

÷

1112 FM

.

		Table 4	
		SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPAN	Y
		GAS TRANSMISSION EXPENSE SUMMARY	
	ന	cousands Of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise Ind	(cated)
		Test Year 1996	
]			
Line	Account	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
	<u> </u>		
			(A)
		Operation	
1	850.0	Supervision and Engineering	7,571
2	851.0	System Con & Load Dispatching	1,663
3	\$53.0	Compressor Station	1,638
4	854.0	Gas For Compressor Station Fuel	
5	856.0	Mains Expenses	1,692
6	856.0	Removal of Condensate	
1	857.0	Measuring & Reg. Station Exp.	1,327
8	858.0	Trans & Comp. of Gas by Others	
9	859.0	Transmission Maps and Records	
10 11	859.0 859.0	Other Expenses Joint Expenses	2,713
12	839.0	Rents	3,208
-12	00.U	Kens	5,200
13		Total Operation	\$19,812
		Maintenance	
14	861.00	Supervision and Engineering	
15	862.00	Structures and Improvements	108
16	\$63.00	Mains	2,205
17	864.00	Compressor Station Equipment	2,34
18	865.00	Measuring & Reg Station Equip.	417
19	867.00	Other Equipment	125
20		Total Maintenance	\$5,204
21		TOTAL TRANSMISSION (19955)	\$25,010
			323,010
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996 Labor	
22 23		Nog-Labor	461
23	<u> </u>	Other	
25		Total	\$685
26		TOTAL TRANSMISSION (19965)	\$25,704
27		LABOR ADJUSTMENT (1996\$)	\$C

sog-pbr-fizalv14

.

. .

Table 5

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY GAS DISTRIBUTION, MEASUREMENT, ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL EXPENSES SUMMARY (Thousands Of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise Indicated) Test Year 1996

Line	Account		
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
			(A)
		Operation	
1	870.0	Supervision and Engineering	31,163
2	874.0	Mains and Services Expenses	0
3	875.0	Meas & Reg Station Exp	
4	878.0	Meter & house regulator expense	539
5	879.0	Customer Install, Exp.	68,383
	1		
6	880.0	Other expenses	. 34,371
7	881.0	Repts	
8		Total Opération	C124 030
<u> </u>			\$134,828
		Maintenance	
9	885.00	Supervision and Engineering	
,		Supervision and Engineering	`
10	887.00	Muins	13,867
	889.00	Meas & Reg Station Equip	713
		Teres of Neg Obsolf Equip	
12	\$92.00	Senices	15,456
13	\$93.00	Meters & House Regulators	5,735
		Means of House Regulaters	
14	894.00	Other Equipment	0
15	· <u>··</u> -·······	Total Maintenance	\$35,771
16		TOTAL EXPENSES (19955)	\$170,599
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996	
17		Labor	4,562
18 19		Non-Labor Other	513
20		Total	\$5,075
	· · ·		
21		TOTAL EXPENSES (19965)	\$175,674

(Savised 6/9/37)

		Table 6	
		SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY	
ł		CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS EXPENSE	i
	m.	SUMMARY Susands of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise Indic	(tote
	(14	Test Year 1996	i
Line	Account	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
			(A)
	901.0	Supervision	7,151
2	902.0	Meter Reading Expenses	17,770
3	903.0	Cust Ree & Collee Exp. (Co.7-B)	80,446
4	. 904.0	Uncollectible Accts (Pres.Rates)	7,332
5	905.0	Mise. Customer Accounts Exp.	0
6 ;		TOTAL CUSTOMER ACCTS. (19935)	\$112,699
7		Total (Less Upcollocubles)	\$105,367
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996	
8		Labor	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2,544
9		Non-Labor	393
10		Other	0
1		Tલ્ડ	\$2,937
12		TOTAL CUSTOMER ACCTS. (19965)	\$115,636
13		Total (Less Uncollectibles)	\$108,304
14		LABOR ADJUSTMENT (1996S)	\$0

#cg-pbr-fizalv14

1:02.54

·		Table 7	
		SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY	
		MARKETING EXPENSES SUMMARY	
	(The	ousands Of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise Indicate Test Year 1996	xd)
1			
Line	Account		
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
			••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
			(A)
{		DIRECT EXPENSES	·
		OPERATION	
	<u>`</u>	OPERATION	
	907.0	Supervision	902
		ouper issui	
2	908.0	Customer Assistance Expenses	2,603
- -			
3	909.0	Informational Instrctl. Ads	3,733
4	910.0	Mise Customer Sve & Info Expenses	16,169
5	911.0	Supervision	. 0
6	916.0	Misc. Sales Expenses	0
	. <u> </u>		
	<u> </u>		
-5-		TOTAL MARKETING EXPENSES(19955)	100
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	IVIAL BUARDING EATERSES(1993)	\$23,408
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1995	·
6		Labor	341
7	<u> </u>	Non-Labor	387
8		Other	0
9		Total	\$728
	•		
10		TOTAL MARKETING EXPENSES. (1996S)	\$24,136
11		LABOR ADJUSTMENT (1996\$)	\$0

1:01.98

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSE SUMMARY

(Thousands Of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise Indicated) Test Year 1995

Line	Account		
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
			(A)
	·	Operation	
	920.0	Administrative & Gen. Salaries	42,278
2	921.0	Office Supplies and Expenses	32,576
3	922.0	Admin. & Gen. Transfer Credit	0
4	923.0	Outside Services Employed	58,565
5	924.0	Property Insurance	2,796
6	925.0	Injuries and Damages	20,042
7	926.0	Employee Pensions and Benefits	80,332
8	927.0	Franchise Requints (@Pres Rates)	23,142
9	928.0	Regulatory Commission Expenses	269
10	930.2	Mise. General Expenses	12,661
11	931.0	Reats	21,440
12		Total Operation	\$294,101
			·
			i
i		l	
		Maintenance	
13	935.0		
-13	933.0	Maintenance of General Plant	6,509
14	<u> </u>	Total Maintenance	6,509
19		I Cal Planiceance	0,309
		······	
15		TOTAL ADMIN. & GEN. (19955)	\$300,610
16		Total (Less Franchise Req.)	\$277,468
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996	
17		Labor	1,398
18		Non-Labor	4,558
19		Other	0
20		Total	\$5,956
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
- <u></u>			
21		TOTAL ADMIN. & GEN. (1996S)	\$306,566
22		Total (Less Franchise Req.)	\$283,424
23		LAROR ADTISTUDIT (100(C)	
43		LABOR ADJUSTMENT (19965)	30

	<u> </u>	Table 9	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
		SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY	
		REASSIGNMENTS	
	æ		. h
	(18	ousands Of 1995 Dollars Unless Otherwise India Test Year 1996	3100)
1	ADOPTED		1
Line	TABLE		
No.	No.	Description	ADOPTED
	••		
			(A)
			-
1	4	Clearing Accounts	14,216
2	5	Underground Gas Storage	135
3	6	Gas Transmission	1,016
4		SUBTOTAL	\$15,367
5	7-8	Gas Distribution-Operations Expenses	7,302
6	7-B	Gas Distribution-Measurement Expenses	0
7	7.0	Gas Distribution-Engineering Expenses	28
8	7-D	Environmental & Safety Expenses	0
9	. 8	Customer Accounts	0
10	9	Marketing Expenses	0
	10	Administration & General	15,756
		Automassanded & Octocat	17,720
12		SUBTOTAL	\$23,087
13		TOTAL REASSIGNMENTS (19955)	\$38,454
		Escalation Amounts, 1995 to 1996	
14		Labor	423
15		Nog-Labor	552
16		Other	0
17		Total	\$975
18		REASSIGNMENTS (19965)	\$39,429
19		ADJUSTMENT (1996S)	\$0
20		TOTAL REASSIGNMENTS (1996S)	\$39,429

#cg-pbr-finalv14

ſ

[Table 10		
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY		
	DEPRECIATION EXPENSE		
	Test Year 1996 (Thousands of 1996 Dollars)		
Line			
No.	Description	ADOPTED	
		(A)	
1	Underground Storage	18,907	
2	Transmission Plant	20,934	
3	Distribution Plant	164,617	
4	General Plant	32,801	
5	SuNotal	\$237,259	
6	Net Additions	2,211	
1	Adjustment for Plant Issues	394	
8	Adjustment for CIS dep'n accrual	1,284	
9	Total Depreciation Expense	\$241,147	
10	1996 Depreciation Expense Estimate	\$241,147	

.

	Table !!	
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPA	NY
	DEPRECIATION RESERVE	
	Test Year 1996 (Thousands of 1996 Dollars)	1
Line		
No.	Descriptica	ADOPTED
		(A)
1	Reserve Balance @ 12/31/95	\$2,585,090
2	Depreciation Accrual	241,147
3	Retirements & Net Salvage	(50,939)
4	Cleaning Account	0
5	Reserve Balance @ 12/31/96	\$2,776,298
6	Average Depreciation Accrual	120,574
7	Average Retirements & Net Salvage	(25,470)
8	Average Clearing Account	0
9	1996 Total Weighted Avg. Reserve (Line 1 + 6 + 7 + 8)	\$2,681,194

scg-pbr-fizalv14

(Revises 6/9/37)

1.12.24

	Table 12	
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMP.	ANY
	TAXES OTHER THAN ON INCOM	E
	Test Year 1996 (Thousands of Dollars)	
Line		
No.	Description	ADOPTED
		(A)
	Ad Valorem Taxes	
		······································
<u> </u>	California	35,519
2	Total Ad Valorem Taxes	35,519
	Payroll Taxes	
3	Federal Insurance Contrib. Act	24,344
4	Federal Unemployment Insurance	398
5	State Unemployment Insurance	750
6	Exhibit 57 Payroll Tax Changes	0
7	Total Payroll Taxes	25,492
	Other Taxes	
8	Sales Tax Increase	
	Hazardous Substance Tax	0
10	Total Other Taxes	0
 II	Total Taxes OTO1	
	110001000101	\$61,011

acg-phr-finalvit

(Revised 6/9/97)

[Table 13	
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMP	ANY
	INCOME TAX ADJUSTMENT	
	Test Year 1996	
	(Thousands of 1996 Dollars)	, í
ļ		·
Line		
No.	Description	ADOPTED
	California Income Tax Adjustments	(A)
[
1	Tax Deprecistion	204,431
2		0
3		0
4		0
- 5	Fixed Charges-Operating	91,536
6	Removal Costs	6,871
1	Repair Allowance	4,000
8		0
9		. 0
10	Miscellaneous-Net	(2,198)
<u> 11</u>		0
12	Total CCFT Adjustments	\$304,640
14	Todi CCFT Aujusabeus	\$304,040
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
[
	Federal Income Tax Adjustments	
}		
13	Tax Depreciation	182,573
14		
15		0
16		0
. 17		0
18		. 0
19		0
20		0
21	Fixed Charges-Operating	91,536
22	Removal Costs	5,222
23		0
24	Miscellancous-Net	0
25	PIDCERSKOUPTICE	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0
27	Total FIT Adjustments	\$279,348

sog-pbr-finalv14

(Reviséd 6/9/97)

102.78

ſ	Table 14		
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY		
1	cooniexa cata oran das company		
	TAXES ON INCOME • PRESENT RA	TES	
	Test Year 1996		
	(Thousands of 1996 Dollars)		
	(Texessens of Type Douals)	1	
Linc			
No.	Description	ADOPTED	
<u>N0.</u>	Dextipixa	ALOTTED	
	O.V.C	(A)	
	California Corporation Franchise Tax		
	Operating Revenues	\$1,598,091	
	1		
2	Operating Exp (incl prod adjust)	682,980	
3	Taxes Other Than On Iacome	61,011	
4	Income Tax Adjustments	304,640	
1			
5	California Taxable Income	\$549,459	
6.	CCFT Tax Rate	0.0884	
1			
7	ССГТ	\$48,572	
8	State Tax Adjustment	0	
9	Subtotal	\$48,572	
10	Defense Facilities Credit	. 0	
10	Deferred Taxes	· 0	
	Defetteo Lirces		
12	T-4100PT	£10 (2)	
12	Total CCFT	\$48,572	
J			
[
	Federal Income Tax		
I			
13	Operating Revenues	\$1,598,091	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
14	Operating Exp (incl prod adjust)	682,980	
15	Taxes Other Than On Income	61,011	
16	CCFT (Prior Yesu)	30,364	
17	Income Tax Adjustments	279,348	
18	Federal Taxable Income	\$544,388	
1			
19	FIT Tax Rate	0.35	
20	Federal Income Tax	\$190,536	
1			
21	Investment Tax Credit	(2,867)	
22	BUTCHINGE SHA UTVAL		
23		0	
24	Annual Data Ascumption	0	
25	Average Rate Assumption	(285)	
25	T. 15.1. 11		
I 36 '	Total Federal Income Tax	\$187,384	

TANE 15 SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

TAXES ON INCOME - ADOPTED RATES

Test Year 1996 (Thousands of 1996 Dollars)

	(Thousands of 1996 Dollars)	1
Line		
Na	Description	ADOPTED
		(A)
	California Corporation Franchise Tax	
1	Operating Revenues	\$1,368,728
2	Operating Exp (incl prod adjust)	678,608
3	Taxes Other Than On Income	61,011
4	Income Tax Adjustments	304,640
5	California Taxable Income	\$324,468
		\$727,TV0
6	CCFT Tax Rate	0.0884
`		
1	Total CCFT	C30 (0)
8	State Tax Adjustment	\$28,683
• <u>•</u>	Suite Int Adjusutien	
	- C.M	
9	Subtotal	\$28,683
- 10 -		
10	Defense Facilities Credit	- 0
11	Deferred Taxes	•
12	Total CCFT	\$28,683
	Federal Income Tax	
13	Operating Revenues	\$1,368,728
14	Operating Exp (incl prod adjust)	678,608
15	Taxes Other Than On Income	61,011
16	CCFT	30,364
17	Income Tax Adjustments	279,348
18	Federal Taxable Incomé	\$319,397
19	FIT Tax Rate	0.35
20	Federal Income Tax	\$111,789
21	Investment Tax Credit	(2,867)
22	Capitalized Int & Prop Txs	0
23	Superfund Tax (Line 18*0.0012)	0
24	Capitalized Employee Benefits	0
24	Average Rate Assumption	(285)
_		
25	Total Federal Income Tax	\$108,637

TaNe 16 SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY GAS PLANT IN SERVICE Test Year 1996 (Thousands of 1996 Dollars)		
Line		
No.	Description	ADOPTED
		(A)
1	1996 BOY GAS PLANT	\$5,555,550
	1996 NET ADDITIONS:	
. 2	Gross Additions	163,196
3	Less Retirements	(38,454)
4	Net Additions	124,742
	1996 WEIGHTED AVO. ADDITIONS:	
\$	Weighting Percentage	40.29%
6	Weighted Avg Net Additions	50,259
	1996 CUSTOMER INFO SYSTEM:	
1	Net Addition	24,954
8	Wid, Avg. Addition	24,954
	SPECIAL RETIREMENTS:	
9	Plant No Longer Used & Useful	0
10	19% EOY PLANT (1+4+7-9)	5,705,246
11	1996 WID. AVO. PLANT (1+6+8-9)	5,630,762

.

[Table 17				
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COM	IPANY			
WEIGHTED AVERAGE DEPRECIATED RATE BASE AT ADOPTED RATES					
	Test Year 1996				
	(Thousands of 1996 Dollars)				
Line					
No.	Description	ADOPTED			
	Wetherd Armenes Cash March	(A)			
	Weighted Average Gas Plant				
1	Gas Plant	5,630,762			
2	Total Weighted Average Plant	5,630,762			
	avent the second a second a second se				
	Working Capital:				
<u> </u>		· · · · · · · · · · · · [
3	Materials and Supplies	14,303			
4	Accum. Def. IT/Contrib.&Adv.	22,249			
5	Work in Progress	12,388			
6	Working Cash	26,485			
1	Total Working Capital	\$75,425			
8	Total (Line 2+7)	5,706,187			
	True (Law 2.17)	2,100,101			
	Less Adjustments:				
	,				
9	Customer Advances	53,299			
10	Deferred Rev. Net Of FIT	9,624			
11	Acc. Deferred FIT-Depreciation	293,237			
12	Ate. Deferred Taxes	0			
13	Acc. Deferred ITC	1,344			
14	Aliso Gas Rights	210			
15	Gain On Sales	6,545			
16					
16	Total Deductions	\$364,259			
12	Depreciation Reserve				
17	Teliccianon Keseive	2,681,194			
18	Total Adjustments (Line 16+17)	3,045,453			
	I Wat ridiosoficities (Leffe 10+11)				
19	Total Rate Base (Line 8-18)	\$2,660,734			

sog-pbr-finalvit

1:32 25

Table 18

.

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

DETERMINATION OF AVERAGE AMOUNTS OF WORKING CASH CAPITAL SUPPLIED BY INVESTORS

Test Year 1996 (Thousands of Dollars)

ĺ	(Ibousands of Dollars)	
Line		
No.	Description	ADOPTED
•		••
	•	(A)
	Operational Cash Requirements	
	Description (Description)	
1	Required Bank Balances Cash Spécial Deposits & Working Funds	0
3	Other Receivables	11,140
4	Other Prepayments	2,750
5	Deferred Debits	3,520
6	Total Operatl Cash Requirement	\$17,570
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Plus: Working Cash Romat from lag in	
7	Collection of Revenues	68,122
	Less: Amounts Not Supplied By Investors	
8	Collection of state regulatory fees	370
9	Collection of utility users tax	690
10	Collection of transport tax before payment Collectin of municipal surching before payment	(30)
12	Employees withholding	2,820
12	Purchase of capitalized items	4,620
13	Purchase of materials and supplies	210
- 13	Ourrent and accrued liabilities	28,234
16	Available Cash Balance Adjustment	0
17	Deferred Credit Adjustments-Overland	21,013
18	Total deductions	\$59,207
19	Working Cash Capital (Line 6+7)	\$85,692
·		
	Plus: Average Amount Required	
		(0.133
20	Lead Lag @ ADOPTED Rates (Line 7)	68,122
	Working Cash Capital Supplied by Investors	
21	Cakulated @ ADOPTED rate (Line 6 + 20 - 1	26,485
•1		20,403
		+
22	Use @ ADOPTED rate	\$26,485

ſ	Table 19					
	SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY DEVELOPMENT OF AVERAGE LAG IN PAYMENT OF EXPENSES Test Year 1996 (Thousands of Dollars)					
DEVI						
Line						
No.	Description	Expense				
		(A)				
1	Federal Income Tax	108,637				
2	FIT: SIT Ded. Timing Adj. #1	0				
3	FIT: SIT Ded. Timing Adj. #2	0				
4	State Income Tax	28,683				
5.	Deferred Income Taxes	0				
6	Franchise Requirements	37,963				
7	Natural Gas Purchased	1,209,335				
88	Company Labor	337,474				
9	Pension Expense	0				
10	Disability Plan	4,412				
<u> </u>	Retirement Saving Plan	6,829				
12	Life Insurance	1,392				
13	Medical & Dental	22,811				
14	Health Maint. Organizations	4,246				
15	Goods and Services	22,068				
16	Materials From Storeroom	1,058				
17	Depreciation	241,147				
18	Ad Valorem Tax • CA	35,519				
19	FICA Tax	24,344				
20	Unemployment Tax - Federal	- 398				
21	Unemployment Tax - California	750				
22	Real Estate Rental Payments	24,239				
23	Equipment Lease Payments	16,185				
24	Amort. Of Insurance Premiums Workers Comp.	6,887				
25	Benefits Fees & Services	12,986				
40	Deneus Loss of Selvices	3,3+1				
27	TOTAL	2,150,904				
28	Expense Lag Days = (C)(A) =	35.79				
29	Revenue Lag Days - (C) (A) -	47.35				
47	Verefiee For Da) 2	47.33				
30	Working Cash From Lead Lag	63,122				
31	Rate Base At ADOPTED Rates	2,660,734				
32	Rate of Return	9.42%				

ecg-pbr-finalv14

1:02 PX

	Table 20 SOUTHERN CALIFÓRNIA GAS COMPANY							
	Development of the Net To Gross Multiplier Test Year 1996							
Line	1	1 1						
No.	Description	(A)	(B)	(C=AvB)				
				-				
1	Gross Operating Revenues			1.000000				
2	Less: Uncollectibles	0.004776	1.000000	0.004776				
3				0.995224				
4	Less: Franchise Requirements	0.014828	0.995224	0.014757				
5				0.980467				
6	Less: Superfund Tax	0.000000	0.980467	0.000000				
7				0.950467				
8	Less: State Income Tax	0.088400	0.980467	0.086673				
9	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			0.893794				
10	Less: Federal Income Tax	0.350000	0.980467	0.343163				
11	Net Operating Revenues			0.550630				
12	Net To Gross Multiplier (A'B)	1.000000	0.550630	1.816100				

(END OF APPENDIX B)

.

R.87-11-012, A.95-06-002 ALJ/VDR/tcg

APPENDIX C

LIST OF APPEARANCES

APPENDIX C Page 1

ASTER LIST R87-11-012/A95-06-002 CRID :11/26/96 1i1 Udated: 4/17/97 ioa Added : 4/17/97 ioa DOC. ID: R15815

********* *APPEARANCES* **********

Randall A. Morrow Attorney at Law 633 W 5th Street Los Angeles Ca 90013

Steve Hagemeister Attorney at Law JONES DAY REAVIS AND POQUE 555 West Fifth Street Suite 4600 Los Angeles CA 90013-1025

ALLIANCE FINISHING AND MANUFACTURING 1721 Ines Avenue Oxnard, CA 93033

Edward G. Poole Attorney at Law ANDERSON, DONOVAN & POOLE 601 California St., Ste. 1300 an Francisco, CA 94108

Evelyn K. Elsesser/Susan B. Bergles ATER, WYNNE, HEWITT, DODSON & SKERRITT One Embarcadero Center, Ste. 2420 San Francisco, CA 94111

JENNIFER CHAMBERLIN BARAKAT & CHAMBERLIN 1800 Harrison St., 18th Floor Oakland, CA 94612

John Burkholder BETA Consulting 4364 Bonita RD #601 Bonita CA 91902

Robert E. Burt 2210 K Street Sacramento, CA 95816-4923

Ronald V. Stassi CITY OF BURBANK PUBLIC SERVICE DEPT. P.O. Box 631 Burbank, CA 91503

maron Haynes-Creswell and Katy Olds CALIFORNIA/NEVADA COMMUNITY ACTION ASS. 926 J Street, Ste. 408 Sacramento, CA 95814

Matthew V. Brady IAW OFFICES OF BRADY & ASSOCIATES 300 Capitol Mall Suite 1140 Sacramento, CA 95814

JUDY PAU AND FHIL ENDOM EL PASO NATURAL GAS 650 California St., 24th Floor San Francisco, CA 94108

Paul M. Premo FOSTER ASSOCIATES, INC. 120 Montgomery Street, Suite 1776 San Francisco 94104

Bemard V. Palk CITY OF GLENDALE PUBLIC SERVICE DEPT. 141 N. Glendale Ave., 4th Level Glendale, CA 91206-4496

Richard L. Hamilton, Att. at Law LAW OFFICE OF RICHARD L. HAMILION 100 Howe Ave., Ste. 230N Sacramento, CA 95825

James Hodges 4720 Brand Way Sacramento, CA 95819

John Abram, Atty. at Law HOGAN & HARTSON 555 Thirteenth St. Washington, D.C. 20004

Jamés F. Mordáh IMPERIAL IRRIGATION DISTRICT P.O. Box 937 Imperial, CA 92251

Mark A. Baldwin, President INTERSTATE GAS SERVICES, INC. 11875 Dublin Blvd., Suite B 131 Dublin, CA 94568

Norman A. Pedersen, Att. at Law JONES, DAY, REAVIS & POGUE 555 W. Fifth Street Suite 4600 Los Angeles, CA 90013

Mark C. Moench KERN RIVER GAS TRANSMISSION CO. P.O. Box 58900 Salt Lake City, UT 84158

Sam K. Abdulaziz LAW OFFICES OF ABDULAZIZ & GROSSBART 6454 Coldwater Canyon Ave. North Hollywood, CA 91606

Robert L. Pettinato LOS ANSELES DEPT. OF WATER & POWER P.O. Box 911 Los Angeles, CA 90051-0100

SARA STECK MYERS Attorney at Law 122-28th Ave. San Francisco, CA 94121

Sheryl Cartér NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 71 Stévenson St., Sté. 1825 San Francisco, CA 94105

Andrew L. Niven/ Michelle L. Wilson PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC CO. P.O. Box 7442 San Francisco, CA 94120

Gail L Slocum PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC CO Law Department PO Box 7442 San Francisco CA 94120

Rufus Hightower CITY OF PASADENA Department of Water & Light 150 Los Robles Ave., Ste. 200 Pasadena, CA 91101

Manuel A. Robledo DEPARIMENT OF WATER & POWER 200 S. Los Roblés Ave. Pasadena, CA 91101

Patrick J. Power, Attny 2101 Webster Street, #1500 Oakland, CA 94612

Donald W. Schoenbeck RCS, INC. 900 Washington Street-Ste 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660

MARK ROBERGE 353 Sacramento St., Ste. 600 San Francisco, CA 94111

K. Melville/J. Vaccaro, Attys SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC CO. P.O. Box 1831 San Diego, CA 92112

.

Fabian Numez Project Director SAVE OUR SERVICES COALITION 3010 Wilshire Blvd., P.O. Box 491 Los Angeles, CA 90010

Keith R. McCrea, Att. at Law SUIHERLAND, ASBILL & BRENNAN 1275 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20004-2403

Steven Harris TRANSMESTERN PIPELINE CO. P.O. Box 1188 Houston, TX 77251-1188

Michael B. Day/James Mc Tarmaghan WRIGHT & TALISMAN 100 California St., Ste. 1140 San Francisco, CA 94111

ALJ Mark S Wetzell Rm. 5109 CPUC

ALJ Ryerson Rm. 5043 CPUC

ALJ Wheatland Rm 5116 CPUC

Philip Weisnehl Rm 5114 CPUC

Kathleen Maloney, Legal Rm 5024 CPUC

Michael C Amato Room 4012 CPUC

Bernard Ayanruch Room 4011 CPUC

Gregory Wilson Room 4208 CPUC Atalie Walsh Room 3102 CPUC

Maryam Ebke CACD CPUC

Robert Feraru Room 5303 CPUC

Scarlett Liang-Vejio Room 3-E CPUC

ENERGY BRANCH Room 3102 CPUC

Catherine A Johnson Rm.4300 CPUC

Michael D. Batham, Rsrch Engr. CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 - 9th Street, MS 43 Sacramento, CA 95814

John Yager Rm. 4208 CPUC

Mahendra Jhala Rm. 4205 CPUC

Terry R, Mowrey Room 4209 CPUC

Michael L. McNamara 1 Room 4002 CPUC

David Morse Room 4102 CPUC

Barbara Ortega CA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 107 S. Broadway, Room 5109 Los Angeles, CA 90012

Oward E. Lubow OVERLAND CONSULTING 7007 College Blvd., Suite 705 Overland Park, KS 66211

DECISION NO. BILLING CODE NO. OF PAGES DECISION MAILED DECISION SIGNED

Aldyn Hoekstra CAMBRIDGE ENERGY RESEARCH ASSOCIATES 1999 Harrison Street, Suite 950 Oakland, CA 94612

Bruce Fostér SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON 601 Van Ness Avé., Suite 2040 San Francisco, CA 94102

Lon W. House ASSN OF CALIF WATER AGENCIES 4901 Flying 'C' Road Shingle Springs, CA 95682

Michael Boccadoro, Exec. Dir. AGRICLIRL ENERGY CONSUMES ASSN 1225 - 8th St., Suite 425 Sacramento, CA 95814

Evelyn K. Elsesser/Michael P Alcantar Leslie Bottomly ATER WINNE HEWITT DODSON & SKERRITT 222 SW Columbia, Ste. 1800 Portland, OR 97201

Barbara Barkovich, Principal BARKOVICH AND YAP, INC. 31 Excalyptus Lane San Rafael, CA 94901-2304

Catherine Yap BARKOVICH & YAP 2000 Powell St., Suite 800 Emeryville, CA 94602

Reed Schmidt, Sr. Consultant BARILE WELLS ASSOCIATE 1636 Bush Street San Francisco, CA 94109

Richard Hamilton, Atty at Law The Law Office of Richard L. Hamilton 100 Howe AVE STE 230 N Sacramento, CA 95825 John Chandley/Caryn Hough, Atty. at Law

CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 - 9th Street, MS 14 Sacramento, CA 95814

John D. Quinley COGENERATION SERVICE BUREAU 1415 Dawes Street Novato, CA 94947

Matthew V Brady, Special Counsel DEPARIMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES Suite 1100 300 Capitol Mail Sacramento, CA 95814

Donald Korn, Principal DHK ASSOCIATES 355 North San Antonio Road Los Altos, CA 94022

Philip Stohr/Ronald Liebert DOWNEY BRAND SEYMOUR & ROHMER 555 Capitol Mall, 10th Floor Sacramento, CA 95825-4686

Karen Peterson/Carolyn A Baker EDSON AND MODISETTE 925 L Street, Suite 1490 Sacramento, CA 95814

Mona L Petrochko Manager of State Regulatory Affairs ENRON CAPITAL & TRADE RESOURCES, INC. 600 Montgomery Street 43rd Floor San Francisco, CA 94111

Kenneth K. Okel, Atty at Law GTE CALIFORNIA, INCORPORATED One GTE Place, RC 3300 Thousand Oaks, CA 91362-3811

Peter Hanschen, Atty at Law GRAHAM AND JAMES One Maritime Plaza, Suite 300 San Francisco, CA 94111

Dian M. Grueneich, Atty at Law GRUENEICH RESOURCE ADVOCATES 582 Market Street, Suite 407 San Francisco, CA 94104

David Branchcomb, Vice Pres. HENWOOD ENERGY SERVICES, INC. 2555 Third Street, Suite 110 Sacramento, CA 95818 Jan Smutny-Jones, Exec. Dir. INDEPNDT ENERGY PRODUCERS ASSN

1112 "I" Street, Suite 380 Sacraménto, CA 95814

Jeff Nahigian/William Marcus/Gayatri Schilberg J B S ENERGY, INC. 311 "D" Street, Suite A West Sacramento, CA 95605

Norman Pedersen, Atty at Law JONES DAY REAVIS & POGUE Suite 4600 555 West Fifth Street Los Angeles, CA 90013

DOUGLAS K. KERNER ATTORNEY AT LAW 5180 Cameron Road Cameron Park, CA 95682

Yvonne W. Ladson LADSON ASSOCIATES 870 Market Street, Suite 765 San Francisco, CA 94102

John W Leslie, Esq. LUCE, FORWARD, HAMILTON & SCRIPPS Suite 2600 600 West Broadway San Diego, CA 92101

Jerry Bloom, Attorney at Law MORRISON AND FOERSTER 425 Market Street San Francisco, CA 94105-2482

Robert B. Weisenmiller/Alan Compes MORSE RICHARD WEISENMILLER AND ASSOCIATES 1999 Harrison St., Ste 1440 Oakland, CA 94612

Norman Funita, Atty at Law DEPARIMENT OF THE NAVY NAVAL FACILITIES ENGRG COMMAND 900 Commodore Drive (CODE 09C) San Bruno, CA 94066-2402

Rogers Peters/Harry Long, Jr. PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC CO. P.O. Box 7442, Legal Dept. San Francisco, CA 94106

Bruce Hellebuyck Regulatory Policy Director PACIFICORP 825 N.E. Multhomah, Suite 625 Portland, OR 97232 effrey M Parrott/LEGAL DIVISION SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC CO. 101 Ash Street San Diego, CA 92101-3096

John Nunn/David M. Norris SIERRA PACIFIC POWER COMPANY P.O. Box 10100 Reno, NV 89520-0100

Gloria Ing/Michael Mackness Larry R Cope/Florence pinigis SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON CO. 2244 Walnut Grove Avenue St 349 Rosenead, CA 91770

Stephen E Pickett SOUHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY P. O. Box 800 2244 Walnut Grove Ave. Rosemead, CA 91770

Robert B. Keeler/Glen J Sullivan. Attorney SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS CO. 633 W. Fifth St., Suite 5200 Los Angeles, CA 90071-2071

Thomas R. Sheets, Atty at Law SOUTHMEST GAS CORPORATION P. O. BOX 98510 Las Vegas, NV 89193-8510

Catherine George, Atty. at Law SUTHERLAND, ASBILL & BRENNAN 358 Frederick Street, Suite 4 San Francisco, CA 94117

M.Florio/R.Finkelstein, Esqrs./Theresa L Mueller THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 625 Polk Street, Suite 403 San Francisco, CA 94102

David Meyer, General Counsel PAINE HAMBLEN COFFIN BROOKE AND MILLER 1200 Washington Finacial Center Spokane, WA 99204

(END OF APPENDIX C)

R.87-11-012/A.95-06-002 D.97-07-054

COMMISSIONER HENRY M. DUQUE, DISSENTING IN PART:

Throughout my deliberations on the proposed decision and the alternate pages, I have been supportive of simplifying the indexing formula. However, in examining ways to simplify the indexing formula, most proposed approaches focused on increasing the productivity factor to achieve a similar revenue requirement result as the TURN/DGS formula. This is the approach that President Conlon's alternate took and is the approach adopted in this decision. I reviewed President Conlon's alternate pages with great interest, given my preference for a simple formula. However, I ultimately concluded that if we believe that the results of the TURN/DGS methodology are sound, and by adjusting the productivity factor we were simply trying to emulate those results using a different formula, that we should adopt the TURN/DGS methodology. The complexity in the formula is in its development, not in its implementation, as it relies on the same inputs as the more simple formula. I believe that the proposed decision prepared by the ALJ accurately reflected productivity in the productivity factor, and accurately reflected the declining rate base in the indexing formula. In my opinion, the alternate approach adopted in this decision masks the declining rate base issue in the productivity factor and this is why the adopted productivity factor in the proposed decision was so different from that in the alternate pages.

For these reasons, I file this partial dissent regarding the indexing formula.

Ist HENRY M. DUQUE Henry M. Duque Commissioner

I concur with Commissioner Duque's partial dissent.

Isiah L. Neeper Commissioner

San Francisco, California July 16, 1997

R.87-11-012/A.95-06-002 D.97-07-054

H•1

COMMISSIONER HENRY M. DUQUE, DISSENTING IN PART:

Throughout my deliberations on the proposed decision and the alternate pages, I have been supportive of simplifying the indexing formula. However, in examining ways to simplify the indexing formula, most proposed approaches focused on increasing the productivity factor to achieve a similar revenue requirement result as the TURN/DGS formula. This is the approach that President Conlon's alternate took and is the approach adopted in this decision. I reviewed President Conlon's alternate pages with great interest, given my preference for a simple formula. However, I ultimately concluded that if we believe that the results of the TURN/DGS methodology are sound, and by adjusting the productivity factor we were simply trying to emulate those results using a different formula, that we should adopt the TURN/DGS methodology. The complexity in the formula is in its development, not in its implementation, as it relies on the same inputs as the more simple formula. I believe that the proposed decision prepared by the ALJ accurately reflected productivity in the productivity factor, and accurately reflected the declining rate base in the indexing formula. In my opinion, the alternate approach adopted in this decision masks the declining rate base issue in the productivity factor and this is why the adopted productivity factor in the proposed decision was so different from that in the alternate pages.

For these reasons, I file this partial dissent regarding the indexing formula.

Commissioner

I concur with Commissioner Duque's partial dissent.

' Meyon

Obsiah L. Neeper Commissioner

San Francisco, California July 16, 1997

ALJ/VDR/tcg*

Mailed

Decision 97-07-054 July 16, 1997

JUL 2 2 1997.

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Review the Time Schedules for the Rate Case Plan and Fuel Offset Proceedings.

R.87-11-012 (Filed November 13, 1987)

In the Matter of the Application of SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY to Adopt Performance Based Regulation ("PBR") for Base Rates to be Effective January 1, 1997.

Application 95-06-002 (Filed June 1, 1995)

(See Appendix C for appearances.)

-1-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Subject

OPINION
I. Summary of Decision
II. Background of Application
A. Description of Applicant2
B. Procedural History
C. Proposed Decision
D. Comments on Proposed Decision
E. Description of SoCal's Proposal6
1. Rate Indexing
a) Core Demand Forecast
b) Noncore Demand Forecast and Rates8
2. Index to be Applied8
a) Inflation Measure
b) Productivity Factor9
c) Starting Rate Level10
d) Exclusions
e) "Z" Factor Adjustments 11
f) Adjustments for Gain or Loss on Sale
g) Cost of Capital
h) Effective Date and Term of PBR Rates
i) Maintenance of Service Quality13
j) Employee Safety14
k) New Products and Services
1) Rate Design Changes14
m) Storage Costs
n) Monitoring and Evaluation16
o) Base Margin16
III. Discussion
A. Introduction: Performance-based Ratemaking
B. The SoCal PBR Proposal Must be Modified to be Acceptable, but Much of
SoCal's PBR Proposal is Consistent with our Stated Goals for PBRs
1. The SoCal PBR Proposal Violates the Terms of the Global Settlement 21
2. The Absence of a Sharing Mechanism is Inconsistent with
Commission Policy
3. The SoCal PBR Must be Modified Because it Does not Simplify
Regulation
4. Certain Features of the Proposal are not Related to Performance-based
Ratemaking, and Should not be Adopted by the Commission as an
Aspect of SoCal's PBR Proposal

Subject

B.	The SoCal PBR Proposal Must be Modified to be Acceptable,	
	but Much of SoCal's PBR Proposal is Consistent with our Stated	
	Goals for PBRs (Cont'd)	
	5. Conclusion: The SoCal PBR Methodology must be Modified for	
	Adoption by the Commission	
C.	The Commission's Adopted PBR	
	1. Indexing Method	.26
	a) Inflation Measure	.26
	b) Productivity Factor	.27
	(1) Industry Productivity Measure	. 28
	(2) "Stretch" Factor	.28
	c) Quantity Indexed	. 29
	d) Adopted Indexing Formula	
	2. Sharing Mechanism	.38
	3. Exclusions	.42
	4. "Z" Factors	
	5. Core Pricing Flexibility	.45
	6. Implementation Date	.47
	7. "Offramp" Provisions	.47
	a) Cost of Capital Trigger	.48
	b) Rate of Return Offramp	. 49
	c) Mid-course Review	.50
	d) Termination	.52
	8. Service Quality, Customer Satisfaction, and Safety Incentives	.54
	9. Additional Customer Service Issues	.56
	10. Monitoring and Evaluation	
D.	New Products and Services	6À -
E.	Base Margin	64
	1. Introduction	
	2. Nonlabor Escalation Rate	
	3. Customer Accounts (Accounts 901, 902, 903, 904, Sub-Account 184.103)	65
	4. Late Payment Charges	
	5. Gas Storage, Transmission, and Distribution Expenses	
	6. Marketing Expenses	
	7. Administrative and General Accounts	67
	a) Consultant Fees (Account 920)	
	b) Executive Compensation (Account 920 and 921)	
	c) Outside Expenses	
	(1) Stock Options Expenses (Account 923)	
	(2) Lobbying Expenses	

/

.

	Subject	Page
	c) Outside Expenses (Cont'd)	
	(3) Affiliate Transactions	68
	(4) Multifactor Allocation Formula (Account 920)	
	(5) Law Department Rent (Account 923)	
	d) Insurance Expenses (Account 924)	
	e) Injuries and Damages (Account 925)	
	f) Franchise Fees (Account 927)	
	g) Regulatory Commission Expenses (Account 928)	
	h) Rents (Account 931)	
	(1) Gas Company Tower	
	(2) Other Lease Savings	
	(3) Other Net Savings	
	i) Maintenance of General Plant (Account 935)	
	j) Employee Pension and Benefits (Account 926)	
	k) PBOPs Overcollections During 1992-1995 (Account 926)	
	1) Capitalization of Administrative and General Expenses	
8.	Clearing Accounts	
	a) Call Center Communication Expenses (Sub-Account 184.003)	
	b) Communications (Account 184.7)	
	c) Calculation Errors	
<u>9</u> .	Rate Base	
	a) Beginning Plant	
	(1) Lines 6902, 325, and 6900	
	(2) GasSelect Restructure Project	
	(3) Gas Energy Management Systems (GEMS).	
	(4) Torrance and Mountain View Headquarters	80
	(5) Pacer Project	80
	(6) Overhead Capitalization	81

Subject

E. Base Margin (Cont'd)	
10. Depreciation Expenses	
a) Plant Balances for 1995 Plant	
b) Estimated 1996 Net Plant Additions	
c) CIS	
d) Torrance and Mountain View Facilities	
e) Capitalized Overheads	
f) Depreciation Reserve Account	
11. Taxes.	
12. Research, Development and Demonstration (RD&D)	
Findings of Fact	
Conclusions of Law.	
ORDER.	
Appendix A - Customer Satisfaction, Employee Safety, and Service Quality Appendix B - Tables Establishing Base Margin Appendix C - List of Appearances	

.

:

OPINION

I. Summary of Decision

In this decision we consider a proposal by Southern California Gas Company (SoCal or applicant) for adoption of performance-based ratemaking (PBR) for the portion of SoCal 's rates that recovers the costs of providing gas utility service that the Commission has reviewed in the past through the General Rate Case (GRC) process.¹

Our decision today adopts a PBR system for SoCal which differs in several respects from the proposal advanced by SoCal. Most significantly, we adopt a system which requires SoCal to share with ratepayers the savings produced by the indexing method. We also adopt an indexing method, adjustments and exclusions, provisions to insure that high standards of service quality and safety are maintained, and a base margin to which the indexing will be applied.

Our decision is effective immediately. The rates based upon our adopted base margin revisions shall become effective August 1, 1997. The PBR mechanism shall become effective January 1, 1998, unless SoCal elects to operate under the mechanism effective as of January 1, 1997.

II. Background of Application

A. Description of Applicant

SoCal is an investor-owned utility subject to the jurisdiction of this Commission. It is engaged in the transmission, storage, and distribution of natural gas. SoCal is the principal subsidiary of Pacific Enterprises.

B. Procedural History

SoCal filed its application on June 1, 1995. Filing of the formal application was preceded by a series of workshops held by SoCal in December 1994 and January

¹ SoCal uses the term "regulation" rather than "ratemaking" to characterize its proposal, but the rubric refers to a method for adjusting rates annually without prior Commission approval of the adjustment. The Commission has used the term "performance-based ratemaking" in similar proceedings previously, and does so here for the sake of consistency.

1995, in which SoCal met with interested parties to present the contemplated proposal. SoCal's application includes some changes from its original proposed concept, which were made after the workshops.⁴

Before filing the application SoCal also requested a suspension of the requirement to file a test year (TY) 1997 GRC. SoCal's last GRC had been for TY 1994, and its TY 1997 GRC was due to be filed under the Commission's rate case plan. The reason given by SoCal for its request was that it was actively pursuing a PBR system to become effective February 1, 1997, eliminating the requirement for a TY 1997 GRC. In Decision (D.) 95-04-072 in Rulemäking (R.) 87-11-012, the Commission granted the suspension, subject to conditions designed to protect ratepayers from the risks created by that suspension. The order also directed the Commission's staff to conduct an audit, as required at least every three years under Public Utilities (PU) Code 314.5, in connection with the PBR proceeding. The Commission later extended the order, suspending the requirement to file a TY 1998 GRC because the PBR application was being processed in a timely manner.

The assigned administrative law judge (ALJ) held prehearing conferences (PHCs) on September 25, 1995, and January 29, 1996. In response to a joint motion filed January 4, 1996 to request a specified procedural schedule, the ALJ ruled that SoCal must serve its recorded data for 1995 on February 14, 1996, and make a supplemental showing with respect to 1996 estimated expenses on June 6, 1996. This is the showing used by the parties, by agreement, to develop the base margin figures and other features of the PBR program considered here.

On October 14, 1996, Pacific Enterprises and Enova Corporation, the parent company of San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), announced that they proposed to merge, and filed an application for approval by the Commission (Application (A.) 96-10-038). The Southern California Utility Power Pool and the

² Conceptually, the most significant of these was a change from the Consumer Price Index (CPI) to an industry-specific index in the indexing formula.

productivity through sales. On the base margin side, SoCal criticizes the resolution of a number of individual items on the grounds of legal or factual error.

ORA generally supports the PD as a whole, but in its comments offers a series of recommendations which would make the decision clearer and conceptually tighter, consistent with the adopted resolution of major issues. ORA also suggests corrections to a number of figures based on inadvertent factual errors.

SCE also generally supports the PD, but suggests certain clarifications and corrections.

SDG&B's comments are critical of the adopted indexing methodology and the PD's description of other PBR decisions, and of two of the items in the base margin section, the treatment of the Torrance and Mountain View facilities and the removal of Line 6900 from rate base.

SCUPP/IID reiterates concerns expressed by other parties about an ambiguity in the effective date of the decision, and about the discussion of exclusion of costs for Lines 6900 and 6902 from rate base.

CEC's brief comments are generally supportive of the PD, but suggests two changes: that energy efficiency funds be transferred to the Energy Efficiency Board, and that \$5 million of SoCal's energy efficiency budget be allocated for market transformation efforts.

Enron and the Insulation Contractors Association filed comments that are directed specifically at the issue of unregulated new products and services, but are fully supportive of the PD. Certain of the other comments contain discussions of the new products and services issue.

Reply comments were filed by SoCal, ORA, SCE, DGS, NRDC, TURN, Enron, and the Plumbing-Heating-Cooling Contractors.

Revisions to the PD made in response to the comments and replies are reflected in this final decision. Additional revisions were made to correct or clarify the text. All areas changed are indicated on the margin.

-5-

Imperial Irrigation District (SCUPP/IID) and Southern California Edison Company (SCE) moved to suspend the procedural schedule in this proceeding in contemplation of these merger plans, but the ALJ denied that request by ruling dated October 23, 1996. The assigned commissioner denied reconsideration of that request on November 14, 1996.

The formal evidentiary hearing commenced December 2, 1996, and concluded December 19, 1996. Two rounds of briefs were filed, and the proceeding was submitted on February 14, 1997.

C. Proposed Decision

The Proposed Decision of ALJ Ryerson (PD) was filed on April 21, 1997, pursuant to \$311(d) of the Public Utilities (PU) Code and Rule 77.1 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules).³

D. Comments on Proposed Decision

Comments on the PD were filed by SoCal, ORA, SCE, SDG&E, SCUPP/IID, CEC, Enron, and Insulation Contractors Association. The Commission also received a letter from TURN indicating that it would not file comments, but would reserve the option to file replies to the comments of other parties.

SoCal's comments are critical of several aspects of the PD's treatment of both policy issues (i.e., the PBR mechanism) and the base margin. Specifically, SoCal criticizes the TURN/DGS formula adopted by the decision as being company-specific in nature, contrary to our policy of using external industry yardsticks; the stretch factor as being too rigorous in light of SoCal's recent history of productivity gains; the absence of pricing flexibility; the adoption of revenue indexing rather than rate indexing; and the absence of "tools" (particularly pricing flexibility) to enable it to attain greater

³ The PD was issued before the expiration of the 90-day statutory time limit following submission at the request of the applicant and the Commission, in order to facilitate coordination with A.96-10-038.

E. Description of SoCal's Proposal

The application proposes a new method for revising SoCal's rates annually by applying an index, based upon a measure of recorded input price inflation less a productivity factor, to its rates. The productivity factor would be fixed at this time, and would not be revised during the minimum five-year term that the new ratemaking system is proposed to be in effect, but adjustments to certain aspects of the rates would be made by annual rate revision filed by SoCal. In this section we describe the specific features of the PBR methodology SoCal has proposed.⁴

1. Rate Indexing

SoCal proposes to index core and noncore base rates and certain miscellaneous charges, as opposed to indexing total authorized margin or authorized margin per customer, i.e., revenue requirement. This means that rates would be indexed directly to inflation less the pre-set productivity factor. SoCal claims that its proposal for rate indexing "fixes the throughput forecast used to set rates over the PBR period and puts utility shareholders at risk/reward for any differences between forecast and actual throughput and customer count." (SoCal Opening Brief, p. 44.) SoCal asserts that its ratepayers will benefit, because the level of rates, in real terms, is guaranteed to decline over the period that this mechanism is in effect, by reason of enforced productivity gains over the period. SoCal supports this contention with a ten-year backcast analysis demonstrating that PBR would have resulted in rates 13% lower than under traditional "cost-plus" ratemaking.

a) Core Demand Forecast

The methodology chosen by SoCal is rate indexing, which depends upon fixing a specific throughput forecast for calculating the rate level at the

⁴ The details of SoCal's proposal are contained in prepared testimony and exhibits that were initially filed as part of the application. A number of modifications were made since the initial proposal, and the details of the current proposal, along with the supporting testimony, are contained in SoCal's direct testimony (Exh. 1-Exh. 33) and the jointly sponsored testimony (Exh. 200-Exh. 210) received at the evidentiary hearing.

outset. For core rates SoCal proposes that we adopt its recorded 1996 customer count and core throughput, normalized to average temperature conditions, in establishing the starting point for indexing. Also, because the current core rates are based upon throughput which uses a "normal" temperature measure that is set too low in relation to updated temperature averages, SoCal proposes to change this measure in establishing this starting point.

Under current ratemaking, a balancing account called the Core Fixed Cost Account (CFCA) operates to insure that SoCal over time will recover in rates exactly the amount of Commission-authorized margin, regardless of the actual level of customer demand (i.e., core throughput). However, if throughput is foreordained as part of the base margin, this balancing account cannot function. Core demand (throughput) will in fact vary because of variations in average temperatures from year to year, but rates cannot be adjusted because the throughput figure is set beforehand. As part of its proposal, SoCal therefore would eliminate the CFCA and substitute two other devices, the Weather Normalization Mechanism (WNM) and the Energy Efficiency Adjustment Factor (EEAF), to adjust rates in its place.

The WNM would adjust core rates to reflect differences in throughput due to differences between recorded and normal temperature conditions. The WNM would be used to adjust the bill of each customer at the time the bill is issued for variations from normal temperature conditions in the period for which the bill is rendered.³ SoCal contends that this is appropriate because temperature conditions are wholly beyond the control of its management, and temperature variations could create large variations in core revenues relative to its authorized return on equity.

The EEAF would adjust rates for the effect on revenues from core throughput lost each year due to gas conservation and energy efficiency measures actually implemented by SoCal's customers. Under SoCal's proposal, the first 0.3% of

-7-

⁵ The WNM would apply only to core customers, and would exclude core gas engine and airconditioning customers, because their load is basically not sensitive to heating requirements.

rate impact would not be adjusted for, on the presumption that the PBR index already reflects that impact. SoCal also proposes to cap the amount of EEAF adjustment at 1.0% annually. SoCal argues that implementing the EEAF as part of its proposal would be justified, because it eliminates SoCal's incentive to discourage conservation, as the PBR mechanism rewards the utility for selling more gas. SoCal also argues that the EEAF would eliminate the reduction in its earnings that would be caused by governmentmandated or subsidized conservation measures.

b) Noncore Demand Forecast and Rates

The methodology proposed for fixing noncore rates for PBR indexing is entirely different, principally because of the effect of an agreement, the Global Settlement, that has been adopted by the Commission. The Global Settlement provides that, from August 1, 1994 through July 31, 1999, SoCal will calculate noncore rates based upon 1991 actual throughput. SoCal therefore proposes to use two sets of noncore rates for PBR indexing. The first is based upon 1996 adjusted base margin and allocation, but uses 1991 throughput. The second is based upon 1996 base margin and 1996 throughput, calculated in the same manner as the first set, but not effective until August 1, 1999. In its proposal, SoCal refers to these as "shadow rates." Both sets of rates rely, however, upon the use of a fixed throughput figure for establishing the base rate for PBR indexing.

2. Index to be Applied

a) Inflation Measure

The inflation measure proposed by SoCal is a weighted average of recorded indices of prices for labor operating and maintenance (O&M) costs, nonlabor O&M costs, and capital-related costs.⁶ In the price index, the measure for labor O&M is the index of average hourly earnings of workers in gas production and distribution as reported by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. The measure for

* SoCal refers to this measure as the gas utility input price index, or GUPI.

- 8 -

nonlabor O&M is the Data Resources, Inc. (DRI)/McGraw Hill nonlabor O&M index for gas utilities. The inflation measure for capital-related costs is based upon the DRI/McGraw Hill indices for capital service prices and for the price of gas distribution capital goods. These measures would be weighted according to the average of expenditures in each category by SoCal for the past five years. Although a forecast of inflation would be used, the forecast would be trued up to recorded inflation at the next annual PBR rate adjustment. Rates for a year would be set using the latest available forecast for the price index elements for that forthcoming year, and the following year's rate filing would include an adjustment to true up any difference the forecast and actual price index.

b) Productivity Factor

SoCal proposes to employ a constant productivity factor of 1.0% per year as the second element of the PBR adjustment mechanism. SoCal's selection of this figure is based upon two components: historical gas distribution average productivity of 0.5%, plus a factor of 0.5% as an incentive to improve productivity over past performance.' SoCal asserts that this 1% total productivity factor, which would be applied for the entire period that PBR rates are in effect, affords an adequate incentive for the company to strive for greater efficiency.

In support of the component percentages, SoCal offers a study of 49 gas utilities nationwide as evidence that the 0.5% productivity increase is close to the national average.⁴ The additional 0.5% "stretch factor" is essentially based upon the company's judgment of productivity gains that can reasonably be anticipated. SoCal asserts that this figure is consistent with Commission precedent and policy, and argues that a higher percentage would be unreasonable or unattainable in light of the

⁷ SoCal refers to this element of the productivity factor as a "stretch factor" or "consumer dividend."

^{*} This was a multifactor productivity study of the gas local distribution service delivery industry conducted by Christensen Associates, which found the historic range to be 0.4% to 0.5%. (Exh. 5.)

cost forecasts and cost relationships upon which higher factors proposed by other parties rely.

c) Starting Rate Level

SoCal proposes that its level of base rates for 1997 would be determined by applying the PBR index to a starting level of rates and to the existing level of miscellaneous charges.' Establishment of the starting level is based upon a "test year" showing and analysis resembling that for a GRC. The basis selected for analysis is SoCal's calendar year 1996 internal operating budget. The approach to setting base margin in 1997 under PBR is to take the figure representing the reasonable level of expense and rate base for SoCal in 1996, and to adjust that revenue requirement for one year with the PBR index adopted by the Commission in this proceeding. This will produce rates to be in effect when a PBR decision goes into effect in 1997.

d) Exclusions

Certain costs would not be recovered through the portion of rates that would be subject to the PBR index. These would remain subject to recovery through other existing ratemaking mechanisms. In general, the principle behind these exclusions from PBR is that the costs are already subject to incentive-type mechanisms, that they are beyond SoCal's control, or that the level of expenditure is specifically authorized by this Commission or by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) in separate proceedings. The specific costs proposed to be excluded are discussed later in this decision.

^{*} The "base rate" is the part of rates reflecting gas margin, and excluding gas costs, pipeline demand charges, and other specifically identified items; it is only the base rate that is guaranteed to be reduced under PBR. Final rates measured in constant dollars will decline unless increases in gas costs and excluded items more than offset the reduction in the indexed portion of the rate. (Exh. 1, p. 13.)

e) "Z" Factor Adjustments

A "Z" factor, as recognized by this Commission, is an exogenous and unforeseen event largely beyond the utility's control that has a material impact upon the utility's costs. Examples of Z factors include accounting rule changes adopted by governing boards and agencies, state and federal tax law changes, and new government mandates.

SoCal proposes that its rates be adjusted, either upward or downward, by the amount of change in its costs exceeding a one-time \$5 million "deductible" amount per qualifying Z factor. The amount of change in SoCal's costs subject to Z factor treatment would be reduced by the amount by which SoCal would already be compensated by the inflation factor in the PBR index formula. SoCal also proposes a specific procedure for handling each Z factor event.

f) Adjustments for Gain or Loss on Sale

SoCal proposes an adjustment in rates in addition to the PBR index if the company sells at a gain or loss land that was acquired and held in rate base before the implementation of PBR. SoCal proposes to credit its customers with one-half of the gain, but SoCal could request, on a case-by-case-basis, that the Commission authorize a smaller sharing of gain from the sale and replacement of a particular parcel of land, when the benefit from the sale and replacement to SoCal is less than the 50% of gain that it would otherwise have to refund in rates. Sales of all or a portion of a distribution system qualifying for allocation to shareholders under the holding of Decision (D.) 89-07-016 (City of Redding II), 32 CPUC2d 233 (1989), would not produce any reduction in rates under PBR. There would be no adjustment in rates for purchase or sale of land acquired after implementation of PBR.

g) Cost of Capital

SoCal does not propose to make any changes in PBR indexed rates in response to changes in costs of capital, except in the event that the 12-month trailing average yield on long-term Treasury Bonds increases or decreases radically, i.e, more than 250 basis points from the DRI average rate for the calendar year

1997 forecast, as adopted in SoCal's1997 cost of capital proceeding.⁶ During at least the minimum five-year term of PBR, SoCal proposes not to file annual cost of capital applications, and rates would not be adjusted for changes in the cost of debt, preferred or common equity capital, or changes in capital structure, unless variation exceeded the 250 basis point "trigger."

In the event that the trigger is exceeded by an increase in interest rates, SoCal proposes to have the option to file a cost of capital application; in the event of a 250 basis point decrease, SoCal would be required to file a cost of capital application. In either event the Commission would determine whether any change in rates was appropriate in light of all factors affecting the cost of capital. Any rate change, whether an increase or decrease, would be prospective only from the effective date of a Commission decision.

h) Effective Date and Term of PBR Rates

SoCal initially proposed that its PBR mechanism would become effective on January 1, 1997, and would continue for a minimum term of five years, through year-end 2001. However, the time required to process the application has not permitted implementation of a PBR by the original target date, necessitating an adjustment of the proposed implementation schedule. Under the revised schedule SoCal continues to propose a five-year minimum term for PBR, and thus the original dates for all events would be extended to dates corresponding to the additional time involved in concluding the proceeding. Assuming the Commission issues a decision placing PBR rates in effect on July 1, 1997, the minimum term of the PBR would expire on June 30, 2002.

SoCal proposes that no change be made in PBR indexing during the five-year minimum term of the proposed mechanism, except to the extent such express features as Z factor adjustments and cost of capital revisions require. SoCal therefore asks that we forgo provision for any formal midterm review process,



[™] See D.96-11-060.

continuous "forum" proceeding, or "off-ramp" that would permit or require suspension of the PBR during the initial five-year term.

SoCal proposes that the PBR continue automatically beyond the minimum period, unless changed at the behest of a party or the Commission. At any time after June 30, 2000, any party, or the Commission on its own motion, could institute a proceeding to change or replace the PBR mechanism effective on or after the expiration date.

i) Maintenance of Service Quality

In order to insure that SoCal's focus on increased productivity through cost reductions does not have a deleterious effect upon the quality of service, SoCal proposes a mechanism to ensure the maintenance of service quality during the period when the PBR rates are in effect. Originally, SoCal proposed a service quality guarantee for core customers based upon random customer telephone survey responses to questions concerning customer satisfaction with SoCal's call center response time; call center employee performance; field service employee response time; and field service employee performance. SoCal proposed the adoption of a benchmark for its performance, namely, the average recorded level of customer satisfaction for July 1993 through June 1996 in random surveys on these four service dimensions. A "deadband" below this benchmark would allow for some sampling error, but below the deadband the company would be required to reduce rates in increments of \$1 million per year up to a maximum of \$4 million per year for failure to meet the criterion. No incentive was proposed for exceeding the benchmark for customer satisfaction. SoCal proposed to retain its existing Service Interruption Credit (SIC) mechanism for service to noncore customers, but did not propose any other service guarantees for noncore customers in recognition that competition provides an incentive for SoCal to assure adequate, efficient, just, and reasonable service to noncore customer.

Subsequent negotiations among the parties produced a proposal for a somewhat different customer satisfaction measure. The concept of this proposal is essentially the same as that of the one it replaces in the original application.

- 13 -

j) Employee Safety

Originally, SoCal did not propose any specific safety performance measures for public, customer, or employee safety, on the assumption that existing federal and state safety laws and regulations mandate standards with which SoCal must comply. However, SoCal, TURN, and ORA have agreed to propose an annual employee safety standard which would be used to adjust rates if SoCal's performance fell below or above the standard by a material margin.

The proposed standard is 9.3 incidents per 200,000 hours worked, with a deadband of 1.0 incidents in each direction, measured annually from the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Recordable Injury and Illness Rate. Should the annual rate exceed 10.3 incidents, customers would receive a rate reduction through the annual rate adjustment filing process. Conversely, SoCat would receive a reward through the annual rate adjustment filing process if its performance were better than an annual rate of 8.3 incidents. The customer rate adjustment would be based upon \$20,000 for each 0.1 point above or below the deadband.

k) New Products and Services

In its application SoCal seeks authorization to offer on a competitive and unregulated basis products and services that it has not previously offered. SoCal also seeks the authorization to provide support to its non-regulated affiliates in connection with their offering of new products and services. SoCal states that these new products and services would be provided entirely at shareholder risk, and would not be funded by the rates charged for utility services.

I) Rate Désign Changes

SoCal proposes to include several changes in rate design in its program for PBR. These include changes in residential rate design, and a proposal for flexibility to negotiate rate discount agreements and offer optional rate schedules for certain core customers.

Currently, the company's monthly residential customer charge, which went into effect in 1996, is \$5.00. Effective with PBR implementation,

- 14 -

SoCal proposes to charge single-family and master meter residential customers a monthly customer charge of \$7.11, and multifamily customers \$5.47 per month. By January 1, 2001, SoCal proposes to charge a single-family and master meter residential customers a monthly customer charge of \$13.57 and multifamily customers \$10.35 per month (stated in 1996 dollars). Customer charges upon PBR implementation, and on each January 1 thereafter through 2001, would be increased by 1/5 of the difference between the 1996 customer charge of \$5 and the aforementioned 2001 charges."

Upon implementation of PBR, SoCal also proposes to reduce the differential between residential volumetric Tier I and Tier II rates from the current 35% to 10%, and to maintain this relationship at least through the end of the minimum PBR period. SoCal claims that these proposed residential design changes are necessary to bring rates more into line with costs, as fixed residential customer-related costs are currently understated, and that the increased customer charges and decreased volumetric rates will reflect the true long-run marginal cost of gas service.¹¹

SoCal proposes to be granted authority to negotiate rate discount agreements with individual core customers, and to offer core rate schedules that customers meeting the applicability requirements would have the option to select. The proposed discounting flexibility would apply only to the "base rate" element of core bundled rates. Under SoCal's proposal, negotiated agreements of less than five years' duration would not require Commission approval prior to becoming effective.

¹¹ SoCal recommends that these customer charge rate level adjustments be made on January 1 of each year in order to coincide with the other annual rate changes under the PBR index formula.

¹² SoCal proposes certain other changes in rate design in addition to these basic changes. SoCal proposes to update the submetering credit for master meter customers, and to index that credit; to reduce baseline allowances in climate zone 1 from the current 50 therms to 46 therms in winter and from the current 15 therms to 14 therms in summer, with similar reductions in climate zones 2 and 3; and to modify non-residential core rate design.

Optional core rate schedules would become effective upon filing with the Commission without the requirement of prior Commission approval, and could be withdrawn by SoCal upon 30 days' notice to the Commission, unless otherwise specified by the terms of the schedule. SoCal's authorized rates would be the default rates for qualified customers who do not want to avail themselves of the optional schedules.

m) Storage Costs

SoCal proposes to apply the PBR rate index to the base rate elements that recover the cost of storage which is currently bundled in core and noncore rates. This request was not in the original application, but was later included in its request in response to a proposal by ORA to eliminate the Noncore Storage Balancing Account (NSBA) and put SoCal wholly at risk for market demand for the costs allocated to unbundled noncore storage service when the PBR rates become effective. SoCal asserts that its request is consistent with the overall concept that PBR substitutes for a general rate case, in which the revenue requirement for bundled storage costs would otherwise have been adopted by the Commission. SoCal states that because it is proposing to be at risk for throughput under PBR, it would also be at risk for the recovery of the portion of storage costs that is bundled in transmission rates.

n) Monitoring and Evaluation

SoCal states that it recognizes the need for the Commission to monitor the functioning of the PBR mechanism and to be prepared to evaluate the program at the conclusion of the minimum term. Nevertheless, SoCal urges the elimination of a significant number of existing reporting and recordkeeping requirements, and advocates the avoidance of new reporting requirements insofar as possible, in the interest of simplifying and streamlining regulation.

o) Basé Margin

SoCal initially proposed a starting base margin which represented a \$61.2 million reduction as compared to its 1995 authorized level. Following several revisions in response to discussions with ORA, SoCal's final position

- 16 -

is a \$110 million reduction in margin compared to the 1995 authorized level. SoCal and ORA have agreed upon a variety of base margin items, and the individual items are described, along with our resolution, in the discussion below.

III. Discussion

A. Introduction: Performance-based Ratemaking

In general, performance-based ratemaking refers to any of a variety of ratemaking mechanisms designed to improve utility performance and also return financial benefits to the utility's ratepayers. Its purpose is to break the direct link between costs and rates by inserting "an independent and explicit incentive [for the utility] to increase efficiency through lowering costs," so that ratepayers will not have to bear the risk of inefficient utility operation. (D.96-09-092, mimeo., p. 14, September 20, 1996.) The mechanism itself is intended to emulate an unregulated market.

The basic PBR concept involves two basic steps:

"First, the PBR regulator sets an initial price based on the utility's observed and projected costs. Next, the regulator provides the utility with incentives to reduce these costs and pass some of the resulting savings onto the consumer. To assure that the utility does not achieve costs savings simply by cutting safety, reliability or quality, the PBR system must also include a quality-control mechanism." Navarro, "The Simple Analytics of Performance-based Ratemaking: A Guide for the PBR Regulator" (Yale Journal on Regulation 13:1 (Winter 1996), p. 107.)

The hallmarks of the PBR system under the previous practice of this Commission are an incentive device to encourage cost reduction and revenue enhancement, and a device to ensure sharing of the savings produced thereby with customers.

We first replaced traditional rate case regulation with PBR in D.89-10-031, which placed the two major California local exchange telecommunications companies under an incentive form of regulation. The mechanism we adopted is often called "CPI-X" regulation. As we explained in our most recent PBR decision, D.96-09-092, which adopted PBR regulation for SCE:

"This form of PBR regulation adopts starting rates based on an analysis of utility costs with these rates then updated in each subsequent year by a rule which includes expected changes in input prices, CPI, and productivity, X.... [W]e refer to this price less productivity adjustment, or CPI-X, as the update rule.

"To make this update of utility rates independent of the utility's costs, the price and productivity values should come from national or industry measures and not from the utility itself. The independence of the update rule from the utility's own costs allows PBR regulation to resemble the unregulated market where the firm faces market prices which develop independently of its own cost and productivity. In contrast, traditional regulation often updates rates through a review of the utility's own costs and productivity. The form of this PBR update rule of "price less productivity" or CPI-X arises from the unregulated market where, independent of demand response, a firm's output price will change to reflect changes in its input prices less its change in productivity, where productivity is simply the change in the firm's outputs less its change in inputs, both value weighted.

"Finding a measure for the price term in the update rule requires a choice between a general price index such as the well-known CPI or an industry specific index. The former choice involves less controversy but uses a general approximation to industry specific prices, and this approximation can work reasonably well during periods of generally low inflation. While the latter choice clearly tracks industry costs more closely, it does engender more controversy because often it requires construction of a new industry specific price index to track industry price changes closely. Complexity readily arises in the construction of price indices; for example, an accurate current price index for labor requires a weighted average wage for...many different classifications of workers from clerks to system engineers.

"The productivity measure should come from a forecast of industry-specific productivity. However, such studies are not common and most published econometric studies not only assume efficient operation but also use historical data. In D.89-10-031, we relied on a study of AT&T's historical productivity and expert judgment in setting the productivity value for the local exchange utilities. Realizing that technological change in telecommunications offered the opportunity for substantial productivity and wanting to encourage increased efficiency in utility operations, we added a "stretch" factor to set the productivity value or X.

"We note that improved efficiency can arise from three sources: adopting more efficient technology in meeting current demand, realizing economies of scale when expanding the operation, or reducing existing inefficiencies in the current operation. ... [P]articularly in the distribution business, the first source of productivity may contribute only selectively toward greater efficiency and lower rates. The incentives of this PBR should discover the opportunities to increase the efficiency of the current operation and thereby lower rates.

"In D.89-10-031, we also adopted a net revenue sharing rule which allows the utility to keep some of the increased net revenue which occurs if the utility can reduce its costs. Adoption of this rule should increase the utility's incentive to reduce costs. Allowing the utility to retain some of the net revenue from cost reduction efforts also resembles the competitive market where a firm can increase its profits by lowering its costs. Combined with the use of independent prices, the use of a net revenue sharing rule emulates the outcome of a competitive market.

"Thus, we see PBR as emulating the competitive process to encourage utility management to make decisions which resemble an efficient or competitive outcome. An efficient utility will control rates which benefits ratepayers. However, we want to ensure fairness to ratepayers, employees, and shareholders in the PBR process. This requires balancing potentially conflicting interests. The utility can increase short run profits through reducing variable costs, but without revenue sharing such cost reductions will not lower rates. Moreover, such reductions not only can affect staff immediately but the service quality impact may only appear much later." (D.96-09-092, mimeo., pp. 14-16.)

We have already expressed our preference for replacing traditional costof-service regulation with performance-based regulation in those areas of the electric services industry which exhibit natural monopoly attributes. <u>See</u> Order Instituting Rulemaking and Order Instituting Investigation in R. 94-04-031 and I.94-04-032 ("Blue Book"). Our policy favoring that deployment of PBR reflects our successful experience

with it in the field of telecommunications. Certainly, we are favorably disposed to using PBR wherever it would further our regulatory goals and policies.

At the commencement of 1.94-04-003, the SCE proceeding, <u>supra</u>, we stated our goals for undertaking the development of PBR. These included:

- Improving the efficiency and performance of the utility;
- Improving incentives and removing disincentives for utility cost reductions;
- Simplifying and streamlining the regulatory process;
- Moving rates for all customer classes, in real dollars, steadily down the national average for investor-owned utilities;
- Maintaining a reasonable opportunity for the utility to earn a fair rate of return; and
- Maintaining and improving quality of service.

We still regard these as our general goals in evaluating any PBR proposal, and as the policy yardstick for measuring SoCal's proposal in the present instance.

We have embraced PBR in concept with the clear recognition of our "fundamental and enduring duty to protect California's consumers of [energy]," a duty which we have pledged not to change during the transition to a streamlined and more efficient regulatory approach. (Blue Book, p. 34.) This means that, despite our preference for PBR, we will not approve any PBR proposal just because it encourages efficiency on the part of the utility. The other part of the equation, protection of ratepayer interests, must also be satisfied.

B. The SoCal PBR Proposal Must be Modified to be Acceptable, but Much of SoCal's PBR Proposal is Consistent with our Stated Goals for PBRs

We have examined SoCal's proposal on the threshold question of whether elements of the proposed mechanism conflict with existing Commission decisions and orders, or with the policies we have articulated above. Consistent with the parties

testimony, we conclude that in several respects it does. We must therefore modify SoCal's PBR to conform to these overriding principles.

1. The SoCal PBR Proposal Violates the Terms of the Global Settlement

Both the Commission's Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA) and The Utility Reform Network (TURN) criticize SoCal's proposal as being inconsistent with the Global Settlement. That agreement was adopted in final form by the Commission in D.94-07-064, 55 CPUC2d 452 (1994), and governs a number of aspects of ratemaking for SoCal's gas utility operations for the period from August 1, 1994, through July 31, 1999, when it expires.

TURN asserts that there are five inconsistencies between SoCal's PBR proposal and the Global Settlement which preclude adoption of SoCal's proposal in its present form. First, TURN states that SoCal's proposal to base rates upon 1996 adjusted throughput violates a provision of the Global Settlement that requires rates instead to be based upon 1991 throughput. Second, TURN argues that SoCal's proposal to extend the cost allocations adopted by the Global Settlement beyond the term of that agreement would violate a provision requiring cost allocations to be determined in the 1998 Biennial Cost Allocation Proceeding (BCAP). Third, TURN alleges that the proposal to use one definition of a "normal" temperature year for setting rates, and another for allocating costs between classes, to the detriment of the core class, also violates the Global Settlement. Fourth, TURN claims that SoCal's proposal to index rates, thus doing away with the authorized revenue requirement allocated by the Global Settlement, violates the settlement. Fifth, TURN argues that the proposal to eliminate the CFCA violates the Global Settlement, because the continued operation of that account was a basic assumption underpinning the settlement. We conclude that SoCal's PBR proposal conflicts with the Global Settlement at least in some of these respects, and that the proposal will have to be modified to avoid these conflicts.

Section II, paragraph 1, of the Global Settlement states:

"SoCal shall calculate rates based on 1991 actual throughput, with [specified adjustments] for the five-year period

- 21 -

commencing upon the date that this [settlement] becomes effective." (55 CPUC2d 458.)

Notwithstanding this language, SoCal proposes to use 1996 customer count and core throughput, normalized for average temperature conditions, to set throughput because it would be "fair and reasonable" to do so. This would vary the express language of the Global Settlement. Moreover, it would not be consistent with the table of specified average year volumes and customer counts for basing cost allocation and calculating rates during the period covered by the Global Settlement. <u>See</u> Global Settlement Implementation Appendix, Section C.1, paragraph 2 (55 CPUC2d at 469).

As justification for this variance, SoCal argues that its proposal would also eliminate the CFCA, and that use of the Global Settlement throughputs would impose upon it a \$39 million annual revenue penalty because of the resultant undercollection. We do not find SoCal's position to be persuasive. The Commission has a strong policy favoring settlements as a means of resolving issues in its proceedings, and we will not undermine that policy by changing the terms of a settlement after it becomes a Commission order.

In addition to expressly providing that cost allocation and rates during the five-year term of the Global Settlement would utilize specific throughput volumes based upon adjusted 1991 data, the Global Settlement also reflects the parties' intent that the cost allocation be terminated by the 1998 BCAP. Under the PBR, by contrast, the cost allocation would continue for the entire PBR period, some two and one half years beyond the term of the Global Settlement. The significance, as explained by TURN witness Florio, is that SoCal's approach would harm core customers because of the underlying temperature assumption used to develop the throughput for the purposes of calculating core rates. The company now uses 1506 annual heating degree days (HDDs) to define an average temperature year under the Global Settlement. SoCal's suggested reduction would reduce the average year forecast of throughput by 5%. The lower measure of HDDs suggested by SoCal for use in designing core rates

would deny ratepayers the benefit of the lower throughput forecast for purposes of cost allocation.¹⁰

The Global Settlement contemplates that there will be a specific allocation of costs to customer classes during its five-year term. Section II, paragraph 3, sets up a memorandum account to track the variance between costs allocated to noncore and wholesale markets and SoCal's actual noncore and wholesale revenues. By contrast, the PBR would not have explicit costs allocated to noncore and wholesale markets, or an annual cost used to develop the effective rates for noncore transportation service. As explained by witness Florio, the Global Settlement,

> "plainly contemplated that there would be an authorized revenue requirement that was allocated between the core and noncore markets during the entire term of the settlement. The fact that SoCal would now like to shift to a program of rate indexing cannot overcome the deal that the company made." (Ex. 55, p. 20, 1. 11-16.)

Consequently, we cannot accept this feature of the PBR proposal.

TURN argues that the Global Settlement mechanism implies that revenue variations are to be passed onto core ratepayers through the CFCA, and that elimination of the CFCA would therefore violate the intent of the Global Settlement. We agree. The Global Settlement would be unworkable without the CFCA, and SoCal's proposal would therefore violate the terms of that agreement.

2. The Absence of a Sharing Mechanism is Inconsistent with Commission Policy

In most respects, SoCal's proposal fits our model of PBR. However, the proposal omits any mechanism for sharing the savings between shareholders and ratepayers. Instead, SoCal argues that the productivity factor (or "X" factor) utilized in adjusting rates annually, and particularly the "stretch" component incorporated into that productivity factor, should be considered an "upfront" device that will adequately

¹⁰ SoCal is now willing to accept the figure of 1330 HDDs in place of the 1316 HDDs it originally proposed, but the result is essentially the same.

compensate for lack of an after-the-fact mechanism to allocate savings, because it creates a downward pressure on costs and, therefore, rates. We disagree.

In previous PBR proceedings we have rejected substitution of a productivity factor for a sharing mechanism for SDG&E and for SCE. There are several reasons for this. First, PU Code § 728 imposes upon us a duty to insure that utility rates are maintained at a level that is just and reasonable. This can only be assured if the overall level of profits is effectively controlled by placing a practical limit on how far the utility is willing to go to earn a share of the marginal profit. The consequence is that profits, and therefore rates, are maintained at reasonable levels.

A sharing mechanism is the ultimate "safety net" for ratepayers, as it corrects for the possible adoption of a productivity factor that turns out to be overly conservative, understating the productivity increases which the utility is actually able to achieve. With a sharing mechanism, if the utility attains productivity increases that exceed the adopted productivity factor, the resultant profits must be shared with the ratepayers rather than going solely to the utility. SoCal argues that this would "dilute" its incentives to achieve greater productivity goals, but we see no reason why we should fix a productivity index based upon imperfect forecasting techniques, and permit it to remain undisturbed for a five-year period, based upon speculation that this mechanism will adequately benefit the ratepayers. If the utility is actually able to reap benefits above the level reflected by the adopted productivity factor, it would not be "just and reasonable" to require ratepayers to be satisfied with only the share of savings based upon attaining the productivity estimate made at the outset of the program.

SoCal admits that the reduction in its rate base alone will result in an increase in its rate of return of 87 basis points. This is simply a consequence of depreciation of its rate base rather than cost-cutting. A sharing mechanism would insure that the ratepayers will receive their fair share of the rewards of improved productivity, however those rewards are achieved. Because a PBR with a sharing mechanism simultaneously allows higher profits than at present, and lower rates due to increased productivity, a sharing mechanism creates the potential for a "win-win" situation.

- 24 -

3. The SoCal PBR Must be Modifled Because It Does not Simplify Regulation

Certain features of SoCal's PBR proposal would also be contrary to the Commission's goal of simplifying regulation under performance-based ratemaking. Rather than eliminating balancing accounts and reducing the degree of Commission oversight, SoCal's proposal introduces altogether new concepts, the WNM and the EEAF, to reduce its level of risk. Monitoring the operation of these new devices will add to, rather than lessen, the Commission's regulatory tasks, representing a movement away from the Commission's goal of lessening the regulatory burden that is ultimately borne by ratepayers.

4. Certain Features of the Proposal are not Related to Performance-based Ratemaking, and Should not be Adopted by the Commission as an Aspect of SoCal's PBR Proposal

SoCal's proposal includes some features that are extraneous to a scheme which encourages efficiency on the part of the utility through a system of incentives. Instead, these additional features appear to have been included by SoCal as a "wish list" of items which, if authorized, would enhance the potential profitability of SoCal without rewarding ratepayers in kind. Specific examples include the proposals for major changes in residential rate design, and gain on sale exceptions, which appear to be designed only to enhance SoCal's profitability without any relation to ratepayers' interests. Residential rate design issues were addressed by the decision in SoCal's BCAP, adopted on April 23, 1997.

We are also mindful that we should not make any major changes in general industry policy in a proceeding which involves a single utility, such as this one. Questions of new products and services and gain on sale are broad ones which potentially apply to an entire class of utilities, and any major changes should be adopted in a generic proceeding to insure that they will apply evenhandedly to all utilities in the class. We must therefore refrain from addressing such proposals in this proceeding.

5. Conclusion: The SoCal PBR Methodology must be Modified for Adoption by the Commission

In recognition of these conceptual problems, we cannot adopt the PBR proposal advanced by SoCal. Doing so would contradict important Commission policies and orders, and would represent an abdication of our responsibility to ratepayers. Although we favor performance-based ratemaking as a tool for regulating utilities in the current regulatory environment, we must in some respects replace SoCal's proposal with a program which more accurately advances our regulatory goals.

C. The Commission's Adopted PBR

In this section we enumerate the essential features of our adopted PBR for SoCal. This PBR will become effective immediately. Insofar as possible it retains the elements of the SoCal proposal, but it includes changes that bring it into conformance with other decisions, goals, and policies of the Commission.

The features we adopt are: (1) the productivity index (inflation less productivity); (2) the quantity indexed; (3) exclusions and adjustments; (4) offramps and termination provisions; (5) service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety incentives; and (6) monitoring and evaluation provisions. We also establish the amount of the base margin for indexing.

1. Indexing Method

As earlier explained, we must first select the overall index (price index minus "X") to be applied to the indexed quantity in order to obtain the subsequent years' base rates.

a) Inflation Measure

SoCal is proposing an inflation measure (the GUPI) based upon a weighted average of the recorded indices of labor O&M, nonlabor O&M, and capital-related costs. In the GUPI, the measure for labor O&M is the index of average hourly earnings of workers in gas production and distribution as reported by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. The measure for nonlabor O&M is the DRI/McGraw Hill nonlabor O&M index for gas utilities. The inflation measure for capital-related costs

- 26 -

would be based on the DRI/McGraw Hill indices for capital service prices and for the price of gas distribution capital goods. These measures would be weighted according to the average of expenditures in each category for the past five years.

SoCal proposes that rates for a year would be set using the latest available forecasts for the GUPI elements for that forthcoming year at the time that SoCal makes its annual PBR rate formula rate filing, but that the next year's rate filing would include an adjustment to "true up" any difference between the forecast and actual GUPI.

SoCal originally proposed to use a weighting of input price inflation based on SoCal's own historical ratio of labor expense, nonlabor expense and capital inputs to total costs. ORA proposed using a weighting that was the average of gas operations for SoCal, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), and SDG&E. The rationale for ORA's recommendation was that it would make it easier for the Commission to administer PBRs for the three major gas utilities it regulates. In any event, a broader-based price index is consistent with the Commission's disinclination to use company-specific indexes.¹⁴ SoCal has accepted ORA's alternative.

We adopt the approach to price indexing proposed by ORA.

b) Productivity Factor

As explained earlier, the productivity or "X" factor consists of two parts. The first component is a historic measure of industry productivity. The second component represents an additional productivity target, or aspiration measure, which is based upon potential incremental productivity improvement that the utility can expect to achieve over and above the historical average. SoCal refers to this as the "stretch" factor, or "consumer dividend," because it creates downward pressure on costs and, by extension, on rates.

¹⁴ SCUPP/IID propose a weighting based on five to ten western U.S. gas utilities. This proposal is vague and undefined; the exact companies are not identified and there is no basis for comparing it to other parties' positions. It would not simplify the Commission's administration of PBR, and we will not adopt it.

(1)

Industry Productivity Measure

SoCal proposes using a historical industry

productivity measure of 0.5%. This figure was developed from the Christensen Associates study, and elicited little criticism from the parties. We adopt the 0.5% historical industry productivity figure.

> "Stretch" Factor (2)

The second component, the "stretch" factor, is more problematic. SoCal proposes that this component also be fixed at 0.5%, and claims that this is a liberal figure in relation to the productivity gains it expects to be able to achieve beyond the historical average.

ORA advocates a 1% stretch factor, double that proposed by SoCal. This would produce a total productivity factor of 1.5%. TURN/Department of General Services (DGS) supports ORA's estimate as reasonable in the long run, but believes that the pendency of the Enova-Pacific Enterprises merger will cause an increase in productivity. This is based upon the experience of witness Marcus, who testified that during the period of the SCE-SDG&E merger proposal, (1) staff members sought jobs outside the company because of organizational uncertainty and were not all replaced because of the possibility of postmerger job consolidations, and (2) capital spending was curtailed. Thus, TURN/DGS recommends adoption of a 1.5% stretch factor while the merger application is pending.

Although the subject of merger savings is not a part of our consideration here, we believe that the pendency of the merger proceeding distinguishes this period of time from that which was examined in developing SoCal's productivity and stretch factors. Given the nature of management's motivation, it is indeed likely that capital spending will be curtailed and expenses otherwise forgone before the merger is consummated or disapproved. We therefore believe that the stretch factor proposed by SoCal is likely to be conservative.

SoCal's objection to the adoption of a stretch factor greater than 0.5% is based primarily on the number of multiples of historical

- 28 -

productivity that each figure represents. Thus, SoCal states that ORA's suggestion of a 1.5% total productivity factor would be three times the historical average, and TURN/DGS's 2.5% figure would be five times the historical average. SoCal argues that this would not be reasonable.

We find that ORA's suggestion comes as close to the mark as any, particularly in view of the likelihood that disproportionately large productivity gains may be on the near-term horizon. It is appropriate to "set the bar high" in the expectation that SoCal will, indeed, stretch to maximize productivity. Were we to set too low a goal, SoCal's benefit could come at the expense of the ratepayers, even allowing for a sharing mechanism. There would be no advantage to adopting such a PBR over traditional ratemaking methodology. Nevertheless, we recognize that productivity improvements are not likely to occur all at once. Both cost reductions and revenue enhancements may take several years to come to fruition. We recognized this in D.9-09-092 in SCE's PBR when we adopted an "X" factor, including a stretch factor, which ramped up from 1.2% to 1.6% over the life of the PBR. We believe it is appropriate to take a similar approach here.

We will adopt a stretch factor that increases incrementally over the initial five-year PBR timetable resulting in an X factor of 1.1% in Year 1, 1.2% in Year 2, 1.3% in Year 3, 1.4% in Year 4, and 1.5% in Year 5.

c) Quantity Indexed

SoCal proposes to index rates directly, rather than indexing total authorized margin or authorized margin per customer, for several reasons. First, SoCal contends that this mechanism will put it at risk for the level of customer demand (throughput), and that this is the direction in which the Commission wants to move; SoCal points to the Commission's recent adoption of rate indexing for SCE to support this contention. SoCal also argues that this mechanism will best prepare it for the transition to a competitive marketplace, and will change its corporate culture. SoCal claims that rate indexing will allow the elimination of a major balancing account, the CFCA, and thus simplify regulation. Finally, SoCal argues that this approach is

- 29 -

consistent with the direction the Commission has already taken by putting SoCal at risk for a specific throughput for most noncore customers under the Global Settlement.

We do not find SoCal's arguments persuasive in relation to its unique circumstances. First, the probability of risk to the shareholders is far lower than SoCal suggests, because realistic throughput forecasts indicate a growing core market.¹⁹ In addition, SoCal's president, Mr. Mitchell, acknowledged on crossexamination that the company continues to seek new throughput opportunities, such as business ventures in Mexico. Under traditional regulation, a portion of the cost of these ventures would be allocated to the resultant new loads, reducing rates for existing customers. This would not be true under PBR. In light of these realities, we prefer not to give SoCal carte blanche to increase its throughput and apply what will almost surely be a positive index each year (reflecting inflation in excess of productivity) to actual throughput.

Preservation of the CFCA, at least through the period covered by the Global Settlement, is central to this indexing method. The Global Settlement establishes throughput based on the 1991 level. SoCal has agreed to this through the term of the agreement. Although the Global Settlement does not specifically refer to the CFCA, as SoCal says, once throughput is fixed in this fashion, the CFCA handles overcollection or undercollection from sales variations. Retention of CFCA is therefore implicit in the Global Settlement, as the mechanism will not work properly without it.

As we have already explained, retention of the CFCA in connection with throughput variations requires the use of revenue indexing. This is required by the Global Settlement. Other provisions of the Global Settlement also require the existence of a revenue requirement. These include "a memorandum account to track the variance between the costs allocated to the noncore and wholesale markets

¹⁵ <u>See</u>, for example, Exh. 62A, Attachment 7, p. 25: SoCal projects systemwide sales growth of 3.4% between the years 1996 and 2000, principally in the high-margin residential sector.

and [SoCal's] actual noncore and wholesale mechanisms," which is calculated using "a debit entry equal to one twelfth (1/12) of the authorized annual cost used to develop the effective rates for noncore transportation service including EOR [Enhanced Oil Recovery]." (TURN/DGS Opening Brief, p. 9, quoting Global Settlement, Section II, para. 3 and Implementation Appendix, p. 21.) These features preclude rate indexing, and must be retained until expiration of that agreement.

Another circumstance unique to SoCal compels us to adopt indexing of the revenue requirement, rather than rates. Specifically, the proposed Enova-Pacific Enterprises merger will create a need to track savings, which cannot be accomplished with rate indexing. Although the merger application is not directly relevant to the SoCal PBR proposal, we take notice that if we approve the merger, we will have to determine the amount of merger savings in that proceeding. Those savings are expressed in the same terms as the total revenue requirement. Indexing the total revenue requirement will enable that sum to be deducted from the pre-merger totals. On the other hand, if rates are indexed where throughput forecasts are no longer calculated, then savings cannot be passed back to customers. This means that if we were to adopt rate indexing now, we would have to revisit the subject in the merger proceeding and translate the PBR results in order to insure consistency after the merger takes place, if it is approved.

Finally, we conclude that revenue rather than rates must be indexed because SoCal's rate base is declining at the time the PBR is to go into effect. SoCal's proposal to index rates, which would fix SoCal's rate base at the 1996 level and index it for at least five years thereafter, fails to recognize this fact. Rate indexing would benefit SoCal's shareholder because its capital spending is declining. This is an important fact, as SoCal's earnings will consequently increase by 87 basis points more than its currently authorized rate of return as the sole result of depreciation."

[&]quot; SCUPP/IID considers this fact sufficient to justify retention of traditional ratemaking for SoCal rather than moving to a PBR system at this time. That course would be contrary to our policy of favoring PBR, and we believe it is too extreme. Alternatively, SCUPP/IID proposes a

The operation of depreciation is best understood in relation to the level of a utility's capital expenditures. If a utility's plant additions increase more than its plant is depreciated, rate base and associated taxes will grow. On the other hand, if the utility's plant additions are lower than its depreciation expense, the level of depreciated plant, and hence rate base, will decline. SoCal's additional capital expenditures are less than depreciation, thus significantly reducing rate base as well as the amount of return and of associated taxes. This is because SoCal is experiencing low customer growth (Exh. 52, pp. 4-5). The low customer growth rate is reducing investment requirements to a level lower than its depreciation expense, and its rate base is declining.

As explained by SCUPP/IID witness Yap, SoCal's 1995-1999 Financial Plan sets out the Company's projection of the decline in its average rate base. The table and chart on page 8-5 of the Financial Plan shows a decline beginning in 1995, acknowledging the trend: "Depreciation exceeds capital expenditures in traditional markets beginning in 1995." See Exh. 52, p. 5 (SCUPP/IID - Yap). This projection is consistent with SoCal's 1995 10-K report to the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC), which reflects a 3.4% decrease in rate base for 1995. The 10-K report projects 1996 capital expenditures of \$224 million, while SoCal's Summary of Earnings Table for 1996 filed in this proceeding projects \$255 million in depreciation (Exh. 24, Table 12-A). When compared to the \$231 million capital expenditure level and \$237 million depreciation level that accompanied the 3.4% reported decline in rate base during 1995, it is clear that the decline in rate base is accelerating. (Exh. 52, p. 5 (SCUPP/IID - Yap.))

Under traditional ratemaking, declining rate base tends to reduce rates. Declining rate base results in lower depreciation expense, return, and

methodology which would separately index the O&M portion and the capital portion of the base margin rate. This would correct for the declining rate base, but would provide an incentive for SoCal's management to substitute capital for O&M expenses wherever possible, thus perpetuating one of the disadvantages of traditional ratemaking.

associated taxes, which are reflected in lower rates. But if rate base is "frozen" and rates are indexed, they will rise despite the fact that rate base is declining.

d) Adopted Indexing Formula

For the reasons we have described, it is necessary to index SoCal's *revenues*, rather than rates. SoCal's rate indexing proposal, however, is easily adapted into an equivalent revenue-indexing mechanism. SoCal's rate indexing proposal is

PBR rates (year 2) = PBR rates (year 1) x (1 + Inflation - productivity)

This is a standard price cap formula, in its basic form identical to the ones we have adopted for Pacific Bell and GTEC, and for Southern California Edison." Recognizing that by definition SoCal's revenues are the product of rates and the quantity of gas sold or transported (throughput), this formula can be translated into an equivalent revenue setting mechanism:

PBR revenue requirement (year 2) = PBR revenue requirement (year 1) x(1 + inflation - productivity + growthin throughput)

Since throughput by definition is average throughput per customer times the number of customers, the last term—growth in throughput—can be decomposed further into the sum of customer growth and growth in throughput per customer. Making this substitution in the revenue indexing formula results in SoCal's proposal for rates translated into its equivalent for indexing revenues:

PBR rev. req. (year 2) = PBR rev. req. (year 1) x [1 + inflation - productivity + customer growth + growth in throughput per customer]

"Typically such formulas include as well a term for so-called "Z factors." The Z-factor term is ignored in the above discussion just to keep things simple.

Finally, this formula can be converted into its equivalent for revenue requirement *per customer*¹⁴ by deleting the customer growth term on the right hand side:

PBR rév. req. per customér (year 2) = PBR rév. req. per customér (year 1) x [1+inflation • productivity + growth in throughput per customér]

Like SoCal, ORA proposes to index rates using the same,

standard inflation minus productivity format. Its proposal, translated into the equivalent revenue per customer indexing formula, therefore looks exactly the same as SoCal's depicted above. The only difference--as described earlier--is that ORA proposes a 1.5 percent productivity factor, while SoCal's is 1.0 percent.

Unlike SoCal and ORA, TURN/DGS proposes to index revenues directly. Like the two other parties' proposals, its indexing mechanism is driven by inflation, productivity and customer growth. However, because the proposal is not based on indexing rates, it does not reward the utility with additional revenues from increasing throughput per customer. Additionally, it includes a minus 1.41% constant term in the formula¹⁹ that is missing from the other two. Perhaps most importantly, it does not give the same *uvight* to the common factors it shares with the SoCal and ORA proposals—inflation, productivity and customer growth. TURN/DGS's indexing mechanism assigns less weight to inflation and the productivity offset, and more weight to customer growth, in determining the utility's revenue requirement. TURN/DGS's revenue indexing proposal for revenue per customer is:³⁰

¹⁹ Actual customers are used to calculate customer growth and convert revenue per customer into total revenues.

¹⁹ This number, because it is negative, could be interpreted as an additional productivity offset.

³⁰ TURN/DGS provide formulas both for indexing total revenues and revenues per customer. The differences in the parameters, however, are insignificant. TURN/DGS argues that a *longrun* PBR indexing mechanism should index revenues per customer. *See* Exh. 63, p. 20 (TURN/DGS - Marcus).

PBR rev. req. per cust. (year 2) = PBR rev. req. per cust. (year 1) x [1 + 0.610 x inflation + 0.610 x productivity + 0.605 x cust. growth + 1.41%]

Although the TURN/DGS formula relies upon essentially the same set of factors as SoCal's and ORA's the difference in *results* is not insignificant. With the throughput per customer term dropped in the SoCal and ORA proposals for directness of comparison, the results for a 1.0 percent customer growth rate and inflation of 3 percent are:²¹

<u>SoÇal</u>

PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year 2) = $(1 + .03 - .01) \times PBR$ Rev. Req. per cust. (year 1) = 102% of PBR year 1 Rev. Req. per customer

<u>ORA</u>

PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year 2) = $(1 + .03 + .015) \times PBR$ Rev. Req. per cust. (year 1) = 101.5% of PBR year 1 Rev. Req. per customer

TURN/DGS

PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year 2)

= $[1 + 0.610 \times (.03 + .015) + 0.605 \times .01 - .0141] \times PBR Rev. Req. per cust. (year1) = 100.11% of PBR wood Row Data and water and$

= 100.11% of PBR year1 Rev. Req. per customer

A PBR mechanism provides an incentive to utilities to cut costs by disconnecting their rates from their *actual* costs. Traditional ratemaking sets rates and revenues on the basis of utilities' actual costs. The poor cost-cutting incentives provided by such ratemaking are too well known to repeat here. A PBR mechanism, on the other hand, sets a *limit* for revenues or rates—independent of the utilities subsequent actual cost performance—based on the general factors that drive costs: inflation, customer and output growth, with an offset for productivity gains.

This does not mean, however, that we cannot ignore special circumstances that may affect a specific utility's costs. We agree with TURN/DGS that

²¹ The omission of the average throughput per customer factor is not trivial. SoCal Gas' forecast of throughput growth is 2 percent per year; for customers, 1 percent growth. The

an indexing method should be chosen which, among other things, would leave ratepayers at least as well off under PBR as they would have been under traditional ratemaking. Without some assurance to that effect, there is no real "consumer dividend" for ratepayers from adopting PBR.

In this context, SoCal (and ORA's) approach fails to take into account its specific circumstances, and therefore omits an important consideration that needs to be taken into account in setting its indexing formula. As noted in the previous section, SoCal's projected plant expenditures are less than projected depreciation, thus significantly reducing future rate base and the associated amount of return and taxes. The low customer growth rate SoCal is experiencing is reducing investment requirements to a level lower than its depreciation expense, and its rate base is declining.

Two utilities could face the same inflation and have the same level of productivity (X), but could have very different trajectories in revenue requirements if one was growing more rapidly and had an increasing rate base and the other was growing more slowly and faced declining rate base. A simple inflation minus X indexing formula—for revenue per customer—would give the same revenue increase to both utilities, possibly yielding a windfall for one and a loss for the other.

Thus, if one is constructing a single "X" factor, it may not be sufficient to construct that factor from a historical factor productivity study plus a stretch, as SoCal and ORA have proposed. Neither SCE nor SDG&E claimed that they would face rate base declines, as SoCal forecasts that it will. TURN/DGS's methodology attempts to take into account SoCal's current investment plans over the next five years. However, while we agree with the basic logic of the TURN/DGS approach, we are unwilling to go so far as to adopt its proposed formula. The formula relies on a complex regression analysis, underlying which is a set of assumptions and variables. One important assumption is that the projected rate base decline will occur as

implied growth in throughput per customer therefore is 1 percent. When this effect is included in the SoCal and ORA proposals, the respective escalation factors become 103% and 102.5%.

SoCal has projected in its 1996-2000 financial plan. SoCal's future investment plans may well vary due to a variety of factors, including the rate of customer growth and the incentives afforded by this PBR decision. The TURN/DGS approach assumes that SoCal's management will have no control over the extent of future capital investments. While we agree that the general trend is likely to be as presented in the 1996-2000 financial plan, we cannot rely on the exact numbers in that plan as the mathematical basis for the indexing formula.

As noted earlier, the indexing formula is intended to give utility management the incentive to improve productivity through reasonable management of costs and practices that are within its control. Thus, the productivity factor takes into account expected gains on an industry-wide level, and adds a stretch factor to provide a "consumer dividend" and account for the fact that implementation of the PBR necessarily will require increased productivity if the utility is to receive a fair benefit from the new system. We also adjust the base margin to ensure that the utility is starting from a reasonable starting point, just as we would under traditional ratemaking. TURN/DGS makes the case that the same concept should be applied to rate base. If rate base is falling due to factors extrinsic to the PBR, returns will increase unless an adjustment is made, and vice versa. While this issue was not introduced in other PBR cases, it is a legitimate consideration.

We would prefer to adopt a method to take rate base changes into account outside of the indexing formula. A methodology such as a direct revenue offset or adjustment of the benchmark rate of return could accomplish this. However, no party has proposed such a method, and we must rely upon the indexing methodology, in which rate base factors are effectively translated into productivity. SoCal estimates in its comments on the Proposed Decision (p. 4) that the impact of the TURN/DGS formula may result in an effective productivity factor as high as 2.9 percent, which is 1.4 percent above the 1.5 percent final stretch "X" factor. This suggests that it may be possible to translate directly the TURN/DGS formula into a straight productivity figure and thus roughly reconcile the TURN/DGS concept with the indexing methodologies adopted in other PBRs.

- 37 -

Since some of the capital spending decisions in the future are presumed to be under SoCal management's control, we find it reasonable to adopt a lower effective X factor than the 2.9 percent imputed from the TURN/DGS methodology. Accordingly, we will adopt a 1.0 percentage point increase to the ramped stretch productivity factor. Our final adopted productivity "X" factor will be 2.1 percent in year 1; 2.2 percent in year 2; 2.3 percent in year 3; 2.4 percent in year 4; and 2.5 percent in year 5.

The PBR indexing formula therefore that we adopt is:

PBR rev. req. per customer (year 2) = PBR rev. req. per customer (year 1) x = (1+inflation - X),

with our adopted "X" factors described in the previous paragraph.

2. Sharing Mechanism

SoCal proposes that there be no adjustment in rates during the minimum five-year PBR period to share with ratepayers any difference between its recorded rate of return and a benchmark rate of return. We reject this aspect of SoCal's proposal, and require a sharing mechanism as part of the PBR for SoCal.

ORA, SCUPP/IID, SCE, and TURN/DGS advocate the inclusion of a sharing mechanism as an integral feature of SoCal's PBR, and two specific proposals have been advanced for our consideration. ORA's proposal would allow SoCal to retain all profits up to the level of 75 basis points above authorized rate of return (ROR), and 50% of any profits earned above that benchmark level. ORA states that earnings at the 75 basis point benchmark level will enable SoCal to keep \$37.5 million of its revenues as a reward for its efforts, and above this level SoCal would net additional rewards, albeit at a proportionately lower rate. By contrast, TURN/DGS urges us to adopt a mechanism which shares cost savings with ratepayers on a progressive basis. This approach affords better insurance for ratepayers in the event that the productivity factor turns out to be unrealistically low, and profits therefore to be excessive.

TURN/DGS recommends as our basic model the PBR we adopted for SCE in D.96-09-092. That mechanism shares both profits and losses within "bands" above and below the benchmark return on equity (ROE). Under this approach, shareholders receive all of the gains and losses up to 50 basis points above and below the benchmark rate of return, which we termed the inner band. Our intent in so doing was to assign shareholders the responsibility for the gains and losses associated with routine operation. (Id., mimeo., p. 42.) Beyond the inner band, from 50 to 300 basis points, the shareholder share of gains rises continuously from 25 through 100%, while the ratepayer share correspondingly declines from 75 to 0%. This we defined as the middle band. The shareholders receive all gains 300 basis points above the benchmark.

TURN/DGS proposes one alteration to this mechanism. In recognition of the fact that SoCal will not be exposed to revenue fluctuations due to short-run temperature based sales fluctuations if we retain the CFCA, TURN/DGS recommends that the level of the inner band should be reduced to no more than 25 basis points, or be eliminated altogether. We agree. The allowance of the inner band for SCE was partially to account for weather-based sales fluctuations that were beyond the discretion of utility management. For SoCal we will retain the CFCA as part of the PBR and limit the inner band to 25 basis points to account for minor fluctuations in operations. Thus shareholders will receive 100% up to the level of 25 basis points above the benchmark ROR, and an increasing percentage in steps from 25 up to 300 basis points, above which level they will receive 100%. We refer to a mechanism of this type, where the utility share of net revenue increases as its earned return becomes greater than the benchmark return (and the ratepayer share correspondingly decreases), as progressive sharing.

Between 25 basis points above the benchmark ROR and 300 basis points above the benchmark, we will adopt 8 bands. The more bands that exist, the greater the potential to move into a new band and for shareholders to collect an increasing marginal share of the higher profits. The first band will be from 25 to 50 basis points above the benchmark. In this band, shareholders will receive 25% of the marginal

- 39 -

revenues in the band and ratepayers 75%. Each successive band will see an increase of 10% in the incremental share allocated to shareholders and a decrease of 10% in the ratepayers share. The sixth band will fall between 150 and 200 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 75% and ratepayers 25%. The seventh band will be between 200 and 250 basis points above the benchmark, and shareholders will receive 85% and ratepayers 15%. The eighth band will be between 250 and 300 basis points above the benchmark; shareholders will receive 95% and ratepayers 5%.

Under this system, shareholders may gain up to 68% of the increment up to 300 basis points above the benchmark. However, as shareholders may keep <u>all</u> of the increment above 300 basis points above the benchmark (subject to the offramp discussed below), it is possible for shareholders to gain significantly more than 68% of the increment. For example, if returns are 400 basis points above the benchmark, shareholders would retain 76% of the increment. This system gives an excellent and increasing incentive to shareholders, and is fair to ratepayers who receive both the "consumer dividend" in the productivity formula and a larger share of early (and presumably easier) productivity gains.

We do not perceive a need to impose any sharing below the ROR benchmark, except for the offramp provisions discussed below. Even under traditional cost-of-service ratemaking, we have never guaranteed the utility its authorized ROR. Our PBR mechanism is designed to allow SoCal to "stretch" for higher levels of revenue, and to keep a progressively greater amount of what it is able to earn. By setting the proper ROR benchmark, we will calibrate the mechanism so that it rewards improvements which exceed that baseline, and accomplishes the efficiency gains that we intend for the benefit of the ratepayers by providing for progressive sharing above the benchmark. We will set the ROR benchmark at the current ROR.

- 40 -

Shareholders	Ratepayers		Basis Points
100	0	* 2 years	300
95	5		250
85	15		200
76	25	· · · ·	150
. 65	35	······································	125
55	45		100
45	55	· •	75
35	65		50
25	75	· · · · ·	25
100	0		
= 39nchma	ik Rabolika	UTD	
100	0	* Ż years	-175

Sharing Mechanism

- 41 -

We have focused on the question of how cost changes are dealt with in a rate PBR versus revenue PBR. Our decision to adopt a revenue PBR has much to do with our view of the appropriate treatment of cost reductions. We now turn to the treatment of revenue increases (also called revenue enhancements) in this PBR. SoCal may be able to increase net revenues in several ways. As discussed elsewhere in this order, SoCal may be able to expand current service offerings unrelated to the provision of natural gas (such as meter repair), or offer new products or services. SoCal may increase revenues through pricing flexibility approved in this order. SoCal may also experience customer growth or increases in usage per customer.

With the exception of throughput increases, SoCal can benefit from each of the methods of revenue enhancement discussed above. Revenue enhancement increases productivity, and improved productivity is one of the primary goals of performance-based regulation. We believe the adoption of this PBR will encourage SoCal to seek out both cost reductions and revenue increases. If revenue increases occur, they will be factored along with associated costs into the total rate of return calculation that is a part of the revenue PBR. If any revenue increases push SoCal into the sharing range, or further into the sharing range (as discussed below), both SoCal shareholders and ratepayers will benefit from the productivity increases.

3. Exclusions

SoCal proposes that several cost categories handled by existing regulatory mechanisms be excluded from the PBR. These would be preserved, and would maintain their separate existence for adjudication by the Commission. The proposed exclusions are as follows:

> <u>Catastrophic Event Memorandum Account (CEMA)</u>. The Commission authorized all utilities to establish this account under Resolution no. E-3238 (July 24, 1991) as a reaction to the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake to record the costs of restoring utility service to customers; repairing, replacing, or restoring damaged utility facilities; and complying with government agency orders resulting from declared disasters. It was designed to expedite and facilitate prompt response by utilities in restoring services disrupted by declared disasters. SoCal

> > - 42 -

proposed to exclude CEMA from PBR so that it will fulfill its intended purpose. ORA initially recommended that CEMA expenses be reviewed using Z-factor criteria to determine potential recovery (Exh. 107, p. 63), but subsequently stipulated that CEMA be treated as an exclusion.

- <u>Hazardous Substance Cost Recovery Account (HSCRA)</u>. This mechanism is a long-term performance-based cost recovery mechanism for hazardous substance and insurance litigation costs related to hazardous substance sites identified by the utility for cost recovery from third parties, insurance carriers and ratepayers.
- Low Emission Vehicle (LEV) Program. In D.93-07-054, 50CPUC2d 452, the Commission ordered that all funding for utility LEV programs was to be established separate from the normal general rate case proceedings, and required all energy utilities to file separate applications for funding of six-year LEV programs under specified guidelines established in that decision. SoCal complied with that requirement. In D.95-11-035, - CPUC2d -- (1995), the Commission allowed continued ratepayer funding of LEV fleet expenses subject to a one-way balancing account, and specified the treatment of the costs of customer-site stations. SoCal proposes that capital-related costs for utility LEV and customer-site stations remain in the PBR Base Margin showing, and that all expenses covered under the one-way balancing account be excluded from PBR and continue as a separate regulatory funding mechanism.
- <u>Regulatory Transition Costs.</u> SoCal proposes that all regulatory transition costs whose regulatory treatment is in the process of being determined at the federal and local levels to be excluded from the PBR to be separately resolved by the Commission. These matters are not subject to reasonable estimation, and SoCal describes them as both significant and potentially volatile. Transition costs identified by SoCal consist of Take-or-Pay (TOP) costs, Minimum Purchase Obligation (MPO) Transition costs, PITCO/POPCO²² Transition costs, and the Interstate Transition Cost Surcharges (ITCS).

" These acronyms, respectively, refer to Pacific Interstate Transmission Company and Pacific Offshore Pipeline Company, both of which are SoCal affiliates.

- Wheeler Ridge Interconnection Costs and Revenues. D.95-04-078, -- CPUC2d -- (1995), in SoCal's 1994 BCAP, sets forth the adopted incremental ratemaking treatment for the Wheeler Ridge facilities. SoCal states that implementation requires that Wheeler Ridge interconnection costs and revenues be excluded from PBR.
- Mandated Social Programs. SoCal proposes that mandated social programs such as California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) and the low-income Direct Assistance Program (DAP) should be excluded from PBR because they are created by legislative or administrative mandate, and are not within SoCal's control.
- Gas Costs and Pipeline Demand Charge, Gas costs and pipeline demand charges for core sales customers are forecasted and recovered through rates adopted in BCAPs. SoCal proposes to exclude these charges from PBR to maintain the existing BCAP cost recovery system.
- <u>Costs Imposed by the Commission</u>. SoCal proposes that certain costs imposed by the Commission, such as intervenor compensation fees and costs related to Commission staff supervised management of financial costs should be excluded from PBR because they are subject to separate cost recovery treatment.

There is no longer any serious dispute concerning exclusion of these items. All of them appear to be appropriate for exclusion from the PBR mechanism, because they are beyond the control of SoCal's management, or are subject to recovery through other existing ratemaking mechanisms. We will approve these proposed exclusions.

4. "Z" Factors

We agree with SoCal that events which qualify as Z factors should be handled outside of the PBR mechanism. We also agree that the adopted procedure must insure that there is no double-counting of Z factor events in the inflation index.

We will adopt the following procedure proposed by SoCal to handle Z factors under PBR.

When a potential Z factor event occurs, SoCal will promptly advise the Commission of its occurrence and establish a memorandum account for the event. The notification of the event will provide all relevant information about the event, such as a description, the amount involved, and the timing, and will advise of the establishment of the memorandum account. This notification will be followed by a supplement to the annual rate adjustment procedure for Commission review.

For each event, SoCal's shareholders will absorb the first \$5 million per event of otherwise compensable Z factor adjustments. This will be accomplished through the operation of a "deductible." The deductible is cumulative for each Z factor event from year to year, and is exhausted when the cumulative Z factor costs exceed the deductible amount. The deductible is separately applicable to each Z factor event.

To implement the adjustment, we adopt SoCal's proposal for use of a formula based on the level of integration with the GUPI to avoid double-counting the Z factor event in the inflation index. This formula is based upon the extent to which the Z factor impact is captured in the GUPI, and excludes that amount. SoCal will have the burden of proof in a Z factor proceeding to demonstrate both the total cost of the Z factor event, and the percentage of such cost estimated to be captured within the GUPI.

ORA initially recommended that CEMA become a Z factor. However, ORA and SoCal have agreed to recommend that CEMA be treated a an exclusion rather than a Z factor. As part of the agreement SoCal will maintain commercial insurance for earthquake and other disaster coverage unless major adverse changes to premium levels occur in the future. We will adopt the agreement between ORA and SoCal.

5. Core Pricing Flexibility

SoCal has proposed that it be given the flexibility to offer optional tariffed rates and to negotiate discounted rates with core customers. Any discounts

- 45 -

would be applied to the base rate portion of the default PBR rate (i.e., gas costs would not be discounted). With its proposed elimination of the CFCA, SoCal's shareholders would be at risk for any discounts provided to customers. SoCal proposes that optional tariffs and discounted rates be priced no lower than short-run marginal cost and go into effect on the date of filing.

ORA supports SoCal's request to be able to offer discounted rates provided that shareholders bear 100% of the risk associated with revenue shortfalls and that the price floor for contracts is long-run marginal cost. ORA also supports the concept of optional tariffs for the core but opposes authorizing them at this time, because SoCal has provided insufficient information. Therefore, ORA recommends that SoCal either submit an application that would allow for consideration of specific optional tariffs, as occurred for SCE, or to approve optional tariffs on a case by case basis.

Allowing for negotiated rates and optional tariffs will provide SoCal with opportunities to increase utilization of its system, which benefits ratepayers. Under our adopted sharing mechanism, incremental revenues translate into benefits for both ratepayers and shareholders, providing SoCal with the incentive to more efficiently operate the system. Therefore, allowing SoCal to enter into negotiated contracts and offer optional tariffs is consistent with our PBR goals.

We would prefer to authorize optional tariff offerings with more details than SoCal has provided in its application. However, because shareholders will be entirely at risk for the revenue shortfalls, we will allow SoCal to negotiate discounts and offer optional tariffs, provided that the price floor is above class average long-run marginal cost (LRMC) and allow the tariffs to be effective upon 20 days after filing unless protested on the basis that the price floor is below class average LRMC.³⁰ If protested, the optional tariff filing will proceed through the normal advice letter

[&]quot;Nothing in this decision is intended to prevent parties from protesting such filings on any other basis, as well.

process. The optional tariffs must be available to all similarly situated customers that meet the eligibility criteria. If SoCal wishes to offer rates that are customer specific or targeted at some subset of a class and therefore below the class average LRMC, then additional information must be submitted, consistent with information required for long-term contracts under the Expedited Application Docket (EAD), and the contract or tariffs will be subject to Commission approval through the EAD process. Contracts with terms of five years or longer must be approved by the Commission. Consistent with allowing SoCal to offer core customers discounts, we will also allow SoCal to offer firm noncore customers negotiated discounts of less than five years' duration. Negotiated contracts must be filed with the Commission, but the confidentiality provisions in place for noncore contracts will also apply for core contracts.

Electric utilities who retain the Electric Revenue Adjustment Mechanism (ERAM) and offer discounted rates for which shareholders are at risk must currently include an adjustment to ERAM to ensure that ratepayers are not at risk for any revenue shortfall associated with discounted rates. Because we have retained the CFCA, we direct SoCal to develop an adjustment mechanism to the CFCA to ensure that ratepayers are isolated from any risk of revenue shortfall associated with discounted core rates or optional tariff offerings.

6. Implementation Date

The rates based upon our adopted base margin shall become effective July 1, 1997. We recognize that changing objectives as a result of implementing PBR mid-year may create implementation problems and therefore the PBR mechanism shall become effective as of January 1, 1998, unless SoCal elects to operate under the mechanism effective as of January 1, 1997.

7. "Offramp" Provisions

SoCal proposes that the Commission not terminate or modify the PBR mechanism before its minimum term, even if SoCal's recorded rate of return falls below or rises above any particular level during that period, and proposes to take full risk for the level of its earnings under PBR for at least the proposed minimum duration

- 47 -

of the PBR mechanism. For the protection of both SoCal and its ratepayers, we conclude that this should not be the case.

a) Cost of Capital Trigger

Although SoCal proposes not to make any changes in PBR indexed rates for changes in cost of capital, it proposes an exception in the event that the 12-month trailing average yield on long-term Treasury Bond increases or decreases more than 250 basis points from the forecast average rate for calendar year 1997, as adopted in D.96-11-060 in SoCal's 1997 cost of capital application. Thus, SoCal acknowledges the need for an escape valve, or offramp of sorts, in the event of a dramatic change in the cost of capital.

Under the proposed mechanism, SoCal would have the option to file a cost of capital application in the event that the 250 basis point "trigger" were exceeded. In the event of a 250 basis point decrease, SoCal would be required to file a cost of capital application. In either event, the Commission would determine whether any change in rates was appropriate in light of all factors affecting the cost of capital. Any rate change, whether an increase or decrease, would be prospective from the effective date of a Commission decision.

ORA generally supports the trigger mechanism concept, but proposes a somewhat different approach to cost of capital. The principal differences between SoCal's proposal and ORA's proposal are that: (1) ORA's mechanism would not be triggered unless actual interest rates changed by more than 150 basis points <u>and</u> the then-current DRI forecast was for interest rates to continue to be at least 150 basis points different from the benchmark interest rate under PBR; and (2) if ORA's threshold were triggered, there would be an automatic adjustment of rates according to a pre-established formula. SCUPP/IID also supports the basic concept of using a triggering mechanism with a single-index PBR, and prefers ORA's proposal over SoCal's.

We prefer ORA's approach over that proposed by SoCal for two reasons. First, that approach is more sensitive to a realistic level of interest-rate

- 48 -

savings. Secondly, it is a system which will not involve as great a level of regulatory burden on the Commission, because a cost of capital application would not have to be filed when the trigger level was reached.

We adopt for SoCal the ORA triggering mechanism for changes in cost of capital during the PBR period, coupled with the "MICAM" mechanism for rate adjustment that we recently adopted for SDG&E in D.96-06-055.

b) Rate of Return Offramp

SoCal opposes any offramp which would have the effect of allowing or requiring suspension or modification of the PBR mechanism before the expiration of the five-year minimum term in the event that SoCal earns a specified amount more or less than the benchmark rate of return. SoCal argues that this would result in dilution of the penalties for poor performance and rewards for superior performance, and tend to defeat or impair the incentive provided by the mechanism for the utility to operate efficiently.

As part of its proposal for a sharing mechanism, ORA advocates an offramp mechanism to protect both ratepayers and SoCal from significant deviations from anticipated earnings under this new and untested PBR system. For upside deviation, ORA proposes an offramp trigger set at 300 basis points above authorized earnings for two consecutive years. For downside deviation, ORA proposes an offramp at 175 basis points below authorized earnings for two consecutive years. This proposal conforms well to the sharing mechanism we adopt and is very similar to the approach we have taken with SDG&E. We also prefer an offramp "trigger" device to the adoption of an interim PBR with a shorter duration, which is the approach espoused by TURN.

We will adopt ORA's rate of return offramp proposal. The PBR mechanism will be subject to a motion for voluntary suspension if SoCal reports two consecutive years of net operating income that is at least 175 basis points below its authorized rate of return. Either SoCal or ORA may file this motion seeking suspension of the PBR mechanism. If the motion is granted, suspension of the PBR would be

- 49 -

required. If SoCal reports return of 300 or more basis points above its authorized rate of return for two consecutive years, the PBR mechanism will automatically be suspended, and we will conduct a formal regulatory review to determine what, if any, changes in the ratemaking mechanism are required.

c) Mid-course Review

Although SoCal opposes any regulatory change to the PBR system prior to expiration of the 5-year minimum term (except for the cost of capital trigger), the experimental nature of the PBR and SoCal's own unique circumstances compel us to conclude that there is a need for reexamination of the program before five years elapse.

First, according to the Global Settlement, the expiration of that agreement on July 31, 1999, will alter SoCal's ratemaking environment and require the institution of a BCAP. As SoCal's witness Van Lierop acknowledges,

> "The Global Settlement requires that [SoCal] file a BCAP application in October of 1998 with rates to become effective on August 1, 1999. The key purpose of this BCAP filing is to terminate the provision in the Global Settlement that rates and cost allocation be based on 1991 throughput. ... [SoCal] proposes that "shadow rates" - adopted in this proceeding go into effect as actual base rates on August 1, 1999, which will terminate the 1991 throughput provision with respect to base rates. The 1998 BCAP filing is still required to replace 1991 throughput, with a forecasted throughput level for the purpose of determining exclusions surcharges. [SoCal] proposes that the 1998 BCAP be used to adopt surcharges and cost-of-gas rates for the remainder of the PBR period, i.e., from August 1, 1999 to December 31, 2001." (Exh. 11, pp. 69-70.)

This in itself establishes the need for a mid-course proceeding, currently anticipated to be in the form of the 1998 BCAP, to revisit certain of the issues in this PBR.

Notwithstanding explicit language to the contrary in the Global Settlement, SoCal's PBR proposal is premised upon retaining the inter-class cost allocation based on 1991 throughput for the entire PBR period, which extends well

- 50

beyond the August 1, 1999, expiration of the Global Settlement. TURN's witness Florio testified that this would be particularly harmful to core customers, because the effect of the SoCal proposal would be to reduce the average year forecast of throughput by 5%, while at the same time denying core ratepayers the benefit of the lower throughput forecast for purposes of cost allocation. (Ex. 55, pp. 16-17.) Consistency must be assured through the 1998 BCAP or its equivalent.

TURN asserts that there is another reason why cost allocation issues must be resolved in the 1998 BCAP. In the current (1996) BCAP, ORA, and TURN have proposed certain refinements to the Commission's LRMC methodology which SoCal claims to exceed permissible cost allocation changes as defined by Section C.5 of the Global Settlement's Implementation Appendix. In the current BCAP we may conclude that these changes must await the expiration of the Global Settlement. However, SoCal's PBR proposal would preclude the allocation of base margin among customer classes from consideration in the 1998 BCAP, because the rates set in this proceeding (as indexed) will remain in force beyond the Global Settlement's expiration. Consequently, ORA and TURN would be foreclosed from proposing adjustments to the LRMC methodology well beyond the expiration of the Global Settlement unless there is a mid-course review.

The merger application of Enova Corporation and Pacific Enterprises, which is currently pending before us, also portends significant changes in SoCal's ratemaking environment. Approval of the merger application could result, for example, in alteration of the base margin, particularly if there are significant productivity gains due to what SoCal has characterized as "synergies" such as the consolidation of administrative and general office functions of the merged parent companies. Although we have declined to examine the financial implications of the pending merger application in this proceeding, we cannot turn a blind eye to the probability that the merger may have considerable impact on SoCal, requiring some adjustment of the PBR.

We have also identified a number of features of SoCal's PBR proposal which are simply not appropriate for inclusion. Among these features are

- 51 -

changes in residential rate design, additional pricing flexibility, and gain on sale. To the extent that these items were not addressed in SoCal's current BCAP, they should be addressed in the next BCAP (or its successor proceeding).

Finally, SoCal, ORA, and TURN have agreed to recommend that a mid-course review be undertaken to examine the status of customer service quality indicators, including the penetration of the CARE program. The 1998 BCAP (or its successor) could be utilized as a vehicle for conducting this review.

In recognition of these circumstances, we conclude that there is a need for a mid-course evaluation of SoCal's PBR, and that SoCal's 1998 BCAP (or its successor) should serve as the forum for that effort. In that proceeding, we will address the issues of SoCal's throughput forecast, cost allocation, rate design, and other matters which may come to light from the interim results of SoCal's PBR experience.

d) Termination

Under SoCal's proposal, the PBR would remain in effect at least five years from its inception. Based upon this minimum term, SoCal proposes that any party, or the Commission on its own motion, could institute a proceeding to change or replace the PBR mechanism upon its expiration. ORA and SCUPP/IID object to the automatic continuation of SoCal's PBR. ORA proposes that the PBR be formally evaluated near the conclusion of the five-year PBR term to provide the Commission with a complete evaluation of the PBR mechanism.

ORA proposes that SoCal be required to notify the Commission and all parties of record of its intention to file either a general rate case application or a PBR application 24 months prior to the end of the PBR cycle. If SoCal indicates that it plans to file a general rate case application rather than a PBR application, ORA will submit its master data request to SoCal within one month after SoCal notifies the Commission. Thereafter, the procedural schedule would follow the rate case plan in accordance with R.87-11-012. Alternatively, ORA proposes that if SoCal notifies the Commission that it desires to continue with a PBR program, SoCal should be required to file a PBR application no less than 18 months prior to the end of the PBR cycle. In its filing, SoCal should provide both an evaluation of its existing PBR program and a recommendation as to what modifications should be made to the PBR mechanism for the future.

ORA witness Bower specifies the issues that, at a minimum, should be addressed in its filing requesting continuation of PBR. These are:

- Was SoCal successful in meeting or beating the adopted benchmarks?
- What happened to system average rates over the period of the PBR? How did this compare to the average national rate and to the overall rate of inflation?
- If SoCal was successful, how were the reductions accomplished? What types of expenses were reduced? Were there any side effects of the expense reduction?
- What was the operating environment of SoCal over the PBR period? Were there developments that either made it easier or more difficult to achieve the established goals? If so, what were those developments?
- Did the Commission and SoCal work together effectively in the process of monitoring and evaluating the PBR? If not, what parts of the monitoring and evaluation process did not work?
- Did the Commission and SoCal work together effectively in the event of any interim modifications to the PBR? If not, how could this process have been improved?
- Did the PBR demonstrate a more or less efficient method of regulation than the conventional general rate case method? What specific features of the PBR were either better or worse?
- Were the specific performance indicators in this PBR adequate to measure the effectiveness of the PBR? If not, how should the performance indicators be modified?
- Was SoCal successful in maintaining a stable credit rating over the term of the PBR? What other financial measures

should be examined? What was SoCal's annual ROE and ROR performance over the PBR, and how did that compare to the company's authorized numbers? How did this performance compare to SoCal's historical record for periods prior to the PBR?

- What other consequences of the PBR were identified, if any? What was the impact of those consequences on the PBR? What was the impact of those consequences on SoCal, its ratepayers, the environment, and others? Were the consequences positive or negative?
- Considering the results of the PBR, what should be the next steps? Should the PBR be continued? If so, what "start up" conditions should prevail? Should those alternatives include a return to the general rate case or attrition process? (Exh. 107, pp. 16-18 - 16-19.)

ORA's proposal is well considered. Although we have no disinclination to continue SoCal's PBR beyond the five-year minimum, there is a need to insure that the system does not continue indefinitely without being subjected to one scrutiny, and to insure that it is meeting its intended goals and furthering our regulatory policy. The procedure for continuing the PBR outlined by ORA is far less onerous than the requirements for filing a GRC, and is appropriate for evaluation of a program that has been in force for five years, as contrasted with the three-year life of a GRC.

We will adopt ORA's proposal.

8. Service Quality, Customer Satisfaction, and Safety Incentives

By its nature, customer satisfaction is difficult to measure and to quantify. SoCal's original proposal to measure ongoing customer satisfaction by using an index figure generated considerable controversy, resulting in a great deal of discussion among the parties during the course of the hearing. The outcome of these negotiations was a joint position on behalf of SoCal, ORA, and TURN, which is set forth in Exh. 210. That exhibit provides a comprehensive joint recommendation for measures to ensure that customer satisfaction, service quality, and employee safety performance will be maintained in SoCal's PBR environment.

The four primary features of this comprehensive plan are:

- Individual targets would be established for each of the four key service attributes, with each service attribute carrying a potential rate reduction should the performance level for that attribute fall below its prescribed target and deadband. These four key service attributes are:
 - (1) Customer satisfaction with the telephone customer service representative (CSR);
 - (2) Customer satisfaction with the scheduling of an appointment for a field service call;
 - (3) Satisfaction with the field Appliance Service Representative (ASR); and
 - (4) Percentage of on-time arrival for the service call;
- An additional call center "prescriptive" performance standard would require 80% of all telephone calls to be answered within 60 seconds for regular calls, and 90% of all leak and emergency telephone calls to be answered within 20 seconds. SoCal would be subject to rate reduction for failure to meet these targets.
- In addition to rate incentives, SoCal would assume responsibility to provide reports to the Commission, on a quarterly basis, containing monthly data on several service quality indicators, as follows: level of telephone busy signals, percentage of estimated meter readings, leak response time, percentage of missed appointments, and percentage of customer problems resolved on the first service call.
- The Commission will undertake a mid-course review of the status of the customer service quality indicators.

The program specifies penalties for failure to attain goals below a deadband. Aggregate penalties of more than \$4 million will trigger an investigation by the Commission.

SCE objects that the service program does not provide for rewards for attaining levels above the goals. This overlooks the purpose of our quality control efforts, which is to ensure that standards of service are upheld at least at current levels

- 55 -

despite the adoption of PBR, and particularly that cost cutting will not result in the degradation of service and safety. We are concerned that if we provide rewards for the attainment of higher levels, we will encourage efforts to overdeliver service, thereby increasing the cost to provide service. The cost of the rewards would be passed along to customers through higher rates. This would be contrary to our purpose in adopting PBR. We have already described the terms to which SoCal, ORA, and TURN have agreed relative to attainment of the employee safety standard. As contrasted with the customer satisfaction provisions, this part of the agreement provides for both rewards and penalties.

The program agreed to by SoCal, ORA, and TURN is a rational and systematic approach to insuring the maintenance of service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety. We adopt that program as part of our order.³⁴ We also adopt the parties' recommendation to conduct a midterm review of the operation of these features. As stated above, we have selected the 1998 BCAP (or its successor) as the vehicle for conducting this review.

9. Additional Customer Service Issues

SoCal states that there are two additional unresolved issues which pertain to the customer satisfaction measure. First, in the event that SoCal is authorized to implement a late payment charge with respect to its core customers, TURN proposes additional service quality measures, with potential monetary penalties, pertaining to the mailing of customer bills and the posting of customer payments. Second, SCUPP/IID seeks to increase the amount of the SIC, which SoCal offered to its noncore customers as part of the Capacity Brokering Settlement in 1991. SoCal opposes both of these measures.

SoCal's proposal to impose a late payment charge on overdue balances for both core and noncore customers bears no immediate relationship to its

²⁴ The portion of Exh. 210 which sets forth that program is included in our Order as Appendix A.

proposal to move to a PBR system of ratemaking. Accordingly, TURN's responsive proposal to impose standards on the date of bill mailing and payment posting, and penalties in the event that those standards are not met, is equally immaterial for this PBR. There is no logical nexus between the economic incentives under PBR, or the related provisions to insure service quality, and this controversy over administrative processing of bills. We therefore decline the request for additional service incentives relating to billing and payment, and defer the matter of instituting a late payment charge to a more appropriate Commission proceeding.

SCUPP/IID's request for an increase in the SIC is apparently intended to protect noncore customers from service interruptions caused by deferral of maintenance, replacements, and expansion of facilities. The SIC was originally negotiated as part of the 1991 Capacity Brokering Settlement, which was approved by the Commission in D.91-11-025, 41 CPUC2d 668 (1991). Specific provisions which apply to SoCal in that settlement allow SoCal to offer a performance guarantee in its tariffs by providing the customer with a credit equal to \$2.50/dth of gas for curtailment episodes, with a maximum credit of \$5 million in any calendar year. SCUPP/IID proposes that we make this penalty mandatory, adopt a higher \$10 million initial penalty, and increase the penalty ceiling every time the maximum penalty is triggered.

We perceive no reason to adopt this measure as part of the quality assurance measures for SoCal's PBR. SoCal states that there have been no curtailments of intrastate transmission service since the SIC was implemented, and SCUPP/IID has not demonstrated any change in circumstances which would justify an increase in SoCal's penalty exposure. Moreover, for noncore business, SoCal faces significant competitive threats in the form of interstate pipeline bypass, alternate fuel consumption, and cheap imported electricity. Thus market forces, rather than penalties, will provide the impetus for service quality assurance for noncore customers.

10. Monitoring and Evaluation

Because PBR is intended as a means to reduce the need for periodic reexamination of a utility's financial results through the GRC process, its success

- 57 -

depends upon an effective program of monitoring and evaluation. In order to discharge our responsibility, we must be in a position to understand and evaluate the performance of SoCal's PBR during interim periods between formal proceedings.

SoCal proposes to file a detailed annual advice letter to implement the annual PBR rate adjustment and report on the customer service performance measures, including any rate adjustment associated with customer service measures. This annual advice letter would be comprehensive in that it would include all elements of the PBR indexing and adjustment mechanisms, i.e., inflation, productivity, Z factors, and customer service refunds, if any. SoCal proposes to file this annual advice letter on October 1 to allow sufficient time for review and approval so that the rates can become effective January 1, and to furnish supporting documentation and workpapers to the appropriate staff divisions on October 1.

Apart from this advice letter filing, SoCal's proposal for monitoring and evaluation consists principally of recommendations for the discontinuation of many current reporting requirements in the interest of streamlining the regulatory process. SoCal proposes to eliminate or modify approximately ten reports. (See Exh. 107, Table 16-1.) Four of these reports are required by Commission General Orders and apply to all energy utilities.

ORA in its comments states that a procedural mechanism is needed so that SoCal can report its earnings annually. ORA does not object to the annual October 1 filing proposed by SoCal, but proposes that an additional annual filing be made to review the performance of the PBR during the previous calendar year. ORA notes that both telephone and energy utilities which currently operate under adopted PBR mechanisms are required to make annual filings to report on the performance of the PBR during the previous year. Telephone utilities are required to file sharable earnings advice letters evaluating the prior year's operating results no later than April 1 of each year. (D.89-10-031, Ordering Paragraph 16.) SDG&E must file a draft of its performance report by April 15, and a final version of the report by May 15. (D.94-08-023, p. 80.) SDG&E's filing includes a review not only of any sharable earnings, but also reviews the reliability, safety, customer satisfaction, and price

- 58 -

performance components of the SDG&E PBR. SCE is required to file an annual performance report similar to the SDG&E report by March 31 of each year. (Advice Letter 1191-E, as adopted by Resolution E-3478.) ORA also requests an extended time period for the review of the performance report to allow parties more time than the usual amount for advice letter protests. ORA suggests the following schedule:

- April 1 SoCal provides a draft sharable earnings advice letter to appropriate Commission staff, which includes workpapers detailing operating results for SoCal's base rates.
- July 1 Commission staff can submit a report on its audit or analysis of SoCal's draft sharable earnings results.
- July 10 SoCal files its final performance advice letter, with supporting workpapers.
- July 31 Protests in accordance with General Order 96-A can be filed.

ORA, SCUPP/IID, and SCE object to the modification or

elimination of existing reporting requirements. As ORA witness Bower states:

"If the Commission is to successfully implement a monitoring and evaluation plan, it must continue to receive these reports. These reports will be essential tools in evaluating SoCal's performance under the PBR mechanism. The Commission will have the opportunity to evaluate the usefulness of these reports in a PBR environment and determine whether the reports should be modified, eliminated, or expanded. Some reports may prove to be essential while others may prove to be unnecessary. DRA [now ORA] recommends that SoCal continue to provide nine of the ten reports it proposes to eliminate." (Exh. 107, pp. 10-11.)

We acknowledge that reduction of regulatory paperwork in the interest of improving efficiency is certainly a worthy goal. It is not, however, an integral part of PBR. We would like to reduce the volume of reports for all utilities, not just SoCal. Particularly for those which are required by a Commission general order, a

generic proceeding would be required in order to change the requirement. We cannot discriminate in favor of SoCal by eliminating reporting requirements in this proceeding merely because it would reduce SoCal's regulatory burden. The proposal to do so bears no direct relationship to the institution of a PBR system.

We will adopt SoCal's proposal for an annual PBR advice letter filing but deny its request to modify or eliminate any current reporting requirement in the interest of maintaining our ability to monitor and evaluate SoCal's performance under PBR for the present.⁸ The existing reporting requirements, plus SoCal's annual PBR advice letter filing, will enable the Commission to monitor and evaluate SoCal's PBR program, and should remain in place until changed through mid-course review or other proceeding, as appropriate. We will also require an annual PBR performance report similar in scope to the SDG&E annual performance report, and will adopt ORA's suggested schedule for review of the filing. The filing should not only review the PBR performance including a report of any sharable earnings, but should also report on the service quality, customer satisfaction, and safety incentives which we have adopted. Finally, any party who wishes to receive a copy of the draft filing to be made on April 1 should make such a request to SoCal, and such requests should be honored by the Company.

D. New Products and Services

As we summarized earlier in this decision, SoCal seeks the ability to offer new products and services, either itself or through an affiliate, without prior Commission approval. It also asks us to agree that the Commission not regulate the prices, terms, and conditions for new products and services; that the profits or losses from new products and services flow entirely to shareholders; and that existing products and services that are offered on an unbundled basis in the future be treated in

²⁶ Other requirements, such as that which obligates SoCal to obtain our express permission before closing any branch offices, are also unaffected by this decision. (<u>See</u> D.92-08-038, 15 CPUC2d 301 (1992).)

the same manner as new utility-related products and services. SoCal's proposal is opposed by ORA, SCE, TURN, and others, on a number of grounds.

On December 9, 1996, Enron Capital and Trade Resources, New Energy Ventures, Inc., the School Project for Utility Rate Reduction, and the Regional Energy Management Coalition, TURN, UCAN, and XENERGY, Inc. (collectively, Petitioners) filed a petition which, for procedural reasons, was accepted as a motion in the electric restructuring docket. In their motion, the Petitioners requested the Commission to issue an order instituting a rulemaking to establish standards of conduct governing relationships between natural gas local distribution companies (like SoCal) and electric utilities and their affiliated, unregulated marketing entities. The Petitioners also requested that the utilities be required to have their nonregulated activities conducted by their affiliate companies, rather than the utility itself, subject to the affiliate standards. The Petitioners stated that the utility providing services within a monopoly structure should be required to limit its actions to those services, so that equal treatment among competitors can be ensured. It was pointed out in response to the motion that the Petitioners' motion was opposed to the proposal offered here by SoCal. In the rulemaking drafted for the Commission's consideration, staff recommended that this aspect of SoCal's proposal be consolidated with the rulemaking to assure that SoCal and its affiliates would not be placed at an unfair advantage vis a vis the other California energy utilities and their affiliates.

In the rulemaking and investigation docket (OIR) opened April 9, 1997, in response to the motion, we provided instead "...that our decision in the PBR docket on flexibility in introducing new products and services may be interim." (R.97-04-011, I.97-04-012.) We also stated that "[e]ntry by the energy utilities and their affiliates into the unregulated market for energy products and services should be on an equal footing with respect to regulatory posture." (Id.)

Although the OIR explicitly preserved the opportunity in this proceeding to adopt an interim order with respect to SoCal's proposal for flexibility in introducing new products and services, we decline to do so at this time. Now that we have carefully reviewed SoCal's proposal and the opposing pleadings, we believe it would be

- 61 -

premature, at best, to allow SoCal to offer new products and services in competitive markets on an unregulated basis while requiring SoCal's competitors, the remaining energy utilities, to participate in the rulemaking and investigation before allowing them to offer the same services into the same markets on an unregulated, untariffed basis.

SoCal may choose to make the same proposal, or to modify it, in our affiliates rulemaking and investigation. A number of questions arise from this proposal that may need further consideration.

First, SoCal has not clearly specified the types of products or services which it seeks authority to offer on an unregulated basis. During the course of this proceeding, SCB and Enron each raised legitimate concerns about the types of services that SoCal would seek to offer on an unregulated basis, particularly concerning the unbundling of traditional services. In response, SoCal states that with respect to the service unbundling of concern to Enron and SCE, SoCal "expects" to file separate regulatory and ratemaking applications. This pledge leads to two further questions: (1) If SoCal will not be offering on an unregulated basis the services and products which are of concern to SCE and Enron, what products and services will it seek to offer? and (2) Is SoCal's "expectation" that it will seek further authority before unbundling any traditional services, a binding pledge not to do so, pending further regulatory approval?

Second, SoCal has not offered explicit criteria to define the relevant markets into which SoCal seeks entry on an unregulated basis. What criteria and process should the Commission utilize in determining the relevant market, the degree of competition or the extent of SoCal's market power? For example, SoCal has asked that it be able to unbundle existing elective after meter services (such as pilot lighting or appliance inspection) and offer these services on an unregulated basis "where there is no market power." (Exh. 144, p. 2.) However, SoCal has not explained how to determine, or who will determine, that SoCal has no market power with respect to a particular product or service.

One particular aspect of SoCal's proposal which is of concern to us is SoCal's assertion that it is considering offering new products and services in "either

- 62 -

competitive markets which already exist...or are ripe for competition." (Exh. 7, p. 27.) As SCE observes, "Plainly, the fact that SoCalGas believes a market is 'ripe for competition' is a far cry from finding that a market is, in fact competitive...Under this proposal SoCalGas could conceivably unbundle a regulated monopoly bundled service into several unregulated monopoly unbundled services and then charge monopoly prices for them." (Exh. 50, pp. 17-18.) This issue needs further review.

We also note SoCal's argument that the Commission should presume that if SoCal does not currently offer a service, it cannot have market power with respect to it, and it is therefore a competitive service. By the very nature of SoCal's monopoly position in the energy and energy services market, its access to comprehensive customer records, its access to an established billing system, and its "name brand" recognition, it may be that SoCal enjoys significant market power with respect to any new product or service in the energy field.

Third, SoCal has not proposed what regulatory tools would be used to prevent cross-subsidization between the services SoCal would continue to provide on a monopoly basis and those it would provide as competitive services. In its rebuttal testimony to ORA, SoCal argues that the opportunity for a utility to cross-subsidize the launch of competitive services would be virtually eliminated. (Exh. 119, p. 11.) SoCal's argument seems to rest on the premise that because its PBR proposal contains no sharing mechanism, all profits would accrue to shareholders, and management is consequently free to distribute all revenues which it derives from the monopoly enterprise in any manner it sees fit. Elsewhere in this decision we expressly require SoCal's PBR to contain a sharing mechanism. But even if the absence of a sharing mechanism, cross-subsidization cannot be permitted.

SoCal may renew its request along with its competing utilities, properly defined and detailed, in the newly instituted OIR. The level of detail which we would expect of a proposal to offer new products and services is equivalent to that which we set forth when we adopted the three categories of services for telecommunication products and accompanying accounting safeguards. (See D.89-10-031.)

- 63 -

While we are deferring consideration of SoCal's proposal regarding new products and services, we are not changing anything in this decision with regard to SoCal's ability to provide services currently offered or to apply to offer new products or services. SoCal currently offers certain services beyond the provision of natural gas. For example, SoCal currently provides meter repair services for SDG&E at its shop. This service, and others like it, may continue (subject to our jurisdiction). SoCal may also use the appropriate application or advice letter process to seek our approval to offer new products or services. We will consider any such filing in the normal course of review, and we will coordinate any such decision with our conduct of the proceeding on affiliate transactions, R.97-04-011 and I.97-04-012.

If SoCal expands its current service offerings and/or gains approval for new products or services, SoCal may be able to increase net revenues. We see this as a type of productivity improvement that would be consistent with the goals of PBR. Under the PBR we adopt in this order, returns above the target arising from either cost decreases or revenue increases will be shared between ratepayers and shareholders.

E. Base Margin

1. Introduction

SoCal now proposes that the base rates for 1997 be developed by applying the PBR index to a starting level of rates based upon SoCal's 1996 operating budget. After SoCal filed its supplemental showing in May 1996, its proposed base margin was \$1,451,981,000, which represented a \$61.2 million reduction in gas margin as compared to the 1995 authorized level. ORA's Base Margin Report (Exh. 106), with errata filed December 2, 1996, proposed a starting margin of \$1,235,376,000. ORA's proposal excluded Demand-Side Management (DSM), Research, Demonstration & Development (RD&D), and Direct Assistance Program (DAP) expense from base margin, but even allowing for this, the gap between ORA's and SoCal's position was \$170 million as the proceeding entered the evidentiary hearing stage.

As the hearing neared its conclusion, several of the parties filed joint testimony which recommended the resolution of eight base margin and two policy

issues (Exhs. 200-210). This reduced the difference between ORA's and SoCal's position to \$71.7 million. We must now consider the recommended resolution of these issues and resolve those issues as to which there is still no agreement.

As is our practice with general rate case orders, we address these items on an exception basis. We do not address accounts or funding requests which were not at some point excepted to, or those which do not require our attention in order to ensure that they comply with the law or Commission policy. In such instances we implicitly find the utility's proposal to be reasonable.

2. Nonlabor Escalation Rate

In developing their estimates of reasonable base rates for the various cost categories, parties used a base year and escalated or deflated it to correspond to the test year, depending on the base year applied. ORA proposes a nonlabor escalation rate of 2.23% for such purposes. SoCal proposed a rate of 3.72% but did not oppose ORA's recommended rate. SoCal recommends, however, that the Commission use the same value to deflate 1996 dollars as it uses to inflate 1995 dollars in order to make consistent the showings of ORA and SoCal. We adopt ORA's proposed inflation rate as reasonable as well as ORA's recommendation to use the 1995 numbers in the record.

3. Customer Accounts (Accounts 901, 902, 903, 904, Sub-Account 184.103)

For customer accounts generally, ORA, TURN, and SoCal ultimately agreed to a level of expenses for customer accounts. They jointly recommend a level of \$111.77 million for accounts 901, 902, and 903 and sub-account 184.103. They also recommend a reduction of \$0.3 million for account 904 to recognize a reduction in industrial uncollectibles. The parties' joint recommendation recognizes \$7 million in estimated benefits derived from SoCal's implementation of its Customer Information System (CIS). It also provides that costs for the administration of the CARE program would be appropriate until and unless a party other than SoCal administers the program. We adopt these recommendations.

4. Late Payment Charges

SoCal proposes a late payment charge to be assessed on customers who do not pay their bills on time. The parties recommend different approaches with regard to the implementation of a late payment charge and the appropriate late payment charge rate. As we have already stated, however, the institution of a late payment charge bears no direct relationship to the PBR proposal, and therefore should not be a part of this proceeding. We decline to adopt that part of SoCal's proposal here.

5. Gas Storage, Transmission, and Distribution Expenses SoCal, TURN, and ORA agreed to total expenses of \$20.37 million

for gas storage and \$25.017 million for gas transmission. SoCal observes that the amounts are in 1995 dollars and must be adjusted to account for inflation. We adopt the stipulated amounts and adjust them consistent with SoCal's recommendation.

SoCal and ORA do not dispute the estimated expenses for gas distribution. ORA's estimate is somewhat lower than SoCal's as a result of its estimated escalation factor, which SoCal does not dispute, and which we have adopted. We therefore adopt gas distribution expenses of approximately \$176 million, which is a reduction in these accounts of about \$35.3 million from levels recorded for 1994.

6. Marketing Expenses

ORA, TURN, and SoCal resolved any differences that initially existed for expenses associated with DSM, other marketing expenses not related to demand side management ("non-DSM marketing"), and the DAP, which is designed to provide conservation measures to low-income customers. The parties recommend DSM costs of about \$27 million be included in a one-way balancing account rather than as part of base rates. TURN and DGS support this proposal.

The stipulation between ORA and SoCal also recommends that other marketing costs be reduced from the existing level of \$29.14 million to \$24.136 million and that capital costs for the Energy Resource Center would remain in base rates. Consistent with the parties' recommendations, we adopt total base rate marketing expenses of \$24.136 million.

Funding and administration for DAP was not fully resolved in the stipulation. SoCal proposes a reduction in direct assistance funding from \$18 million to \$12 million. SoCal observes that the program is not cost-effective and that it is having difficulty finding new DAP customers because of program saturation.

Natural Resources Reference Council (NRDC) proposes retaining the \$18 million funding level, arguing that the cost-effectiveness of the program has always been marginal and that SoCal has not justified changing funding on this basis. NRDC also observes that only 33% of income eligible households have received DAP help, contrary to SoCal's view that the market has been saturated.

We adopt SoCal's reduced funding levels in recognition that fewer customers are available to take advantage of the program as a result of the program's success. We also grant SoCal's request for increased program flexibility which would permit it to put the weatherization component of the program out to bid, among other things. We do not adopt any flexibility which would change SoCal's discretion to use the funds for other programs.

7. Administrative and General Accounts

a) Consultant Fees (Account 920)

Account 920 includes funds for outside consultants. ORA recommends disallowing \$94,000 for a consultant hired for this proceeding because the consultant's work appears speculative after the test year. SoCal replies that it requires the funding for monitoring and evaluation of its PBR mechanism. We reject SoCal's argument, which appears to presume regulatory activity will increase as a result of PBR regulation. We adopt ORA's adjustment to this account.

b) Executive Compensation (Account 920 and 921)

TURN recommends adjusting labor costs by \$0.606 million to reflect what it believes to be excessive compensation to executives. TURN observes that ORA's compensation study finds executive compensation to be almost 13% above market even though ORA does not recommend any reduction in SoCal's labor cost request. TURN's adjustment would amount to about 0.19% of SoCal's total request for employee compensation.

SoCal argues that its executive compensation rates are comparable to those offered to individuals working in markets from which SoCat recruits. It does not, however, present any evidence to support its argument. We therefore adopt TURN's adjustment to executive compensation.

c) Outside Expenses

(1) Stock Options Expenses (Account 923)

SoCal offers high level employees stock options as

part of their compensation plans. ORA recommends that the Commission disallow expenses associated with stock options for executives, which ORA believes raises SoCal's long-term incentive levels to 21% above market levels. ORA observes that SCE's and PG&E's stock options programs are funded entirely by shareholders, and that the incentives are rewards for financial accomplishments which do not benefit ratepayers.

SoCal responds that ORA has improperly isolated a single element of SoCal's total compensation package. SoCal observes that ORA does not dispute that total compensation at SoCal is not above market levels. Isolating stock options expenses would therefore reduce the package of total compensation further.

We concur with SoCal that as long as its total compensation levels are appropriate we will not dictate how SoCal distributes compensation among various types of employment benefits.

(2) Lobbying Expenses

Following some initial disagreement regarding appropriate lobbying expenses, SoCal and ORA resolved their differences, proposing to reduce SoCal's request by \$0.4 million. We adopt their agreement.

(3) Affiliate Transactions

SoCal pays its parent company for some services pursuant to direct billings which reflect specific services. ORA recommends a disallowance of \$1.924 million of such affiliate costs sought by SoCal following an audit

- 68 -

of related expenses. ORA proposes the disallowance on the basis that SoCal had failed to provide any meaningful documentation of \$4.02 million worth of services provided to it by its parent, Pacific Enterprises. It is especially concerned with the lack of documentation for \$3.32 million of law department charges.

SoCal replies that ORA and its auditors are not the "arbiters of how much documentation is 'enough." It argues that the law department of Pacific Enterprises could be expected to spend most of its resources on SoCal's needs because SoCal is the largest of the Pacific Enterprise companies. Finally, the SoCal level of funding for legal expenses is an estimate of 1996 expenses, not an accounting of actual expenses for 1995.

SoCal has the burden to demonstrate the reasonableness of its requests. In this instance, SoCal failed to provide sufficient documentation to support its request. However, SoCal submitted some documentation, which is adequate and to justify some payment by ratepayers for the services of SoCal's parent company. We therefore adopt ORA's recommendation of disallowing approximately 50% of SoCal's request, and allowing the rest.

Multifactor Allocation Formula (Account 920) SoCal pays its parent company for some services on the basis of indirect allocations to SoCal in cases where direct billings for specific services are not practical. ORA opposes elements of the formula SoCal uses to allocate such costs. Specifically, ORA would weigh operating expenses and payroll more heavily than assets. Applying ORA's methodology to the relevant costs, ORA recommends a disallowance of \$2.939 million less than SoCal requests.

(4)

ORA believes SoCal's allocation to new lines of business - less than two tenths of a percent - is unrealistic. It would increase the amount to 20%.

SoCal responds with various arguments, among which are that its formula is used by other utilities and other jurisdictions, and that its other business units are designed to assist in new product development for sister units

- 69 -

SoCal responds that it is not anticipating a reduction in these costs in the near future. Although they might decrease at some point as a result of corporate restructuring, SoCal argues that it has not asked for recovery of cost increases which might occur at some unspecified point and should therefore not be required to forgo uncertain decreases.

We reject ORA's adjustment in this account on the basis that ORA has not demonstrated that SoCal will stop using the facilities in question during the test year.

e) Injuries and Damages (Account 925)

Account 925 includes funds for compensating employees for injuries and damages sustained at the workplace. ORA recommends a \$1.9 million reduction in SoCal's estimate for Account 925 to recognize employee reductions and associated reduced costs for this account. SoCal argues ORA inappropriately reached its estimate by applying year end accruals of employée settlements in lawsuits rather than looking to actual cash payments to estimate these revenues.

Consistent with existing policy, we adopt SoCal's recommended level of funding in this account using actual cash payments as the basis for estimating net costs.

f) Franchise Fees (Account 927)

ORA and SoCal resolved most issues concerning franchise fees, arguing that this proceeding should not be a forum for changing the franchise fee methodology, and that estimates adopted in this proceeding would include \$23.31 million in revenues from miscellaneous services. SoCal and ORA did not agree on the appropriate rate for franchise fees. We adopt SoCal's number, because ORA's is based on an assumption that the methodology would be changed. ORA stipulated to retain the methodology in deriving a level of revenues; we therefore apply SoCal's rate for consistency.

- 71 -

and are not independent of SoCal. SoCal also argues that its affiliates are considerably smaller than SoCal in terms of employees and assets.

The record suggests that the purpose of SoCal's affiliates is to promote new product development which is not related directly to utility expenses that would be recoverable here. If that were not the case, there would be scant reason to create such entities, considering the potential inefficiencies of having utility operations in two separate units. We are not concerned with how other jurisdictions view SoCal's allocation methods so much as we are inclined to consider the method on its merits. We find that ORA's method is superior to the one proposed by SoCal, and we adopt that method.

(5) Law Department Rent (Account 923)

SoCal receives its legal services from its parent company, Pacific Enterprises, which bills SoCal for related costs. ORA recommends an adjustment of \$889,669 to reflect billings by Pacific Enterprises for rental of property to house the Legal Department. The billings are in excess of the actual costs of the Gas Company Tower lease. SoCal responds that the adjustment would be unfair because the rate is nearly identical to that paid at the Gas Company Tower. SoCal believes ORA should not be able to penalize the company for a lease cost that was reasonable at the time SoCal entered into it, even if prevailing market rates are considerably lower.

We have made adjustments to the Gas Company Tower lease to reflect unused space, and by implication the effects of the Law Department's remaining at another location. ORA has not demonstrated that the Law Department's lease is unreasonable. We therefore adopt SoCal's request for the costs of the Law Department's lease.

d) Insurance Expenses (Account 924)

ORA believes corporate reorganization will cause eight facilities no longer to be useful. Elimination of these facilities and the costs to insure them, according to ORA, will offset increases in insuring remaining facilities. ORA recommends a \$16,000 reduction over SoCal's estimate.

- 70 -

g)

Regulatory Commission Expenses (Account 928)

Account 928 includes funds for the costs of participating in regulatory commission activities. ORA recommends about \$26,000 less in this account than SoCal. ORA uses the 1994 level and adds inflation for 1996. SoCal adds certain expenses and 1995 inflation to the 1994 level.

We adopt ORA's adjustment to recognize the likelihood that regulatory Commission expenses should not be increasing in the foreseeable future.

h) Rents (Account 931)

(1) Gas Company Tower

ORA recommends a disallowance of \$5.384 million to reflect unused space at the Gas Company Tower, SoCal's corporate headquarters. ORA's recommended disallowance is based on ORA's assertion that 131,063 square feet of the site's 550,000 square feet is vacant.

ORA's recommendation is based on the analysis of its auditor, Overland. In its audit, Overland found that about 25% of the rentable space at Gas Company Tower was vacant, assuming that 375 employees would be moved to the Gas Company Tower. Based on SoCal's records, Overland concludes that SoCal has conducted "continuing review" of excess real estate rather than dispose of it or use it for company operations. ORA rejects company promises to move more employees to the Gas Company Tower, because such promises have not been fulfilled in the past. Specifically, ORA refers to SoCal's stated intent to move its Law Department to the Gas Company Tower during SoCal's last general rate case, which the Commission relied upon in granting associated funds for the Gas Company Tower.

SoCal responds that it has developed plan to occupy 97% of the Gas Company Tower in 1997. It presents a timeline which it developed shortly prior to hearing in this proceeding. Its witness asserts that at the time of the hearing the Gas Company Tower was 89% occupied. SoCal argues that it would not make sense for it to have sublet the unused space at the Gas Company Tower in the depressed Los Angeles rental market. SoCal states it attempted to sublease Gas

Company Tower space but, at a market rental value of \$13 to \$15 a square foot, the revenue would have barely covered SoCal's building operations costs.

SoCal claims that the fact that the Law Department did not relocate to Gas Company Tower is irrelevant. SoCal states that the relocation was deferred because of the need to house displaced employees at the Gas Company Tower, and because of the "extraordinary" cost of relocating the Law Department library.

ORA responds that the Commission should give no weight to the move plan, because the moves have been previously found to be uneconomic or are for personnel from CIS who are to be terminated. ORA argues that SoCal's analysis of future use of the Gas Company Tower assumes the company requires 120 workstations for equipment that is appropriately located on employee desks and 273 spaces for contractors, though only 140 contractors were expected to work for the company after December 1996. ORA also observes that Overland's report is generous because it does not account for 153 employees who have left the company since the audit was completed.

SoCal leased the space under a 20-year contract beginning in 1991. We originally reviewed the costs of the Gas Company Tower lease in D.92-11-017. In that order, we disallowed a portion of the excess space at Gas Company Tower on the basis that SoCal had not demonstrated the reasonableness of the costs. Subsequently, we reinstated much of the disallowance in D.93-12-043.

We begin by rejecting SoCal's argument that ORA is improperly relitigating this matter. As SoCal itself observes, D.93-12-043 permitted a reconsideration of the findings of that order with a showing of changed circumstances. ORA is seeking to demonstrate changed circumstances which would justify additional disallowances.

Indeed, circumstances have changed since 1994. Occupancy in the Gas Company Tower, assuming SoCal's analysis is correct, was 85% in 1995 and less than 80% in 1996. SoCal's assertion that the Gas Company Tower was 89% occupied at the time of hearing was refuted by ORA's auditors after a physical

- 73 -